
DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE MEETING HELD ON JUNE 15, 2010 
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The members of the Delhi Charter Township Committee of the Whole met on Tuesday, June 15, 
2010 in the Multipurpose Room at the Community Services Center, 2074 Aurelius Road, Holt, 
MI.  Supervisor Goodrich called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m.  
 
Members Present:  Supervisor Stuart Goodrich, Clerk Evan Hope, Treasurer  

Harry Ammon, Trustees Derek Bajema, John Hayhoe, Jerry Ketchum, 
Roy Sweet 
 

Others Present: John Elsinga, Township Manager 
Lt. Mike DeBruin, Delhi Division, Ingham County Sheriff’s Office 
Marian Frane, Director of Accounting 
Sandra Diorka, Director of Public Services 
Tracy Miller, Director of Community Development 
Tricia Vander Ploeg, Administrative Assistant/Deputy Supervisor 
Amy Finch, Assistant Township Clerk/Deputy Clerk 
    

 
BUSINESS 
 
FIRE DEPARTMENT – MAY ACTIVITY REPORT 
 
Rick Royston, Fire Chief, reported on the highlights of the Fire Department May Activity Report 
(ATTACHMENT I). 
 
 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT – MAY ACTIVITY REPORT 
 
Tracy Miller, Director of Community Development, reported on the highlights of the Community 
Development Department May Activity Report (ATTACHMENT II).  
 
 
INGHAM COUNTY SHERIFF’S OFFICE/DELHI DIVISION – MAY ACTIVITY REPORT 
 
Lt. DeBruin, Ingham County Sheriff’s Office/Delhi Division, reported on the highlights of the 
Ingham County Sheriff’s Office/Delhi Division May Activity Report (ATTACHMENT III). 
 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
Meeting adjourned at 7:22 p.m. 
 
 
Date: ______________________  __________________________ 
      Evan Hope, Township Clerk 
 
 
 
Date: ______________________  __________________________ 
      Stuart Goodrich, Supervisor 
/af 



 
Delhi Township Fire Department 
Monthly Report                         MAY, 2010 

 
Total Calls 

 
 Delhi Alaiedon Total 

EMS / Medical 169 N/A 169 
Fire / Rescue 33 6 39 

Total 202 6 208 
 

Total calls in 2010 to date: 945 
Total calls for 2009:  2,182 

 
      Given        Received

Mutual Aid this Month:       8       5 

 
Training:  487.5 Man Hours 

 
Inspections:  90 

 
 

                           Activities for May, 2010 
Activity Staff Hours Adults  Children 

Senior Citizen Prgms 3.25 64 - 

CPR Classes 2.5 15 - 

School Activities 25.5 135 1536 

Station Tours 1 1 2 

Misc. Community Prg - - - 

Total 33.25 215 1538 

 
 
Activities:  
 

• Mutual Aid assistance to house fire in Windsor Township 
• Apartment fire – Cricket Ridge Apartments - $5,000 loss 
• Mutual Aid assistance to barn fire in Aurelius Township  
• Barn Fire – Alaiedon Twp. - $88,000 loss 

 
 
 
 



 
2009  AMBULANCE    FIRE   

 
 AMOUNT PAYMENTS SENT TO RECD FROM  AMOUNT PAYMENTS SENT TO RECD FROM 
    

 

      

       
         

  
        

      
    

      
    

     

    
 

      
        

 
  

  

 

 
   

BILLED RECEIVED COLLECTIONS
  

COLLECTIONS
 

 BILLED RECEIVED COLLECTIONS
  

COLLECTIONS
 JANUARY $87,192.00 $49,773.88  $1,747.74 $1,952.87

FEBRUARY 
 

$91,210.00 $51,437.95     $682.38   
MARCH $78,300.00 $57,757.76  $4,605.90 $3,408.68
APRIL $79,220.00 $54,220.29    $1,539.95 $163.58   
MAY $85,500.00 $44,014.52    $1,384.19 $353.88   
JUNE $79,310.00 $48,572.99  $1,264.74 $1,057.13
JULY $70,400.00 $51,534.90 $39,487.45 $2,034.50 $1,025.99 $2,862.06
AUGUST $77,505.00 $38,937.23 $37,919.51    $440.00 $2,453.21  
SEPTEMBER

 
$76,550.00 $39,196.55 $231.14 $1,056.04 $410.37

OCTOBER $91,835.00 $36,399.18 $13,153.06 $38.14 $2,404.02 $233.35 $214.69 $6.50
NOVEMBER  $71,910.00 $38,210.87  $322.37 $1,154.84

 
$233.49 $616.95

DECEMBER $81,390.00 $51,121.18 $7,019.88 $543.21 $767.09
 

$691.09 $38.00

TOTAL $970,322.00 $561,177.30 $97,579.90 $1,134.86  $17,191.92 $10,728.81 $6,221.05 $661.45

 
2010  AMBULANCE  FIRE  

 AMOUNT PAYMENTS SENT TO RECD FROM  AMOUNT PAYMENTS SENT TO RECD FROM 
BILLED RECEIVED COLLECTIONS

  
COLLECTIONS BILLED RECEIVED COLLECTIONS COLLECTIONS

JANUARY $88,190.00 $27,819.86 $666.75  $437.39 
  

$1,354.89  $142.88 
FEBRUARY

 
$78,690.00 $42,969.34 $790.00 $214.69 $141.08

MARCH $86,660.00 $59,738.85 $6,498.79 $664.47 $3,166.03 $1,127.54 $858.24 $170.94
APRIL $87,040.00 $36,452.66  $511.89  $175.95 $978.86  $224.98 
MAY $97,665.00 

 
$50,954.18  $734.80  $290.04 $499.84  

JUNE
JULY
AUGUST
SEPTEMBER 

 
 

OCTOBER
NOVEMBER  

 
 

DECEMBER
 

 

TOTAL $438,245.00 $217,934.89 $6,498.79 $3,367.91  $4,069.41 $4,175.82 $858.24 $679.88 
 



New Permits:

Category DDA Area Permits Total Permits Total Inspections

Building 8 51 128
Electrical 1 13 32
Mechanical 9 24 48
Plumbing 4 9 30
Fire Inspections N/A N/A 90
Totals 22 97 328

Soil Erosion Permits & APA Projects:

Soil Erosion 0 4 83
Soil Erosion Waivers 0 1 0
APA Projects 0 1 1
Totals 0 6 84

Category DDA Area Cases Total Cases
Building Maintenance 0 1
Fence Violation 1 2
Junk & Debris 1 8
Junk Vehicles 3 8
Miscellaneous 3 8
Noxious Weeds 17 47
Sidewalk Snow 0 0
Sign 3 3
Site Plan 0 0
Yard Parking 0 0
Improper Zoning Use 1 2
Totals 29 79
Total # of Inspections

Rental Program Information:
4

30
1
10

16
$2,596.99

4
$2,225.00

Civil Infractions Issued
Civil Infraction Fines Issued (Year to date)

New Code Enforcement Cases:

DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP
Department of Community Development

Total Permits/New 
Projects

May 2010 Activity Report

Number of Rental Investigations
Number of Rental Cycle Inspections

Civil Infraction/Abatement Information:

Abatement/Clean-up Fees Issued (Year to date)

Category DDA Area Permits Total Inspections

144

Abatement/Clean-ups

Number of New Registered Rental Properties
Number of Rental Re-inspections 



Page:  1 DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP 06/07/2010 Printed: 06/07/10 
Building Permit Details # of 

Permits Permit No. Property Address Permit Applicant Work Description Estimated Cost Permit Fee DDA? 
COMMERCIAL ALTERATION 

PB10-182 3960 PATIENT CARE DRIVE STE BUILD OUT OF EXISTING SHELL GOODMAN, FLOYD G & AUDREY  Y $330.00 $50,000 

 1 $330.00 $50,000 
COMMERCIAL MISCELLANEOUS 

PB10-175 2181 WEST BOULEVARD AS A RESULT OF THE MERGER BETWEEN 
AT&T AND CENTENNIAL, AT&T WILL 
REPLACE RADIO CABINETS AND RELATED 
EQUIPMENT, ADD/REPLACE ANTENNAS AND 
RELATED EQUIPMENT AT THE SAME 
HEIGHT AS ITS EXISTING ANTENNAS. 

AT&T Wireless  $0 $50.00

 1 $50.00 $0 

DECK 

PB10-151 1121 CRANBROOK LANE INSTALLING NEW 18' x 20' DECK MULLALY, SEAN & MELLISA Y $50.00 $3,240 

PB10-159 4633 SYCAMORE STREET MODIFY DECK AND ADD HANDICAP RAMP STOVER, FRANCIS W & RUTH M  $2,200 $50.00

PB10-166 5875 ROTHESAY ROAD INSTALLING 295 SQUARE FOOT DECK IN 
BACK OF HOUSE 

HUTCHINS JOHN R - ERIN E  $2,655 $50.00

PB10-170 3830 KNOTWOOD DRIVE INSTALLING NEW 23' X 14' DECK ROCKBUILT LOFTS, LLC  $2,898 $50.00

PB10-169 1133 CRANBROOK LANE INSTALLING NEW 12' X 12' DECK SIERRA HOMES OF MICHIGAN INC Y  $1,296 $50.00

PB10-181 5702 LADDERBACK INSTALLING 12' X16' DECK KRAMER, DANNY H & DENISE D  $1,728 $50.00

PB10-193 1841 COTTONWOOD ROAD INSTALLING NEW 522 SQUARE FOOT DECK CUSTOM BUILT INC.  $4,698 $50.00

PB10-192 2028 ADELPHA AVENUE INSTALLING PORCH AND STEPS IN FRONT 
OF HOUSE 

JAY LEE VINCENT $50.00 $576 

PB10-191 3904 CALYPSO LANE ISNTALLING A DECK ADDITION DUDEK, KATRINA M Y  $3,456 $50.00

PB10-195 2648 MORENO DRIVE INSTALLING 400 SQUARE FOOT DECK LONG, SHARON M $50.00 $3,600 
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Building Permit Details # of 

Permits Permit No. Property Address Permit Applicant Work Description Estimated Cost Permit Fee DDA? 
 10 $500.00 $26,347 

FENCE 

PB10-164 1941 HALL STREET REPLACING 4' FENCE IN SIDE AND REAR 
YARD 

RICHARDSON, DELBERT L  $0 $50.00

PB10-163 4965 DEER RUN LANE INSTALLING 6' PRIVACY FENCE FABIANO, JOAN M  $0 $50.00

PB10-148 2100 MOORWOOD DRIVE INSTALLING FENCE IN REAR AND SIDE YARD ALEXANDER, BRIAN M & STEFAN $50.00 $0 

PB10-168 3970 HEARTHSIDE TEAR DOWN AND REPLACE 6' PRIVACY 
FENCE 

SMITH, PRISCILLA S  $0 $50.00

PB10-180 1929 WALNUT STREET INSTALLING 6' PRIVACY FENCE IN REAR 
YARD 

ALBERT, LARRY L II $50.00 $0 

PB10-186 3932 WILLOW RIDGE INSTALLING 4' CHAIN LINK FENCE IN REAR 
YARD 

SPOELMA, JAMES R & CAROL J  $0 $50.00

PB10-161 1953 MAPLE STREET INSTALLING 6' FENCE ALONG FRONT 
SLOPED DOWN TO 4' ALONG PROPERTY 

LADD, EDWARD J  $0 $50.00

PB10-194 2230 DELHI NE INSTALLING 4' CHAIN LINK FENCE IN REAR 
YARD 

ANKNEY, HARLEY AND  $0 Y $50.00

PB10-199 2646 SORORITY LANE INSTALLING 4' PICKET PENCE TO ENCLOSE 
REAR YARD 

NEVIN, JOHN A & LAURIE  $0 $50.00

 9 $450.00 $0 

POOL 

PB10-158 5203 WITHERSPOON WAY 24' ABOVE GROUND POOL AND 24' X 13' 
DECK 

MCCORMICK, PATRICK A B & CIN  $9,000 $54.00

PB10-171 2196 BEECHNUT TRAIL INSTALLATION OF AN INGROUND POOL DONAHUE, TOM $50.00 $22,000 

PB10-185 1560 HUNTSHIRE INSTALLING ABOVE GROUND POOL BILLETER, CARL L & CHERYL L  $9,000 $50.00

 3 $154.00 $40,000 
RESIDENTIAL ADDITION 
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Building Permit Details # of 

Permits Permit No. Property Address Permit Applicant Work Description Estimated Cost Permit Fee DDA? 
ADDING SECOND STORY DORMER $120.00 $20,000 PETTIS, DAN RICHARD PB10-150 4552 WILCOX ROAD 

PB10-156 4603 HOLT ROAD CONSTRUCTING 12' X 30' ADDITION FIFELSKI CONSTRUCTION  $41,526 $252.00

PB10-167 4160 DUBLIN CONSTRUCTING 14' x 12' ADDITION WITH 
CRAWL SPACE AND COMPLETE TEAR OFF 
AND RE-ROOF 

ARROWHEAD HOMES  $15,792 $96.00

 3 $468.00 $77,318 

RESIDENTIAL MISCELLANEOUS 
TEAR OFF AND RE-ROOF FOR SCREENED IN 
PORCH 

$50.00 $1,600 EARLS EXTERIORS PLUS 1949 DEAN AVENUE PB10-149 

PB10-155 2586 SANIBEL HOLLOW TEAR OFF AND RE-ROOF GARN RESTORATION SERVICES IN  $8,000 $50.00

PB10-154 1595 GRAYFRIARS RE-ROOF EXISTING HOUSE AND ADD A 
ROOF OVER AN EXISTING DECK 

GRAY, DENNIS  $10,100 $66.00

PB10-153 881 ONONDAGA ROAD TEAR OFF AND RE-ROOF GOFORTH, KEVIN J & DIANE L $50.00 $6,000 

PB10-152 2469 SANIBEL HOLLOW TEAR OFF AND RE-ROOF GRAY, DENNIS  $8,000 $50.00

PB10-157 4425 TUSCANY LANE TEAR OFF AND RE-ROOF HANSON'S WINDOW AND CONST $50.00 $6,000 

PB10-162 1738 KILLARNEY TEAR OFF AND RE-ROOF KRUGER ROOFING & CONST  $8,000 $50.00

PB10-160 2686 HYDRA DRIVE TEAR OFF AND RE-ROOF SERVICE WORLD $50.00 $8,000 

PB10-165 1559 ARCHWOOD DRIVE INSTALLING EGRESS AND ONE ROOM IN 
BASEMENT 

ARROWHEAD HOMES  $3,795 $50.00

PB10-174 2581 KATE STREET TEAR OFF AND RE-ROOF PARKS, CHARLES S Y  $8,000 $50.00

PB10-173 4635 HOLT ROAD TEAR OFF AND RE-ROOF THD AT-HOME SERVICES  $8,000 $50.00

PB10-172 1551 GRAYFRIARS TEAR OFF AND RE-ROOF HANSON'S WINDOW AND CONST  $8,000 $50.00
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Permits Permit No. Property Address Permit Applicant Work Description Estimated Cost Permit Fee DDA? 

Totals:  51  $373,160  $3,168.00 

PerDateIssued Range from 05/01/2010 to 05/31/2010 
And PerPermitType = Preman Home on Lot 
Or PerPermitType = POOL 
Or PerPermitType = SIGN 
Or PerPermitType = DEMOLITION 
Or PerPermitType = BUILDING 

Totals:  51  $373,160  $3,168.00 

PerDateIssued Range from 05/01/2010 to 05/31/2010 
And PerPermitType = Preman Home on Lot 
Or PerPermitType = POOL 
Or PerPermitType = SIGN 
Or PerPermitType = DEMOLITION 
Or PerPermitType = BUILDING 

 $179,495 $1,216.00  24 

Y 

PB10-176 2295 ANCHOR COURT MOREFIELD CONSTRUCTION  $8,000 $50.00TEAR OFF AND RE-ROOF 

PB10-179 2466 HOUGHTON HOLLOW GRAY, DENNIS  $8,000 $50.00TEAR OFF AND RE-ROOF 

PB10-177 4617 KRENTAL AVENUE HANSON'S WINDOW AND CONST  $8,000 $50.00TEAR OFF AND RE-ROOF 

PB10-183 3815 ASHBROOK DRIVE PALMER CONSTRUCTION SERVIC  $8,000 $50.00TEAR OFF AND RE-ROOF 

PB10-184 4379 KELLER ROAD BOYCE BUILDERS LLC  $8,000 $50.00TEAR OFF AND RE-ROOF 

PB10-189 2412 BUSH GARDENS REINKE, STEVEN  $8,000 $50.00TEAR OFF AND RE-ROOF 

PB10-188 2135 BEECHNUT TRAIL GARCIA, STEVEN V & ANGELA J  $8,000 $50.00TEAR OFF AND RE-ROOF 

PB10-187 2224 CEDAR BEND REGIONAL ROOFING SERVICES IN  $8,000 $50.00TEAR OFF AND RE-ROOF 

PB10-190 4752 EASTLUND HANSON'S WINDOW AND CONST  $8,000 $50.00TEAR OFF AND RE-ROOF 

PB10-198 3670 BAYOU PLACE KENNETH WAYNE INTVELD  $8,000 $50.00TEAR OFF AND RE-ROOF 

PB10-197 2305 EIFERT ROAD REGIONAL ROOFING SERVICES IN  $8,000 $50.00

$50.00 $8,000 Y TEAR OFF AND RE-ROOF 

TEAR OFF AND RE-ROOF 

SB LLC PB10-196 2224 AURELIUS ROAD 

 



Year

Type
Total 

Permits Total Value Total 
Permits Total Value Total 

Permits Total Value Total 
Permits Total Value Total 

Permits Total Value Total 
Permits Total Value

Commercial Addition, Alteration & 
Commercial Misc 36 2,780,266.00$     21 2,834,122.00$     32 1,895,384.00$     49 9,353,080.00$   30 2,830,791.00$   29 1,215,220.00$   

Commercial New Structures 12 6,193,397.00$     4 599,072.00$        6 5,665,672.00$     6 2,230,506.00$   1 875,903.00$      5 4,360,107.00$   

Deck, Fence, Pool, Residential Misc, 
Residential Storage/Garage, Demolition, 
Sign, Sign Business, Sign Grand 
Openings

243 744,334.33$        260 1,221,543.00$     249 681,722.00$        255 834,376.00$      165 1,118,676.00$   487 3,105,297.00$   

Pre-Manufactured Home, Residential 
Condo w/Garage, Residential Dwelling, 
Residential Dwelling/Garage

280 29,204,352.00$   214 33,037,054.00$   122 20,311,984.00$   58 8,856,775.00$   27 5,189,435.00$   22 3,861,101.00$   

Residential Addition, Residential Alteration 96 1,127,953.00$     70 1,274,922.00$     70 1,510,922.00$     47 972,435.00$      51 1,013,207.00$   43 1,085,548.00$   

Residential Multiple Family 2 123,540.00$        9 8,556,012.00$     3 2,738,265.00$     6 7,621,380.00$   0 -$                  0 -$                  

Residential:

Total Single Family Homes: 16

2009

SUMMARY OF CONSTRUCTION VALUES

2007 20082004 2005 2006

1,454,628.00$          

4,351,530.00$          

Commercial / Industrial:

2010 Year to date Construction Values:



Commercial/Industrial Building Permits

0

1,000,000

2,000,000

3,000,000

4,000,000

5,000,000

6,000,000

7,000,000

2003 425,040 72,962 279,550 935,214 240,500 40,350 584,439 621,851 454,370 574,016 89,400 590,100

2004 0 40,000 409,002 4,000 1,480,444 359,950 1,773,063 52,425 115,160 1,522,191 566,020 1,000

2005 7,760 140,049 129,496 81,459 358,820 871,298 791,555 8,000 312,938 358,465 247,127 114,525

2006 27,000 138,900 9,000 9,540 2,438,077 1,341,443 106,100 641,986 821,772 313,363 1,209,475 513,940

2007 172,221 808,786 25,206 1,105,534 20,293 1,016,148 5,714,648 4,000,820 134,031 3,722,518 376,371 108,000

2008 421,042 0 370,000 647,000 41,000 25,000 110,000 990,923 9,500 670,442 195,000 0

2009 72,000 178,233 54,600 25,000 41,440 222,525 3,343,047 1,443,417 187,500 8,000 22,000 19,005

2010 834,198 40,992 496,441 32,997 50,000

January February March April May June July August September October November December

May 2010 Activity Includes:
1. 3960 Patient Care Drive - Genesis Diagnosis - Build out of existing shell.

 



Residential Building Permits

0

1,000,000

2,000,000

3,000,000

4,000,000

5,000,000

6,000,000

7,000,000

8,000,000

2003 1,303,222 1,907,265 2,634,726 7,202,298 4,506,568 5,890,225 6,577,503 5,449,464 5,455,775 4,772,708 2,040,811 1,856,139

2004 2,057,874 1,061,075 7,018,665 2,409 3,332,125 4,230,009 2,171,175 2,269,297 4,189,316 1,838,373 2,261,219 958,547

2005 7,272,620 2,580,999 1,080,570 2,848,833 4,100,194 1,438,787 5,569,135 5,666,330 2,785,505 2,223,344 4,305,671 3,448,286

2006 653,107 4,544,462 2,200,224 5,876,530 3,533,055 2,016,011 1,231,992 852,573 1,387,170 1,230,662 745,550 881,456

2007 366,901 807,589 2,542,647 1,865,777 870,683 755,569 571,666 1,504,157 1,209,407 1,651,929 251,475 274,952

2008 84,176 576,220 127,628 579,796 1,872,379 368,071 279,260 896,898 873,804 652,707 73,000 0

2009 401,319 425,655 252,651 130,696 589,254 319,608 1,028,683 1,240,799 674,200 1,194,808 611,112 1,094,312

2010 484,464 571,973 2,339,559 633,374 323,160

January February March April May June July August September October November December

May 2010 Activity Includes:
1. Ten deck permits.
2. Nine Fence permits.
3. Three Residential Additon permits
4. Twenty Three Tear off and Re-roof permits.
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2009 / 2010 Revenue Comparison January 1st to May 31st
Over a 50% Increase from 2009 to 2010

$38,898.00

$9,969.00

$10,055.00

$6,941.00

$16,149.00

$7,140.00

$4,723.00

$4,470.00
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COUNTY of INGHAM 

State of Michigan 
SHERIFF'S OFFICE 

 

Gene L. Wriggelsworth 
Sheriff  

 
Allan C. Spyke 630 North Cedar Street Greg S. Harless 
Undersheriff Mason, MI 48854 Chief Deputy 
 (517) 676-2431 
Sam Davis FAX (517) 676-8299 Joel Maatman 
Major  Major 
 
 

 
TO:  Delhi Township Board Of Trustees 
 
FROM: Lt. Michael J. DeBruin 
 
DATE: June 2, 2010 
 
RE:  May 2010 Monthly Report 
 
 
HIGHLIGHTED CASES & INCIDENTS: 
 
05-01-10 Dep. McElmurray stopped a vehicle at Cedar St. and Fay for operating without lights 

on.  The investigation revealed the driver to be intoxicated.  The driver was arrested 
and lodged on a charge of Operating While Intoxicated 2nd. 

 
05-04-10 Dep. Treat investigated a series of Larceny From Auto complaints that occurred in the 

2000 block of Adelpha and the 4600 block of Don.  Suspect(s) entered vehicles and 
took various items ranging from wallets to iPods.  A total of 5 vehicles were entered 
and all but one were unlocked.  The locked vehicle was entered by the suspect(s) 
breaking out the passenger window.  All scenes were processed and these cases are 
still under investigation. 

 
05-04-10 Dep. Huhn investigated a Home Invasion which occurred in the 5300 block of Harper.  

Suspect(s) entered the residence by forcing the patio doors open.  Taken were 4 laptop 
computers, lcd widescreen computer monitor, flat screen tv, a digital camera and a 
digital video camera.  The scene was processed for evidence and this case is still under 
investigation. 

 
05-07-10 Dep. Khan responded to a complaint of a Domestic Assault that occurred in the 2400 

block of Aurelius Rd.  The victim was struck and bit by his girlfriend during an 
argument.  The girlfriend was arrested and lodged on a charge of Domestic Assault. 

 
 



Memo to 
June 11, 2010 
Page 2 of 4 

05-08-10 Dep. Treat stopped a vehicle for an expired registration plate at Willoughby & Gunn.  
The investigation revealed the driver was driving on a suspended operator’s license.  
The driver was arrested and lodged on a charge of Driving While License Suspended 
2nd. 

 
05-08-10 Dep. Bennehoff investigated 2 counterfeit money complaints in the 2400 block of Pine 

Tree and the 3900 block of Keller.  In both cases 3 subjects (2 white males and an 
African American male), acting as a team, bought items at garage sales and passed 
counterfeit bills to pay for the items.  A third case was reported to Sgt. Sopocy at the 
Sheriff’s Office 2 days later.  All 3 cases are under investigation. 

 
05-11-10 Dep. McElmurray stopped a vehicle for weaving (suspected drunken driving) at 

Aurelius & Cedar.  The investigation revealed the driver to be intoxicated.  The driver 
was arrested and lodged on a charge of Operating While Intoxicated 3rd. 

 
05-12-10 Dep. Treat responded to a Home Invasion in progress which occurred in the 500 block 

of Grovenburg Rd.  The victim came home to her residence and observed a light 
colored sedan parked in her driveway.  She left the residence and went to a neighbor’s 
to call police.  Afterwards, she observed the suspect vehicle leave her residence.  
Officers arrived on the scene and cleared the residence.  It was found that the 
suspect(s) broke out a front window after a failed attempt to kick in the front door.  
Taken were 2 laptop computers, a game console, and a digital camera.  A third laptop 
was found in the driveway apparently dropped by the suspects.  The scene was 
processed for evidence.  This case is under investigation. 

 
05-13-10 Dep. Shattuck investigated a suspicious vehicle in the 900 block of Grovenburg Rd.  

The vehicle was stopping at residences and the occupants were asking for gas.  Dep. 
Shattuck located the vehicle and identified the occupants.  The female passenger had a 
Fraud warrant out of Charlotte Police Department.  The female was arrested and 
turned over to Charlotte PD. 

 
05-14-10 Dep. Richards investigated 2 Larceny From Auto complaints that happened in the area 

of Adelpha and Phillips.  At both locations suspect(s) entered unlocked vehicles and 
took a car stereo, a chainsaw and a camp stove.  Both scenes were processed but no 
physical evidence was obtained.  There were no witnesses.  Both cases are closed. 

 
05-16-10 Dep. Richards stopped a vehicle for improper lane use (stopping on roadway) at 

Aurelius and Enterprise.  The investigation revealed the driver to be intoxicated.  The 
driver was arrested and lodged on a charge of Operating While Intoxicated 2nd. 

 
05-17-10 Sgt. Patrick stopped a vehicle at Grovenburg & McCue for an equipment violation.  

The subsequent investigation revealed that the vehicle matched the description of a 
vehicle used in a Home Invasion on Grovenburg Rd. on 05-12-10.  Located in the 
trunk were digital cameras taken in another Home Invasion.  Both passengers were 
arrested and lodged on charges of Receiving & Concealing Stolen Property and 
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Possession of Burglary Tools.  Investigation continues for other Home Invasion 
complaints that may be related. 

 
05-20-10 Dep. Richards responded to a Home Invasion in progress which occurred in the 1900 

block of Phillips.  The victims were checking on a property they own and found the 
front door kicked in.  When they entered they found a male subject sleeping in a chair 
in the living room.  The victims left and contacted police.  When officers arrived they 
entered the residence and found the subject still there.  The subject was arrested and 
lodged on a charge of Breaking & Entering an Unoccupied Dwelling. 

 
05-21-10 Dep. J. Kuch investigated a Larceny From a Building that occurred in the 4600 block 

of Doncaster.  Suspect(s) entered the victim’s garage and took 3 gas cans containing 
16 gallons of gas and a leaf blower.  On the following day, Dep. Bennehoff stopped a 
vehicle in which the leaf blower was located.  The suspects were identified and 
charges are being sought. 

 
05-24-10 Dep. Shattuck responded to Oak Leaf & Dell on a motor vehicle accident.  The driver 

fled the scene prior to the officer’s arrival.  A K-9 track led officers to the driver’s 
residence.  Upon locating the driver it was found that he was intoxicated.  When the 
driver was placed under arrest he resisted.  The driver was arrested and lodged on 
charges of Resisting & Obstructing, Operating While Intoxicated 1st, Disorderly 
Conduct and Leaving The Scene of a Property Damage Accident. 

 
05-27-10 Dep. Brower responded to a Domestic Assault complaint in the 4400 block of 

Rexford.  Upon arrival, Dep. Brower made contact with the victim.  The victim 
claimed she was struck in the head by her ex-husband.  The ex-husband was not at the 
scene but was located in the city of Lansing a short time later.  By having contact with 
the victim and consuming alcoholic beverages, the ex-husband was in violation of his 
parole and was placed under arrest for those violations.  After interviews it was 
determined that both subjects assaulted each other so charges of Domestic Assault are 
being sought against both. 

 
05-28-10 Dep. Lo investigated an Armed Robbery which occurred at the Dart Bank ATM 

located at 2469 Cedar St.  While at the drive up ATM, the victims were approached by 
a subject on foot.  The subject pointed a gun in the driver’s window and demanded 
money.  After money was given to the suspect he then fled on foot.  Officers have 
obtained video and this case is under investigation. 

 
05-30-10 Dep. Treat, while investigating 2 suspicious subjects in the 1900 block of Aurelius, 

discovered they had committed a Larceny From Auto in the 4500 block of Grove St.  
One of the subjects had foreign currency which had been taken during the incident.  
Officers also recovered a portable radio that had been taken from the same vehicle.  
Both subjects confessed to committing the crime.  Charges of Larceny From Auto are 
being sought against both. 
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05-31-10 Dep. Shattuck responded to a complaint of Domestic Assault which occurred in the 
2400 block of Aurelius.  The victim was assaulted by her boyfriend during a verbal 
altercation where the boyfriend choked the victim then threw her to the ground and 
placed his foot on her neck.  The boyfriend was arrested and lodged on a charge of 
Domestic Assault. 

 
 
STATISTICS: 
 
During the month of May, deputies took 581 written/blotter complaints.  They made 91 arrests of 
which 75 were self initiated.  Deputies issued 170 citations.  Deputies conducted 268 
business/property checks, 37 liquor inspections and spent 127 hours in Community Policing.  
Deputies participated in 74 hours of training. 
 



 
COUNTY of INGHAM 

State of Michigan 
SHERIFF'S OFFICE 

 

Gene L. Wriggelsworth 
Sheriff  

 
Allan C. Spyke 630 North Cedar Street Greg S. Harless 
Undersheriff Mason, MI 48854 Chief Deputy 
 (517) 676-2431 
Sam Davis FAX (517) 676-8299 Joel Maatman 
Major  Major 
 
 

 
TO:  Sgt. Patrick 
 
FROM: Dep. Brad Delaney  
 
DATE: June 8, 2010 
 
RE:  May Business Officer Monthly Report 
 
 
Felony Arrests:   2 
Total Complaints:   30 
Traffic Stops:    9 
Citations:    3 
Property / Business Checks:  33 
Liquor Inspections:   3 
Community Policing Hours:  13.7 
 

 
 
Community Policing Highlights: 
I attended the Holt Lions Club meeting on 5-6-10 where Sheriff Wriggelsworth, Lt. DeBruin and 
I accepted a cash donation from the club to purchase a computer program.  This computer 
program provides facial composite sketches.  It will be a great tool to help identify suspects in 
crimes committed throughout Delhi Township and Ingham County. 
 
I met with the owner of a proposed party store that is planned to be built at the intersection of 
Willoughby and Aurelius.  The owner, EJ, showed me plans of the site and asked about security 
in and around the facility.  I was able to provide input as to parking and lighting as well as 
interior surveillance and design of the property based on concerns for safety. 
 
I was assigned to the Safety Patrol Picnic at Hawk Island Park.  The annual event is held to thank 
and honor the area’s elementary safety patrol’s from throughout the Tri-County area.   
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Other Highlights: 
I am currently investigating a large identity theft complaint.  Currently the suspect has used at 
least 4 different people’s social security numbers and at least 3 different companies to obtain 
credit.  Coincidentally I attended an identity theft training this month that has helped focus the 
investigation.  The investigation is still ongoing and contact with the different companies is 
continuing.   
 
I also assisted Sgt. Patrick with a traffic stop that turned into identifying several home invasion 
suspects.  Several pieces of stolen property were recovered.  The same group is suspected in 
other jurisdictions for several home invasions as well. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Dep. Brad Delaney 
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ACCOUNTS PAYABLE APPROVAL
June 1, 2010

Dated:  June 1, 2010
                                   Lora Behnke, Accounting Clerk

II.  Certification of Fund Totals:

General Fund 206,138.96$       
Parks & Recreation 8,479.97             
Fire Equip. & Apparatus Fund 3,954.18             
Downtown Development Fund 58,350.71           
Community Development Fund 6,422.51             
Trust & Agency Fund 27,041.56           

Falk Cemetery Fund 9.99                    
Sewer Fund 63,387.29           

Grand Total 373,785.17$       

Includes the following to be reimbursed from separate bank accounts:
None

Dated:  June 1, 2010           

Marian Frane, Director of Accounting

Dated:  June 1, 2010
John B. Elsinga, Township Manager

Evan Hope, Township Clerk

Harry R. Ammon, Treasurer

________________________
Evan Hope, Township Clerk

I.  Certification of Authorized Signatures:  The attached Check Register and Invoice Distribution Report encompass 
checks dated June 1, 2010, numbered 77198 thru 77286 & ACH 1160 thru 1163 .  Every invoice has a payment 
authorizing signature(s).

The attached Invoice Distribution Report and Check Register for checks dated June 1, 2010 show payments made from the 
following funds:

III.  Approval for Distribution: I have reviewed the above checks and invoices and all of them should be distributed.  All  
invoices over $10,000.00 have been approved by general policy or previous motions of the board. (NONE) 

IV.  Board Audit and Approval: At a regular meeting of the Township Board held on June 15, 2010 a motion was 
made by ____________________ and passed by _____ yes votes and _____ no votes (____________________ 
absent) that the list of claims dated June 1, 2010, was reviewed, audited and approved.

U:Accounting Private\Payables\Accounts Payable Approval Form.xls
CC: Central File



INVOICE GL DISTRIBUTION REPORT FOR DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP
POST DATES 06/01/2010 - 06/01/2010

Vendor Invoice Description Amount

Fund 101 GENERAL FUND
Dept 000.00 
UMR REFUND-AUTO INSURANCE IS PRIMARY 536.00

Total For Dept 000.00 536.00

Dept 101.00 LEGISLATIVE
VERIZON WIRELESS APRIL CELLULAR PHONES 6.07

Total For Dept 101.00 LEGISLATIVE 6.07

Dept 171.00 MANAGER
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF DENTAL INSURANCE JUNE 293.42
VERIZON WIRELESS APRIL CELLULAR PHONES 51.12
WENDY L THIELEN 5/14/10 MILEAGE/THIELEN 63.31

Total For Dept 171.00 MANAGER 407.85

Dept 191.00 ACCOUNTING
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF DENTAL INSURANCE JUNE 266.16

Total For Dept 191.00 ACCOUNTING 266.16

Dept 215.00 CLERK
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF DENTAL INSURANCE JUNE 256.02
INTERSTATE ALL BATTERY BATTERIES/CSC 49.81
VERIZON WIRELESS APRIL CELLULAR PHONES 51.12

Total For Dept 215.00 CLERK 356.95

Dept 228.00 INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF DENTAL INSURANCE JUNE 80.17
VERIZON WIRELESS APRIL CELLULAR PHONES 51.12

Total For Dept 228.00 INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 131.29

Dept 253.00 TREASURERS
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF DENTAL INSURANCE JUNE 346.33
MUZZALL GRAPHICS SUMMER TAX BILL PAPER 507.00
MUZZALL GRAPHICS SUMMER TAX BILL PAPER 50.70
MUZZALL GRAPHICS SHIPPING 64.39
MUZZALL GRAPHICS WHITE MAILING ENVELOPES 858.00
MUZZALL GRAPHICS GREEN RETURN PMT ENVELOPE 1,078.00
MUZZALL GRAPHICS SHIPPING 40.00
MUZZALL GRAPHICS SHIPPING 51.62



VERIZON WIRELESS APRIL CELLULAR PHONES 11.18
KARIN S TEBEAU LODING/MEALS/MILEAGE-TEBEAU 379.81

Total For Dept 253.00 TREASURERS 3,387.03

Dept 257.00 ASSESSING
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF DENTAL INSURANCE JUNE 175.85
LANSING ICE & FUEL CO GASOLINE 5/1-15/10 38.01
STATE OF MICHIGAN PERSONAL PROPERTY EXAM/HANES 50.00

Total For Dept 257.00 ASSESSING 263.86

Dept 262.00 ELECTIONS
INGHAM COUNTY CLERK HOLT SCHOOL ELECTION FEES 4,748.37
PRINTING SYSTEMS, INC. 8,000 DUAL AV APPS & FREIGHT 452.37
INGHAM COUNTY CLERK HOLT SCHOOL ELECTION FEES 361.01

Total For Dept 262.00 ELECTIONS 5,561.75

Dept 265.00 BUILDING & GROUNDS
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF DENTAL INSURANCE JUNE 110.38
LANSING ICE & FUEL CO GASOLINE 5/1-15/10 80.67
ACE HARDWARE 2 SNAP BLADE KNIFES 9.16
JOHN DEERE LANDSCAPES FLATBOND WEED BARRIER 73.75
MAID BRIGADE OF LANSING CLEANING SERVICES/CSC 975.00
TDS METROCOM MAY LOCAL CALLS 1,266.72
VERIZON WIRELESS APRIL CELLULAR PHONES 12.91
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER SEWER 2074 AURELIUS 284.95
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS-2074 AURELIUS 784.41
JACKSON AUTOMATIC SPRINK LEAK DETECTION SYSTEM 250.00

Total For Dept 265.00 BUILDING & GROUNDS 3,847.95

Dept 276.00 CEMETERY
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF DENTAL INSURANCE JUNE 99.34
LANSING ICE & FUEL CO GASOLINE 5/1-15/10 72.60
KAMPS WOOD RESOURCES LANDSCAPE MULCH 38.50
PURE GREEN LAWN & TREE DEEP ROOT/SPRING, FALL 188.00
RUMSEY & SONS CONSTRUCT 11 CEMETERY FOUNDATIONS 222.00
VERIZON WIRELESS APRIL CELLULAR PHONES 12.92
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-4149 WILLOUGHBY 37.30

Total For Dept 276.00 CEMETERY 670.66

Dept 301.00 POLICE
INGHAM COUNTY TREASURER MAY POLICE CONTRACT 180,258.17

Total For Dept 301.00 POLICE 180,258.17



Dept 336.00 FIRE DEPARTMENT
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF DENTAL INSURANCE JUNE 1,370.41
TDS METROCOM MAY LOCAL CALLS 66.07
VERIZON WIRELESS APRIL CELLULAR PHONES 259.78
VERIZON WIRELESS APRIL CELLULAR PHONES 16.91
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER SEWER 6139 BISHOP 33.30
COREY DROLETT 2010 LCC SPRING SEMESTER/DROLETT 363.49
BRETT JUSTICE 2010 LCC SPRING SEMESTER/JUSTICE 801.38

Total For Dept 336.00 FIRE DEPARTMENT 2,911.34

Dept 446.00 INFRASTRUCTURE
BOARD OF WATER & LIGHT STREETLIGHTS 5/1-6/1/10 6,658.98
HUBBELL, ROTH & CLARK, INC COOK-THORBURN-HANCOCK POST LIT 423.95

Total For Dept 446.00 INFRASTRUCTURE 7,082.93

Dept 850.00 OTHER FUNCTIONS
MUZZALL GRAPHICS 2,000 PAYROLL CHECKS 250.00
MUZZALL GRAPHICS ESTIMATED SHIPPING 11.95
SECAP FINANCE FOLDING MACHINE LEASE 4/30-5/30/10 189.00

Total For Dept 850.00 OTHER FUNCTIONS 450.95

Total For Fund 101 GENERAL FUND 206,138.96

Fund 208 PARKS & RECREATION FUND
Dept 752.00 ADMINISTRATION
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF DENTAL INSURANCE JUNE 85.54
TDS METROCOM MAY LOCAL CALLS 150.75
VERIZON WIRELESS APRIL CELLULAR PHONES 94.13
VERIZON WIRELESS APRIL CELLULAR PHONES 31.54
VERIZON WIRELESS APRIL CELLULAR PHONES 0.23

Total For Dept 752.00 ADMINISTRATION 362.19

Dept 771.00 PARKS
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF DENTAL INSURANCE JUNE 133.08
D & M SILKSCREENING 12 T-SHIRTS/GARDENERS 96.00
LANSING ICE & FUEL CO GASOLINE 5/1-15/10 619.71
ACE HARDWARE 2 FLOOR KNIFES/10 DRIVER BITS 21.88
ACE HARDWARE ROTARY DRILL BIT 3.79
ACE HARDWARE EYE SCREW/(3) U BOLTS 7.56
ACE HARDWARE HOSE/NOZZLE/SILLCOCK KEY 21.97
LANSING SANITARY SUPPLY 2 BRN CONTAINERS & HANDLING 311.70
SAM'S CLUB DIRECT 11 TRASH BAGS 189.64
AMERICAN RENTAL PORTABLE TOILETS 300.00
MODEL COVERALL SERVICE UNIFORMS 68.14



DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER SEWER 1750 MAPLE 29.20
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER SEWER 2108 CEDAR 13.00
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER SEWER 2287 PINE TREE 40.60
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER SEWER 4030 KELLER 56.80
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-2074 AURELIUS #PARK 987.11
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-2108 CEDAR 941.93
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-1750 MAPLE 38.63
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-2177 WEST BLVD 19.77
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-2287 PINETREE(2939) 92.87
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-2287 PINETREE(3200) 109.41
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-4080 KELLER 36.84
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-4111 HOLT 19.66
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS-4111 HOLT 10.62
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS-2287 PINE TREE (2939) 73.95
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS-2108 CEDAR 27.33
ACE HARDWARE LIQUID NAIL 1.79
CAPITAL STEEL AND BUILDERS STEEL FOR PARK GRILLS 163.36
OUTSIDE THE LINES 5 SIGNS/VALHALLA PARK BEACH 995.00
ACE HARDWARE 2 BIRD BATHS/ 2 PREEN/TRANSPLANTER 109.44
ACE HARDWARE CLEAR CAULK 8.49
ACE HARDWARE 2 GRILL BRUSHES/WIRE BRUSH/3 SCRAPE 53.18
ACE HARDWARE 2 SILICONE GREASE/SCREWS/BOLTS 18.60
ACE HARDWARE SEEDS/FLOWERS 92.95
ACE HARDWARE BOLTS & NAILS 6.80
ACE HARDWARE SCREWS & BOLTS 2.36
ACE HARDWARE HEX BUSHING/NIPPLE/PLUG 4.77
BOBCAT OF LANSING AUGER RENTAL 100.00
COLLEEN COOPER FLOWERS 180.73
COLLEEN COOPER FLOWERS 33.12
SCHAFER'S INC. 84 YDS MULCH 1,357.20
JUDITH A TUTTLE FLOWERS 17.19
CARQUEST THE PARTS PLACE EQUIP. REPAIRS 13.58
CARQUEST THE PARTS PLACE 1 FUSE 3.87
SUPERIOR SAW WEED WHIP REPAIR 48.85

Total For Dept 771.00 PARKS 7,482.47

Dept 774.00 RECREATION
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF DENTAL INSURANCE JUNE 80.17
JOHNNY MAC'S 30 RULEBOOKS 328.50
JOHNNY MAC'S 27 SCOREBOOKS 106.65
SAM'S CLUB DIRECT TURKEY/BUNS/MUFFINS/WATER 119.99

Total For Dept 774.00 RECREATION 635.31

Total For Fund 208 PARKS & RECREATION FUND 8,479.97



Fund 211 FIRE EQUIP. & APPARATUS FUND
Dept 339.00 EQUIPMENT & APPARATUS
BARYAMES CLEANERS UNIFORM CLEANING 133.10
LANSING ICE & FUEL CO GASOLINE 5/1-15/10 774.63
D & M SILKSCREENING 48 T-SHIRTS 429.60
COMMUNICATIONS SERVICES RADIO REPAIR & INSTALLATION 459.50
SUPERIOR SAW PART & LABOR/SAW 37.90
WEST SHORE FIRE INC SCBA REPAIR 34.08
ACE HARDWARE 4 FLUR BULBS 27.96
CARQUEST THE PARTS PLACE FUSE/#21 2.96
CENTRAL MICHIGAN FORD 2 BATTERIES/08 FORD 371.90
FRANKIE D'S AUTO & TRUCK MASS AIR SENSOR/2006 EXPEDITITION 228.00
HALT FIRE, INC. DOT INSPECTION/E21 285.80
LIFE LINE EMERGENCY CONTROL HEAD & FREIGHT/#608 244.02
MULLINS AUTO PARTS & TOW FIRE TRUCK TOW- LESLIE HIGH SCHOOL 150.00
CARQUEST THE PARTS PLACE (2) HD SILICONE SPRAY 5.98
TARGETSAFETY RENEWAL ANNUAL LICENSE 5/1/10-4/30/11 768.75

Total For Dept 339.00 EQUIPMENT & APPARATUS 3,954.18

Total For Fund 211 FIRE EQUIP. & APPARATUS FUND 3,954.18

Fund 248 DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
Dept 728.00 DDA ADMINISTRATION
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF DENTAL INSURANCE JUNE 80.17
FOSTER, SWIFT, COLLINS LEGAL FEES APRIL 1,874.00
TDS METROCOM MAY LOCAL CALLS 192.01
VERIZON WIRELESS APRIL CELLULAR PHONES 83.74
HELEN C HARRISON MILEAGE 3/22-5/21/10 FOR HARRISON 51.00
KAMPS WOOD RESOURCES 125 YDS BLACK LANDSCAPE MULCH 577.50
PURE GREEN LAWN & TREE DEEP ROOT/SPRING, FALL 128.00
PURE GREEN LAWN & TREE GROUNDS FERT EARLY SPRING 25.00
COMMUNICATION CONSULT LABOR TO RESET DATA BOX 102.00

Total For Dept 728.00 DDA ADMINISTRATION 3,113.42

Dept 729.00 DDA MARKETING & PROMOTION
CHARLES GRINNELL 43 HOURS @ $22/GRINNELL 946.00
ACE HARDWARE PAPER TOWEL/TOILET TISSUE/ROUNDUP/ 32.42
ACE HARDWARE 3 NO PARKING SIGNS 5.37
BLOHM CREATIVE PARTNERS APRIL WEB MAINTENANCE & HOSTING 201.25
SAM'S CLUB DIRECT POTW OPEN HOUSE SUPPLIES 177.92
SAM'S CLUB DIRECT CANOPY/WATER/CHARCOAL 322.08

Total For Dept 729.00 DDA MARKETING & PROMOTION 1,685.04



Dept 731.00 DDA INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECTS
KAMPS WOOD RESOURCES LANDSCAPE MULCH 731.50
PURE GREEN LAWN & TREE DEEP ROOT/SPRING, FALL 40.00
PURE GREEN LAWN & TREE DEEP ROOT/SPRING, FALL 40.00
PURE GREEN LAWN & TREE DEEP ROOT/SPRING, FALL 40.00
PURE GREEN LAWN & TREE DEEP ROOT/SPRING, FALL 47.00
PURE GREEN LAWN & TREE DEEP ROOT/SPRING/FALL 78.00
PURE GREEN LAWN & TREE DEEP ROOT/SPRING, FALL 35.00
PURE GREEN LAWN & TREE GROUNDS FERT EARLY SPRING 25.00
PURE GREEN LAWN & TREE GROUNDS FERT EARLY SPRING 44.00
PURE GREEN LAWN & TREE GROUNDS FERT EARLY SPRING 25.00
SOIL & MATERIALS ENGINEERS ASBESTOS ABATEMENT MONITORING 612.85
HUBBELL, ROTH & CLARK, INC COOK-THORBURN-HANCOCK POST LIT 423.94
C2AE I-96 UNDERPASS & N. CONNECTOR TRAIL 46,158.68

Total For Dept 731.00 DDA INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECTS 48,300.97

Dept 850.00 OTHER FUNCTIONS
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF DENTAL INSURANCE JUNE 139.82
LANSING ICE & FUEL CO GASOLINE 5/1-15/10 102.18
MAID BRIGADE OF LANSING CLEANING SERVICES/SHERIFF 480.00
VERIZON WIRELESS APRIL CELLULAR PHONES 12.92
BOARD OF WATER & LIGHT WATER 2004 AURELIUS 40.93
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER SEWER 1465 CEDAR 13.00
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER SEWER 2017 PARK LANE 52.00
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER SEWER 2026 & 2028 CEDAR 26.76
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER SEWER 2034 CEDAR 13.00
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER SEWER 2045 CEDAR 41.35
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER SEWER 2150 CEDAR 23.93
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER SEWER 2185 CEDAR 13.00
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER SEWER 2191 CEDAR 13.00
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER SEWER 4294 VETERANS 13.00
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER SEWER 4302 VETERANS 13.00
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-2116 CEDAR 252.84
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-2150 CEDAR 98.13
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-2004 AURELIUS 81.94
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-2045 CEDAR #A 691.76
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-2045 CEDAR #B 112.53
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-2228 AURELIUS 119.22
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-4115 HOLT 198.46
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-3970 HOLT 103.45
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS-2150 CEDAR 61.46

Total For Dept 850.00 OTHER FUNCTIONS 2,717.68



Dept 905.00 DEBT SERVICE
ROBERT HOLMES PRINCIPAL - HOLT PLAZA CORNER 618.28
ROBERT W BAIRD & CO., INC. PRINCIPAL - HOLT PLAZA CORNER 618.28
WILLIAM THORBURN PRINCIPAL - HOLT PLAZA CORNER 1,236.56
ROBERT HOLMES INTEREST - HOLT PLAZA CORNER 15.12
ROBERT W BAIRD & CO., INC. INTEREST - HOLT PLAZA CORNER 15.12
WILLIAM THORBURN INTEREST - HOLT PLAZA CORNER 30.24

Total For Dept 905.00 DEBT SERVICE 2,533.60

Total For Fund 248 DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 58,350.71

Fund 542 COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT FUND
Dept 721.00 PLANNING/COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF DENTAL INSURANCE JUNE 692.66
FIDLAR TECHNOLOGIES, INC. 12 BOOKS NOTICE OF VIOLATION TICKETS 135.43
LANSING ICE & FUEL CO GASOLINE 5/1-15/10 144.36
ENVIRONMENTAL SYSTEMS 5/17/10-5/17/11 GIS MAINTENANCE 4,378.36
TDS METROCOM MAY LOCAL CALLS 108.87
VERIZON WIRELESS APRIL CELLULAR PHONES 256.05
VERIZON WIRELESS APRIL CELLULAR PHONES 50.54
OCE NORTH AMERICA DOC APRIL METER CHARGE 69.73
SCHAFER'S INC. MOWING 2201 AURELIUS 51.75
SCHAFER'S INC. MOWING 2464 EIFERT 103.50
SCHAFER'S INC. MOWING 782 GROVENBURG 103.50
SCHAFER'S INC. MOWING 1539 WITHERSPOON 69.00
SCHAFER'S INC. MOWING 515 COLLEGE 129.38
SCHAFER'S INC. MOWING 1601 GRAYFRIARS 77.63
SCHAFER'S INC. MOWING 4691 KRENTAL 51.75

Total For Dept 721.00 PLANNING/COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 6,422.51

Total For Fund 542 COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT FUND 6,422.51

Fund 590 SEWAGE DISPOSAL SYSTEM
Dept 000.00 
DUDASH-MION, CARLA BASIC SERVICE CHARGE 21.10
EDWARDS, PATRICIA BASIC SERVICE CHARGE 14.30
FRANZEL, MISTY SEWER USAGE 8.95
SECURED LENDING SERVICES SEWER USAGE 8.95
WHITCOMB REALTY BASIC SERVICE CHARGE 45.49
WOLVERINE ENGINEERS GENESIS DEVEL PHASE 2 2,150.76
DUDASH-MION, CARLA SEWER USAGE 0.00

Total For Dept 000.00 2,249.55



Dept 548.00 ADMINISTRATION & OVERHEAD
HOLT POSTMASTER JUNE SEWER BILL POSTAGE 2,450.00

Total For Dept 548.00 ADMINISTRATION & OVERHEAD 2,450.00

Dept 558.00 DEPT OF PUBLIC SERVICE
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF DENTAL INSURANCE JUNE 1,490.14
LANSING ICE & FUEL CO GASOLINE 5/1-15/10 1,089.03
BARYAMES CLEANERS UNIFORM DRY CLEANING 36.30
MODEL COVERALL SERVICE STAFF UNIFORMS 151.82
MODEL COVERALL SERVICE STAFF UNIFORMS 311.76
MODEL COVERALL SERVICE STAFF UNIFORMS 133.21
MODEL COVERALL SERVICE STAFF UNIFORMS 75.32
ENVIRONMENTAL SYSTEMS 5/17/10-5/17/11 GIS MAINTENANCE 1,860.00
FISHER SCIENTIFIC POTW ANNUAL LAB SUPPLY ORDER 80.85
FISHER SCIENTIFIC POTW ANNUAL LAB SUPPLY ORDER 336.25
HASSELBRING-CLARK METER OVERAGE ON COPIER 53.68
ACE HARDWARE 6 WATCH BATTERIES 28.74
FISHER SCIENTIFIC POTW ANNUAL LAB SUPPLY ORDER 164.82
FISHER SCIENTIFIC POTW ANNUAL LAB SUPPLY ORDER 634.32
FISHER SCIENTIFIC POTW ANNUAL LAB SUPPLY ORDER 156.45
FISHER SCIENTIFIC POTW ANNUAL LAB SUPPLY ORDER 8,366.89
FISHER SCIENTIFIC POTW ANNUAL LAB SUPPLY ORDER 776.07
FISHER SCIENTIFIC POTW ANNUAL LAB SUPPLY ORDER 230.38
FISHER SCIENTIFIC POTW ANNUAL LAB SUPPLY ORDER 171.97
FISHER SCIENTIFIC POTW ANNUAL LAB SUPPLY ORDER 22.20
ALEXANDER CHEMICAL CORP SODIUM BISULFITE 815.00
ALEXANDER CHEMICAL CORP CREDIT (180.00)
UNISON SOLUTIONS, INC. GAS TESTING FOR SILOXANES & SULFUR 3,980.00
KAR LABORATORIES, INC. INFLUENT MERCURY TESTING 270.00
KAR LABORATORIES, INC. EFFLUENT MERCURY TESTING 270.00
FISHER SCIENTIFIC POTW ANNUAL LAB SUPPLY ORDER 987.04
NORTHERN SAFETY CO., INC. 21 SAFETY VESTS 392.07
NORTHERN SAFETY CO., INC. 2 CS WIPES 378.16
NORTHERN SAFETY CO., INC. MEDS/GLOVES/RAIN GEAR/WINDSOCK 3,147.94
NORTHERN SAFETY CO., INC. GLOVES 753.78
HUBBELL, ROTH & CLARK, INC SFR PROJECT PLAN AMENDMENT 354.75
UNITED PARCEL SERVICE SHIPPING 32.68
BARNHART & SON, INC. SLUDGE REMOVAL & CONCRETE MH 1,020.30
CLEANLITES RECYCLING, INC. FLOURECENT BULB RECYCLING 122.74
COMCAST INTERNET AT 1444 GROVENBURG 6.24
TDS METROCOM MAY LOCAL CALLS 447.34
USA MOBILITY WIRELESS, INC. PAGER SERVICE 97.90
VERIZON WIRELESS APRIL CELLULAR PHONES 307.99
VERIZON WIRELESS APRIL CELLULAR PHONES 37.84
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER SEWER 1490 AURELIUS 387.50
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-2358 EIFERT 507.65



CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-1494 AURELIUS 171.66
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-2870 PINE TREE 449.28
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-3505 HOLT 104.20
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-4280 DELL 398.08
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-5961 MC CUE #2509 14,581.72
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-5999 HOLT 28.90
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-6055 MC CUE 173.25
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-1390 WAVERLY 94.39
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-1490 AURELIUS 1,452.43
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS-1490 AURELIUS 337.04
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS-1492 AURELIUS 101.59
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS-1492 AURELIUIS #A 36.48
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS-5961 MC CUE #2 24.02
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS-5961 MC CUE #3 10.66
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS-4280 DELL 50.74
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS-5961 MC CUE #2319 883.67
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS-3505 HOLT 32.92
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS-2481 DELHI COMM 15.96
ACE HARDWARE 3 CAULK/FLOOR SQUEEGE 28.86
ACE HARDWARE ADJUSTABLE PLATE HANGER 2.99
ACE HARDWARE 2 CLOTHES LINE/2 TARPS 57.96
JOHN DEERE LANDSCAPES 2 TALPIRID MOLE BAIT 102.22
KAMPS WOOD RESOURCES LANDSCAPE MULCH 1,058.75
PURE GREEN LAWN & TREE TREES DEEP ROOT 128.00
PURE GREEN LAWN & TREE TREES DEEP ROOT 89.00
PURE GREEN LAWN & TREE INSECT DISEASE/SPRING 240.00
PURE GREEN LAWN & TREE GROUNDS FERT/EARLY SPRING 232.00
BARNHART & SON, INC. CHECK MISC SEWER MONITORS 804.54
ACE HARDWARE 2 BLACK PLUGS/1 BLACK CAP 3.27
JACK DOHENY SUPPLIES, INC HOUSING COVER & SHIPPING 89.21
TECHMATIC INC. PEAK-DHC-100 634.00
TECHMATIC INC. PEAK-OTR-100 256.50
TECHMATIC INC. FREIGHT 12.79
MAID BRIGADE OF LANSING CLEANING SERVICES/POTW 260.00
MAID BRIGADE OF LANSING CLEANING SERVICES/MAINTENANCE 260.00
SIEMENS INDUSTRY, INC. REPAIR A/C IN POTW LAB 672.00
HASSELBRING-CLARK ANNUAL COPIER MAINTENANCE 891.00
RS TECHNICAL SERVICES, INC. INSTALL WIRE START UP FIBER OPTIC 963.76
AMERICAN RENTAL 1 - 20 X 30 TENT 170.00
AMERICAN RENTAL 1 - 20X30 TENT 170.00
D & M SILKSCREENING 110 OPEN HOUSE T-SHIRTS 252.50
R. A. DINKEL & ASSOCIATES BOBBERS 238.00
R. A. DINKEL & ASSOCIATES ESTIMATED SHIPPING 12.19
SAM'S CLUB DIRECT COOKIES/CUPS/CANDY/MUFFINS/GLOVES 107.02
SAM'S CLUB DIRECT BATTERIES/PADS/CHIPS/PENS 231.51
SAM'S CLUB DIRECT CREDIT (4.53)



ST OF MICH CASHIERS OFFICE LAGOON COURSE/BOLLEY 290.00
TARGETSAFETY RENEWAL ANNUAL LICENSE 5/1/10-4/30/11 337.50
FISHER SCIENTIFIC LABCONCO GLASSWARE WASHER 138.19

Total For Dept 558.00 DEPT OF PUBLIC SERVICE 57,983.34

Dept 578.01 CAPITAL IMPR-TREATMENT PLANT
HUBBELL, ROTH & CLARK, INC DIGESTER REHABILITATION-PYMT 72 704.40

Total For Dept 578.01 CAPITAL IMPR-TREATMENT PLANT 704.40

Total For Fund 590 SEWAGE DISPOSAL SYSTEM 63,387.29

Fund 701 TRUST & AGENCY FUND
Dept 000.00 
INGHAM COUNTY TREASURER APRIL 2010 TRAILER PARK FEES 2,247.50
MID MICHIGAN TAX REFUND 2009 TAX OVERPAYMENT 183.06
CEDAR STREET BAPTIST REFUND LANDSCAPE BOND 1705 CEDAR 14,841.00
EYDE CENTRAL DISBURSE REFUND LANDSCAPE BOND 2556 ALAMO 6,470.00
MILESTONE CONSTRUCTION REFUND LANDSCAPE BOND 2440 CEDAR 1,800.00
WIELAND - DAVCO CORPOR RETURN LANDSCAPE BOND 3400 BELLE 1,500.00

Total For Dept 000.00 27,041.56

Total For Fund 701 TRUST & AGENCY FUND 27,041.56

Fund 765 FALK CEMETERY TRUST
Dept 000.00 
ACE HARDWARE POTTING MIX 9.99

Total For Dept 000.00 9.99

Total For Fund 765 FALK CEMETERY TRUST 9.99

Total For All Funds: 373,785.17



DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP
FUND TRANSFERS AND PAYROLL APPROVAL

For Payroll Dated June 10, 2010

I.   Certification of Preparation and Distribution

Lora Behnke, Accounting Clerk

Joyce Goulet, Accounts Payable Coordinator

Dated: June 10, 2010 Marian Frane, CPA, Director of Accounting

II.  Payroll Report
The June 10, 2010 payroll encompasses the following funds and  expenditures:

Gross Payroll Net
Payroll Deductions Pay

General Fund $86,516.35 $25,293.90 $61,222.45
Parks & Recreation Fund 19,833.09 4,566.66 $15,266.43
DDA 8,075.29 3,093.44 $4,981.85
Comm. Development Fund 13,506.85 3,678.63 $9,828.22
Sewer Fund/Receiving 37,981.39 10,485.02 $27,496.37
Total Payroll $165,912.97 $47,117.65 $118,795.32

Township Township Total Deductions
FICA Pension Plan & TWP Liabilities

General Fund $6,287.31 $6,598.32 $38,179.53
Parks & Recreation Fund 1,496.61 773.42 6,836.69
DDA 534.32 585.33 4,213.09
Comm. Development Fund 1,004.58 1,189.71 5,872.92
Sewer Fund/Receiving 2,792.53 2,947.97 16,225.52
     Total Payroll $12,115.35 $12,094.75 $71,327.75

Marian Frane, CPA, Director of Accounting

III.  FUND TRANSFERS
Transfers covering the foregoing payroll were made on June 10, 2010 and identified as follows: 

Harry R. Ammon, Treasurer

IV.  Board Audit and Approval:

Attachment to Payroll Register

cc: Ammon(1)Vander Ploeg(1) Evan Hope, Clerk

At a regular meeting of the Township Board held on June 15,  2010, a motion was made by _________________and passed 
by_________________yes votes and ________no votes(__________absent) that the payroll dated June 10, 2010 was 
reviewed, audited, and approved.

The attached check and payroll registers encompass check numbers: 101065 through 101130 & direct deposits numbers: 
DD9623 through DD9694.  The payroll was prepared in accordance with established payroll rates and procedures.

06/10 Net Pay Disbursement in Common Savings ($118,795.32)                                    

The Treasurer's and Clerk's signatures were affixed to the payroll checks using the check signing machine.

The attached Check and Payroll Registers were reviewed.  The payroll checks were distributed in accordance with established 
procedures.

6/10/2010 Excel U:/accounting private/2004 payroll/PAYROLL APPROVAL.xls



DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 

 
 
TO:  Delhi Township Board Members 
 
FROM: John B. Elsinga, Township Manager 
 
DATE: June 9, 2010 
 
RE: Audited Financial Statements for Fiscal Year ending December 31, 

2009 
 
 
Enclosed for your review and consideration are the audited Financial Statements 
for Fiscal Year ending December 31, 2009. 
 
The Director of Accounting and Dave Fisher from Rehmann Robson will make a 
formal presentation to the Township Board at the June 15, 2010 meeting and 
respond to any questions. 
 
 
RECOMMENDED MOTION: 
 
To accept Delhi Charter Township’s audited Financial 
Statements for Fiscal Year ending December 31, 2009. 



 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Charter Township of Delhi  
 

Holt, Michigan 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Comprehensive Annual  
Financial Report  

 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2009 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prepared by: 
 

Accounting Department
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 INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
 
 April 15, 2010 
 
 
 
The Board of Trustees  
Charter Township of Delhi  
Holt, Michigan 
 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-
type activities, the discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate 
remaining fund information of the CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF DELHI , MICHIGAN, as of and for 
the year ended December 31, 2009, which collectively comprise the Township’s basic financial 
statements as listed in the table of contents. These financial statements are the responsibility of the 
Township’s management.  Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements 
based on our audit.  
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes 
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe 
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions. 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the discretely presented 
component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Charter 
Township of Delhi, Michigan, as of December 31, 2009, and the respective changes in financial 
position and cash flows, where applicable, thereof and the budgetary comparisons for the general 
fund for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America. 
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The Management’s Discussion and Analysis on pages 3-11 and the Retiree Health Plan historical 
information on page 51 are not required parts of the basic financial statements but is supplementary 
information required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. We have applied certain 
limited procedures, which consisted principally of inquiries of management regarding the methods 
of measurement and presentation of the required supplementary information. However, we did not 
audit the information and express no opinion on it. 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise the Charter Township of Delhi’s basic financial statements. The introductory 
section, combining and individual fund financial statements and budgetary schedules, and statistical 
section are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic 
financial statements. The combining and individual fund financial statements and budgetary 
schedules have been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial 
statements and, in our opinion, are fairly presented, in all material respects, in relation to the basic 
financial statements taken as a whole. 
 
The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied 
in the audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on them.   
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

jwilliams
RR Signature
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
 
 
 
As management of Delhi Charter Township, Michigan, we offer readers of the Township’s financial 
statements this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the Township for the fiscal 
year ended December 31, 2009. 
 
 
Financial Highlights 
 
 The assets of the Township exceeded its liabilities at the close of the most recent fiscal year by 

$48,889,079 (net assets). Of this amount, $4,479,807 (unrestricted net assets) may be used to 
meet the government’s ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors. 

 
 The government’s total net assets increased by $1,032,982. 

 
 As of the close of the current fiscal year, the Township’s governmental funds reported combined 

ending fund balances of $2,875,994, a decrease of $777,871 in comparison with the prior year. 
Over 95% of this total amount, or $2,742,942, is available for spending at the government’s 
discretion (unreserved fund balance). 

 
 At the end of the current fiscal year, unreserved fund balance for the General Fund was 

$1,949,051 or 29 percent of total general fund expenditures (not including  transfers out). 
 
 The Township’s total bonded debt increased by $570,971 during the current fiscal year; 

$2,038,055 in new bonded debt was issued and $1,467,084 of existing debt was retired.  The new 
debt is revenue bonds in the Sewer Fund for the digester project. 

 
 
Overview of the Financial Statements 
 
This discussion and analysis are intended to serve as an introduction to the Township’s basic financial 
statements. The Township’s basic financial statements comprise three components: 1) government-wide 
financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements. This report also 
contains other supplementary information in addition to the basic financial statements themselves. 
 
Government-wide financial statements. The government-wide financial statements are designed to 
provide readers with a broad overview of the Township’s finances, in a manner similar to a private-sector 
business. 
 
The statement of net assets presents information on all of the Township’s assets and liabilities, with the 
difference between the two reported as net assets. Over time, increases or decreases in net assets may 
serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the Township is improving or deteriorating. 
 
The statement of activities presents information showing how the government’s net assets changed during 
the most recent fiscal year. All changes in net assets are reported as soon as the underlying event giving 
rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are 
reported in this statement for some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods (e.g., 
earned but unused vacation leave). 
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Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the Township that are 
principally supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other 
functions that are intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and 
charges (business-type activities). The governmental activities of the Township include legislative, 
general government, public safety, public works, and parks and recreation.  The business-type activities 
of the Township include sewer and community development operations. 
 
The government-wide financial statements include not only the Township itself (known as the primary 
government), but also two legally separate authorities – the Downtown Development Authority and the 
Brownfield Redevelopment Authority – for which the Township is financially accountable. Financial 
information for these component units are reported separately from the financial information presented for 
the primary government itself.  
 
The government-wide financial statements can be found on pages 12-14 of this report. 
 
Fund financial statements. A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over 
resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The Township, like other state 
and local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related 
legal requirements. All of the funds of the Township can be divided into three categories: governmental 
funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds. 
 
Governmental funds. Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported 
as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the 
government-wide financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term 
inflows and outflows of spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at 
the end of the fiscal year. Such information may be useful in evaluating a government’s near-term 
financing requirements. 
 
Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial 
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar 
information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By doing 
so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the government’s near-term financing 
decisions. Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues, 
expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between 
governmental funds and governmental activities. 
 
The Township maintains six individual governmental funds. Information is presented separately in the 
governmental fund balance sheet and in the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and 
changes in fund balances for the General Fund. Data from the other five governmental funds are 
combined into a single, aggregated presentation. Individual fund data for each of these nonmajor gov-
ernmental funds is provided in the form of combining statements elsewhere in this report. 
 
The Township adopts an annual appropriated budget for its general and special revenue funds. Budgetary 
comparison statements or schedules have been provided herein to demonstrate compliance with those 
budgets. 
 
The basic governmental fund financial statements can be found on pages 15-20 of this report. 
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Proprietary funds. There are two types of proprietary funds – enterprise and internal service. Enterprise 
funds are used to report the same functions presented as business-type activities in the government-wide 
financial statements. The Township uses two enterprise funds - one to account for its sanitary sewer 
operations and the other for community development. Internal service funds are an accounting device 
used to accumulate and allocate costs internally among the Township’s various functions. The Township 
does not use internal service funds at this time. 
 
Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as the government-wide financial statements, only 
in more detail. The basic proprietary fund financial statements can be found on pages 21-24 of this report. 
 
Fiduciary funds. Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside 
the government. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statements because 
the resources of those funds are not available to support the Township’s own programs. The accounting 
used for fiduciary funds is much like that used for proprietary funds. 
 
The basic fiduciary fund financial statements can be found on pages 25-26 of this report. 
 
Notes to the financial statements. The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full 
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. The notes to 
the financial statements can be found on pages 29-50 of this report. 
 
Other information.  In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying note, this report also 
presents certain required supplementary information.  The combining statements referred to earlier in 
connection with nonmajor governmental funds are presented immediately following the required 
supplementary information. Combining and individual fund statements and schedules can be found on 
pages 52-69 of this report. 
 
Government-wide Financial Analysis 
 
As noted earlier, net assets may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s financial position. 
In the case of Delhi Charter Township, assets exceeded liabilities by $48,889,079 at the close of the most 
recent fiscal year. 
 
By far the largest portion of the Township’s net assets (85 percent) reflects its investment in capital assets 
(e.g. infrastructure, land, buildings, equipment, and vehicles), less any related debt used to acquire those 
assets that is still outstanding. The Township uses these capital assets to provide services to citizens; 
consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. Although the Township’s investment in 
its capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this 
debt must be provided from other sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate 
these liabilities.  

Delhi Charter Township’s Net Assets

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

Current and other assets $7,095,164 $8,662,110 $5,185,401 $6,313,233 $12,280,565 $14,975,343
Capital assets, net 10,386,798   7,501,160     51,726,525    51,534,813    62,113,323    59,035,973    

Total assets 17,481,962   16,163,270   56,911,926    57,848,046    74,393,888    74,011,316    

Long-term liabilities 1,392,292     2,023,679     17,129,994    16,760,879    18,522,286    18,784,558    
Other liabilities 4,794,270     4,877,155     2,188,253      2,493,506      6,982,523      7,370,661      

Total liabilities 6,186,562     6,900,834     19,318,247    19,254,385    25,504,809    26,155,219    

Net assets:
Invested in capital assets,
net of related debt 8,580,733     5,141,128     32,927,591    33,175,333    41,508,324    38,316,461    
Restricted 59,126          82,186          2,841,822      2,618,428      2,900,948      2,700,614      
Unrestricted 2,655,541     4,039,122     1,824,266      2,799,900      4,479,807      6,839,022      

Total Net Assets $11,295,400 $9,262,436 $37,593,679 $38,593,661 $48,889,079 $47,856,097
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At the end of the current fiscal year, the Township is able to report positive balances in all three 
categories of net assets, both for the government as a whole, as well as for its separate governmental and 
business-type activities. The same situation held true for the prior fiscal year. 
 
The government’s net assets increased by $1,032,982 during the current fiscal year. This was a 
combination of net assets increasing by $2,032,964 in Governmental Activities and decreasing by 
$999,982 in the Business-type Activities.  Net assets in Governmental Activities  would have declined 
had it not been for the capital asset donations to the General Fund and Parks and Recreation Fund from 
the Downtown Development Authority of more than $3,000,000. 
 
 

Delhi Charter Township’s Changes in Net Assets

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total

2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

Revenue:

Program revenues:

Charges for services 1,684,802$         1,705,407$       5,188,251$          5,082,619$          6,873,053$          6,788,026$          

Operating grants and contributions 97,136                155,846            309,131               389,390               406,267               545,236               

Capital grants and contributions 3,396,484           421,038            145,768               401,403               3,542,252            822,441               

General revenues:   

Property taxes 3,726,355           3,631,229         -                      -                      3,726,355            3,631,229            

State shared revenue 1,553,811           1,762,721         -                      -                      1,553,811            1,762,721            

Unrestricted grants and

contributions 505,290              545,943            -                      4,006                   505,290               549,949               

Other 77,351                153,566            -                      -                      77,351                 153,566               
 

Total revenues 11,041,229         8,375,750         5,643,150            5,877,418            16,684,379          14,253,168          

  

Expenses:   

Legislative 105,129              83,758              -                      -                      105,129               83,758                 

General government 2,057,487           2,243,486         -                      -                      2,057,487            2,243,486            

Public safety 4,503,054           4,348,348         -                      -                      4,503,054            4,348,348            

Recreation and cultural 918,737              846,039            -                      -                      918,737               846,039               

Infrastructure 1,214,437           797,885            -                      -                      1,214,437            797,885               

Interest on long-term debt 76,276                91,009              -                      -                      76,276                 91,009                 

Sewer -                      -                    6,114,406            5,700,904            6,114,406            5,700,904            

Community Development -                      -                    661,871               686,645               661,871               686,645               
 

Total expenses 8,875,120           8,410,525         6,776,277            6,387,549            15,651,397          14,798,074          
-                     -                     

 Increase (decrease) in net assets before 
transfers 2,166,109           (34,775)             (1,133,127)          (510,131)             1,032,982            (544,906)             

Transfers in (out) (133,145)             (235,286)           133,145               235,286               -                      -                      

Increase (decrease) in net assets 2,032,964           (270,061)           (999,982)             (274,845)             1,032,982            (544,906)             

Net assets -beginning of year 9,262,436           9,532,497         38,593,661          38,868,506          47,856,097          48,401,003          

Net assets - end of year 11,295,400$       9,262,436$       37,593,679$        38,593,661$        48,889,079$        47,856,097$        

 
 
Governmental activities. Governmental activities increased the Township’s net assets by $2,032,964 
during fiscal year 2009.  Key elements of this net increase are: 

 Capital  grants increased by $2,975,446. Most of this increase was a result of the Downtown 
Development Authority donating a newly built senior center and its land to the Parks and 
Recreation Fund. Other capital assets totaling about $539,000 were also donated to the General 
Fund and the Parks and Recreation Fund from the Downtown Development Authority. 

 Property tax increased by $95,000.  This is not expected to continue because the taxable value of 
property is expected to decline for the next several years. 

 State shared revenues declined by $209,000 continuing the trend of decreased support from the 
State of Michigan since 2001. 
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 Other revenues declined by $76,000 due to less interest revenue. 
 General government expenses decreased by $186,000 due to a reduction in the workforce and the 

timing of filling vacancies. 
 Public safety expenses increased by $155,000.  This was due to a scheduled annual increase in 

the police contract as well as an increase in depreciation expense from capital assets purchased in 
late 2008. 

 Infrastructure expenses were up by $417,000 due to a timing difference of the recognition of 
costs related to water improvement costs from earlier periods. 

 
Expenses and Program Revenues - Governmental Activities 
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Business-type activities. Business-type activities decreased the Township’s net assets by $999,982 
during fiscal year 2009.  Key elements of this decrease are: 
 
 Charges for services were up by $105,000.  Although sewer usage revenue was down about 

$50,000, revenues from the sewer service charge was up, netting an increase of $91,000 for these 
2 fees.  Additionally, rental registration fees increased by $45,000 due to an increase in the fee 
charged. 

 Interest earned from deposits was down by $130,000. 
 Sewer operating expenses were up about $385,000.  Engineering fees increased by $151,000 and 

$185,000 was spent to extend water to the sewer plant. 
 The capital contributions from developers for sanitary sewers was down by $256,000. 

 
Expenses and Program Revenues - Business-type Activities 

-

1,000,000

2,000,000

3,000,000

4,000,000

5,000,000

6,000,000

7,000,000

Sewer Community Development

Program Revenues Expense
 

 
 
 
Revenues by Source - Business-type Activities  
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Financial Analysis of the Government’s Funds 
 
As noted earlier, the Township uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with 
finance-related legal requirements. 
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Governmental funds. The focus of the Township’s governmental funds is to provide information on 
near-term inflows, outflows, and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing 
the Township’s financing requirements. In particular, unreserved fund balance may serve as a useful 
measure of a government’s net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year. 
 
As of the end of the current fiscal year, the Township’s governmental funds reported combined ending 
fund balances of $2,875,994, a decrease of $777,871 in comparison with the prior year. Over 95 percent 
of this total amount constitutes unreserved fund balance, which is available for spending at the 
government’s discretion. The remainder of fund balance is reserved to indicate that it is not available for 
new spending because it has already been committed for prepaid expenditures ($133,052). 
 
The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the Township. At the end of the current fiscal year, 
unreserved fund balance of the general fund was $1,949,051 while total fund balance was $2,067,500. As 
a measure of the general fund’s liquidity, it may be useful to compare both unreserved fund balance and 
total fund balance to total fund expenditures. Unreserved fund balance and total fund balance represents 
29 percent of total general fund expenditures, while total fund balance  represents 30 percent of total 
general fund expenditures. 
 
The fund balance in the Township’s General Fund decreased by $518,191 during the current fiscal year.   
Overall, expenditures including transfers out, decreased $151,000 but revenues and other financing 
sources decreased by $366,000.  Key factors for this decrease are: 

 State shared revenue declined by $209,000. 
 Interest revenue declined by $101,000. 
 Revenue from special assessments decreased by $58,000. 
 Police expenditures (contracted with Ingham County) were up by $95,000. 
 Actual revenues were 1% less than budgeted and expenditures were 3% less than budgeted. 

 
The fund balance in the Parks and Recreation fund was $13,295.  This is by design and accomplished 
through transfers from the General Fund.  The transfer required from the General Fund to maintain this 
amount was $692,348, an increase of $96,960. 
  
Proprietary funds. The Township’s proprietary funds provide the same type of information found in the 
government wide financial statements, but in more detail. 
 
Total net assets of the Sewer Fund at the end of the year amounted to $37,554,447; a decrease for the year 
of $1,020,836. Other factors concerning the finances of this fund have already been addressed in the 
discussion of the Township’s business-type activities. 
 
 
General Fund Budgetary Highlights 
 
During the year there was a net decrease of $488,399 (6%) in appropriations (including  transfers out) 
between the original and final amended budget.  Some of the decreases were: 

 $185,000 decrease in salaries and benefits due to layoffs, vacancies, and other cost saving 
measures; 

 $167,000 decrease in street and sidewalk improvements; 
 $57,000 reduction in capital outlay from delaying financial software upgrade and eliminating 

window treatments 
 $19,000 decrease in education and training 

 
Additionally, budgeted revenues (including other financing sources) decreased by $284,640 as follows: 

 $179,000 decrease in state revenue sharing 
 $50,000 increase in ambulance fees 
 $105,000 decrease in interest 
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Capital Asset and Debt Administration 
 
Capital assets. The Township’s investment in capital assets for its governmental and business type 
activities as of December 31, 2009, amounted to $62,113,323 (net of accumulated depreciation). This 
investment in capital assets includes land, land improvements, infrastructure, buildings and 
improvements, park and recreation facilities, machinery and equipment and construction in progress. The 
total increase in the Township’s investment in capital assets for the current fiscal year was 5.2 percent (a 
38.5 percent decrease for governmental activities and less than l percent increase for business-type 
activities). 
 
Major capital asset acquisitions during the fiscal year included the following: 

 
 The DDA completed construction of the Senior Center and deeded the land and building to the 

Parks and Recreation Fund for $2,512,098. 
 Added playground equipment in Valhalla Park for $34,973. 
 Completed phase I of the non-motorized trail for $243,923. 
 Refurbished a pumper for $198,228. 
 Upgraded the siren system for $110,192. 
 Completed the overflow parking lot at the Community Services Center for $236,474 
 Added $10,296,706 of digester improvements. 
 Completed the recycling center for $465,340. 
 Added sewer lines for $1,843,468. 

 
Delhi Charter Township's Capital Assets

(net of depreciation)

Governmental Activities Business Type Activities Total
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

Land 1,979,419$     1,585,364$   776,635$        776,635$        2,756,054$     2,361,999$     
Infrastructure systems 330,280          340,289        48,184,395     37,746,319     48,514,675     38,086,608     
Buildings and improvements 4,974,321       3,000,456     1,146,976       1,183,205       6,121,297       4,183,661       
Land improvements 1,633,011       1,233,830     454,999          -                  2,088,010       1,233,830       
Machinery and equipment 402,942          283,964        233,899          139,532          636,841          423,496          
Furniture and office equipment 60,973            73,837          40,958            54,125            101,931          127,962          
Computer equipment and programs 30,851            27,841          78,942            72,665            109,793          100,506          
Vehicles 916,493          955,579        259,104          333,751          1,175,597       1,289,330       
Construction in progress 58,508            -                550,617          11,228,581     609,125          11,228,581     

Total 10,386,798$    7,501,160$   51,726,525$    51,534,813$    62,113,323$    59,035,973$    

 
Additional information on the Township’s capital assets can be found in note 3-C on pages 38-40 of this 
report. 
 
 
Long-term debt. At the end of the current fiscal year, the Township had total debt outstanding of 
$20,604,999. Of this amount, $8,377,917 comprises debt backed by the full faith and credit of the 
government. 
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Delhi Charter Township's Outstanding Debt

Governmental Activities Business Type Activities Total
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

General obligation bonds 1,254,221$   1,732,511$   7,123,696$     7,557,490$     8,377,917$     9,290,001$     
Special assessment bonds 60,385          90,578          209,614          314,421          269,999          404,999          
Revenue bonds -                -                9,305,624       7,687,569       9,305,624       7,687,569       
Other long-term debt 491,459        536,943        2,160,000       2,800,000       2,651,459       3,336,943       

Total 1,806,065$   2,360,032$   18,798,934$    18,359,480$    20,604,999$    20,719,512$    

 
 

 
The Township’s total bonded debt increased by $570,971 (3 percent), up to $17,953,540 during 2009.  
Payments of $1,467,084 were made that reduced the bonded debt.  However, $2,038,055 additional 
revenue bonds were added as a result of the Township’s participation in a State Revolving Fund low 
interest loan program. 
 
The Township has an “AA-“ rating from Standard & Poor’s. This is one of the highest ratings and reflects 
a strong capacity to repay the debt. 
 
State statutes limit the amount of general obligation debt a governmental entity may issue to 10 percent of 
its total assessed valuation. The current debt limitation for the Township is $83,548,365, which is 
significantly in excess of the Township’s outstanding general obligation debt of $11,029,376. 
 
Additional information on the Township’s long-term debt can be found in note 3-F on pages 41-46 of this 
report. 
 
 
Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budgets and Rates 
 
The following factors were considered in preparing the Township’s budget for the 2010 fiscal year: 
 
 The emphasis on reducing costs while providing quality services to our citizens continued to be a 

major consideration in the 2010 budget development. 
 Contain health care costs by continuation of the Township’s high deductible health plan with the 

phasing down of employer contributions to employees’ health savings accounts. 
 Scale back capital purchases and infrastructure investments. 
 Consideration of millages for public safety and recreation. 
 Reduce the number of police officers in the contract with Ingham County. 
 Continue to assess staffing needs whenever a vacancy occurs. 

 
During the current fiscal year, unreserved fund balance in the General Fund decreased to $1,949,051. The 
Township has appropriated $927,450 of this amount for spending in the 2010 fiscal year budget. Such 
appropriation is intended to offset revenues that do not keep up with increasing costs to maintain the 
current service commitments to the public. 
 
 
Requests for Information 
 
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the Township’s finances for all those 
with an interest in the government’s finances. Questions concerning any of the information provided in 
this report or requests for additional financial information should be addressed to the Director of 
Accounting, 2074 Aurelius Road, Holt, Michigan 48842-6320. Phone (517) 268-3021. E-mail: 
marian.frane@delhitownship.com. 
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CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF DELHI
Statement of Net Assets

December 31, 2009

Primary Government
Governmental Business-type Component

Activities Activities Total Units

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 1,169,650$      1,361,170$     2,530,820$   758,247$      
Investments 1,217,664        2,071,401       3,289,065     474              
Receivables, net 4,568,822      1,523,623     6,092,445   3,303,606    
Prepaids and other assets 139,028         229,207        368,235      6,754           
Capital assets not being depreciated 2,037,927        1,327,251       3,365,178     4,901,310     
Capital assets being depreciated, net 8,348,871        50,399,274     58,748,145   6,391,745     

Total assets 17,481,962      56,911,926     74,393,888   15,362,136   

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 301,005           449,885          750,890        1,097,761     
Unearned revenue 3,777,633        69,428            3,847,061     2,667,779     
Long-term liabilities:

Due within one year 715,632           1,668,940       2,384,572     717,067        
Due in more than one year 1,392,292        17,129,994     18,522,286   11,269,417   

Total liabilities 6,186,562        19,318,247     25,504,809   15,752,024   

Net assets
Invested in capital assets, net of 
   related debt 8,580,733        32,927,591     41,508,324   (669,184)      
Restricted for:

Debt service 59,126             587,325          646,451        -                   
Replacement and special assessments -                      2,254,497       2,254,497     -                   

Unrestricted 2,655,541        1,824,266       4,479,807     279,296        

Total net assets 11,295,400$    37,593,679$   48,889,079$ (389,888)$    

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF DELHI
Statement of Activities

For the Year Ended December 31, 2009

Program Revenues

Operating Capital

Charges Grants and Grants and Net (Expense)

Functions/Programs Expenses for Services Contributions Contributions Revenue

Primary government
Governmental activities:

Legislative 105,129$         -$                     -$                     -$                     (105,129)$        
General government 2,057,487        902,289           37,541             253,416           (864,241)          
Public safety 4,503,054        648,678           12,646             -                       (3,841,730)       
Recreation and cultural 918,737           133,835           35,818             2,814,529        2,065,445        
Public works 1,214,437        -                       10,358             321,681           (882,398)          
Interest on long-term debt 76,276             -                       773                  6,858               (68,645)            

Total governmental activities 8,875,120        1,684,802        97,136             3,396,484        (3,696,698)       

Business-type activities:
Sewer 6,114,406        4,866,048        81,754             145,768           (1,020,836)       
Community development 661,871           322,203           227,377           -                       (112,291)          

Total business-type activities 6,776,277        5,188,251        309,131           145,768           (1,133,127)       

Total primary government 15,651,397$    6,873,053$      406,267$         3,542,252$      (4,829,825)$     

Component units
Brownfield redevelopment 210,025$         -$                     77$                  -$                     (209,948)$        
Downtown development 11,952,917      43,528             65,393             -                       (11,843,996)     

Total component units 12,162,942$    43,528$           65,470$           -$                     (12,053,944)$   

continued…
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CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF DELHI
Statement of Activities (Concluded)

For the Year Ended December 31, 2009

Primary Government
Governmental Business-type Component

Functions/Programs Activities Activities Total Units

Changes in net assets
Net (expense) revenue (3,696,698)$       (1,133,127)$       (4,829,825)$  (12,053,944)$  
General revenues:

Property taxes 3,726,355          -                         3,726,355     3,837,473       
Unrestricted State shared revenue 1,553,811          -                         1,553,811     -                      
Grants and contributions not restricted

to specific programs 505,290             -                         505,290        -                      
Unrestricted investment earnings 77,351               -                         77,351          -                      

Transfers - internal activities (133,145)            133,145             -                    -                      

Total general revenues and transfers 5,729,662          133,145             5,862,807     3,837,473       

Change in net assets 2,032,964          (999,982)            1,032,982     (8,216,471)      

Net assets, beginning of year 9,262,436          38,593,661        47,856,097   7,826,583       

Net assets (deficit), end of year 11,295,400$      37,593,679$      48,889,079$ (389,888)$       

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF DELHI
Balance Sheet

Governmental Funds
December 31, 2009

Nonmajor
General Funds Totals

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 472,398$           697,252$           1,169,650$        
Investments 1,115,751          101,913             1,217,664          
Taxes receivable 3,103,265          856,043             3,959,308          
Special assessments receivable 99,377               79,029               178,406             
Other receivables 237,947             22,505               260,452             
Due from component unit 170,656             -                         170,656             
Prepaids 118,449             14,603               133,052             

TOTAL ASSETS 5,317,843          1,771,345          7,089,188          

LIABILITIES AND
FUND BALANCES

Liabilities
Accounts payable 162,157             17,674               179,831             
Accrued liabilities 89,754               10,977               100,731             
Deferred revenue 2,998,432          934,200             3,932,632          

Total liabilities 3,250,343          962,851             4,213,194          

Fund balances
Reserved for prepaids 118,449             14,603               133,052             
Unreserved, designated for debt service
     Special revenue fund -                         408,697             408,697             
Unreserved:

Undesignated 1,949,051          -                         1,949,051          
Undesignated, reported in nonmajor:

Special revenue funds -                         326,068             326,068             
Debt service funds -                         59,126               59,126               

Total fund balances 2,067,500          808,494             2,875,994          

TOTAL LIABILITIES
AND FUND BALANCES 5,317,843$        1,771,345$        7,089,188$        

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF DELHI
Reconciliation of Fund Balances on the Balance Sheet

for Governmental Funds to Net Assets
of Governmental Activities on the Statement of Net Assets

December 31, 2009

Fund balances - total governmental funds 2,875,994$        

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources, and therefore not
reported in the funds.

Add: capital assets not being depreciated 2,037,927          
Add: capital assets being depreciated, net 8,348,871          

Because the focus of governmental funds is on short-term financing, some assets will not
be available to pay for current-period expenditures. Those assets (such as certain
receivables) are offset by deferred revenues in the governmental funds, and thus are not
included in fund balance.

Add: deferred long-term receivables 154,999            

Certain liabilities, such as bonds payable, are not due and payable in the current period,
and therefore are not reported in the funds.

Subtract: bonds payable and other long-term debt (1,806,065)        
Subtract: compensated absences (301,859)           
Subtract: accrued interest on long-term liabilities (20,443)             
Add: unamortized bond issue costs on refunding 5,976                

Net assets of governmental activities 11,295,400$      

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Amounts reported for governmental activities  in the statement of net assets are different 
because:
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CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF DELHI
Statement of Revenue, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2009

Nonmajor
General Funds Totals

Revenue
Taxes 2,866,901$        859,454$           3,726,355$    
Special assessments 321,681             23,800               345,481         
Intergovernmental 1,694,169          138,580             1,832,749      
Licenses and permits 16,526               -                         16,526           
Charges for services 1,493,521          151,185             1,644,706      
Interest 77,351               11,771               89,122           
Other 659,472             40,265               699,737         

Total revenue 7,129,621          1,225,055          8,354,676      

Expenditures
Current:

Legislative 105,129             -                         105,129         
General government 1,913,355          -                         1,913,355      
Public safety 3,929,418          262,438             4,191,856      
Infrastructure 539,168             3,594                 542,762         
Recreation and cultural -                         767,951             767,951         
Other 323,535             -                         323,535         

Debt service:
Principal 12,151               541,816             553,967         
Interest -                         73,415               73,415           

Capital outlay 11,065               520,207             531,272         

Total expenditures 6,833,821          2,169,421          9,003,242      

Revenue over (under) expenditures 295,800             (944,366)            (648,566)       

Other financing sources (uses)
Proceeds from sale of capital assets 140                    3,700                 3,840             
Transfers in -                         692,348             692,348         
Transfers out (814,131)            (11,362)              (825,493)       

Total other financing sources (uses) (813,991)            684,686             (129,305)       

Net change in fund balances (518,191)            (259,680)            (777,871)       

Fund balances, beginning of year 2,585,691          1,068,174          3,653,865      

Fund balances, end of year 2,067,500$        808,494$           2,875,994$    

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF DELHI
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenue, Expenditures

and Changes in Fund Balances
of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities

For the Year Ended December 31, 2009

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds (777,871)$          

  different because:
Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the
statement of activities, the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated
useful lives and reported as depreciation expense.

Add: capital outlay 1,254,432           
Subtract: depreciation expense (651,987)            
Add: contribution of capital assets 2,327,843           
Subtract: proceeds from sale of capital assets (3,840)                
Subtract: loss on disposal of capital assets (40,810)              

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial
resources are not reported as revenues in the funds, but rather are deferred to the
following fiscal year.

Subtract: change in deferred special assessments receivable (661,666)            

Bond proceeds provide current financial resources to governmental funds, but
issuing debt increases long-term liabilities in the statement of net assets.
Repayment of bond principal is an expenditure in the governmental funds, but the
repayment reduces long term-liabilities.

Add: principal payments on long-term liabilities 553,967              

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of
current financial resources and therefore are not reported as expenditures in
governmental funds.

Subtract: change in accrued interest on bonds and deferred loss on refunding (2,859)                
Add: decrease in the accrual of compensated absences 35,755                

Change in net assets of governmental activities 2,032,964$         

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Amounts reported for governmental activities  in the statement of activities are 
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CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF DELHI
Statement of Revenue, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance

Budget and Actual
General Fund

For the Year Ended December 31, 2009

Actual over
Original Final (under) Final
 Budget  Budget  Actual Budget

Revenue
Taxes 2,863,400$    2,868,200$    2,866,901$    (1,299)$         
Special assessments 323,590         321,200         321,681         481               
Intergovernmental 1,920,350      1,701,550      1,694,169      (7,381)           
Licenses and permits 16,800           16,300           16,526           226               
Charges for services 1,435,240      1,489,240      1,493,521      4,281            
Interest 180,000         75,150           77,351           2,201            
Other 720,970         704,070         659,472         (44,598)         

Total revenue 7,460,350      7,175,710      7,129,621      (46,089)         

Expenditures
Legislative:

Board of Trustees 106,200         105,700         105,129         (571)              

General government:
Manager 336,030         331,060         329,580         (1,480)           
Accounting 186,020         183,700         180,516         (3,184)           
Clerk 321,480         292,890         279,851         (13,039)         
Computer 201,170         177,770         165,961         (11,809)         
Treasurer 287,100         288,160         281,424         (6,736)           
Assessor 323,090         255,800         248,035         (7,765)           
Elections 38,710           29,860           29,088           (772)              
Building and grounds 354,330         348,420         328,832         (19,588)         
Cemetery 100,370         73,920           70,068           (3,852)           

         Total general government 2,148,300      1,981,580      1,913,355      (68,225)         

Public safety:
Police 2,437,580      2,434,580      2,433,029      (1,551)           
Fire 1,617,380      1,523,850      1,496,389      (27,461)         

         Total public safety 4,054,960      3,958,430      3,929,418      (29,012)         

Infrastructure 682,799         550,979         539,168         (11,811)         
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CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF DELHI
Budget and Actual (Concluded)

Budget and Actual
General Fund

For the Year Ended December 31, 2009

Actual over
Original Final (under) Final
 Budget  Budget  Actual Budget

Expenditures (concluded)

Other 371,360$       331,850$       323,535$       (8,315)$         

Debt service - principal 12,151           12,151           12,151           -                    

Capital outlay 92,500           15,020           11,065           (3,955)           

Total expenditures 7,468,270      6,955,710      6,833,821      (121,889)       

Revenue over (under) expenditures (7,920)           220,000         295,800         75,800          

Other financing sources (uses)
Proceeds from sale of capital assets -                    -                    140               140               
Transfers out (847,500)       (871,661)       (814,131)       57,530          

Total other financing (uses) (847,500)       (871,661)       (813,991)       57,670          

Net change in fund balances (855,420)       (651,661)       (518,191)       133,470        

Fund balance, beginning of year 2,585,691      2,585,691      2,585,691      -                    

Fund balance, end of year 1,730,271$    1,934,030$    2,067,500$    133,470$      

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF DELHI
Statement of Net Assets

Enterprise Funds
December 31, 2009

Nonmajor
Fund

Community
Sewer Development Total

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 170,823$           70,630$              241,453$             
Investments 349,386             -                         349,386               
Special assessments receivable 473,522             61,397                534,919               
Other receivables 988,704             -                         988,704               
Prepaids 79,969               10,307                90,276                 
Other assets 138,931             -                         138,931               

Total current assets 2,201,335          142,334              2,343,669            

Noncurrent assets:
   Restricted cash, cash equivalents and investments:
      Debt service cash and cash equivalents 587,325             -                         587,325               
      Replacement and special assessments cash and cash equivalents 532,392             -                         532,392               
      Replacement and special assessments investments 1,722,015          -                         1,722,015            

Capital assets not being depreciated 1,327,251          -                         1,327,251            
Capital assets being depreciated, net 50,360,042        39,232                50,399,274          

Total noncurrent assets 54,529,025        39,232                54,568,257          

Total assets 56,730,360        181,566              56,911,926          

Liabilities
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable 64,807               10,258                75,065                 
Accrued liabilities 139,596             62,648                202,244               
Interest payable 155,303             -                         155,303               
Deposits payable 17,273               -                         17,273                 
Unearned revenue -                         69,428                69,428                 
Current portion of long-term debt 1,668,940          -                         1,668,940            

Total current liabilities 2,045,919          142,334              2,188,253            

Long-term liabilities:
Due in more than one year 17,129,994        -                         17,129,994          

Total liabilities 19,175,913        142,334              19,318,247          

Net assets
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 32,888,359        39,232                32,927,591          
Restricted for:
   Replacement 2,001,346          -                         2,001,346            
   Debt service 587,325             -                         587,325               
   Special assessments 253,151             -                         253,151               
Unrestricted 1,824,266          -                         1,824,266            

Total net assets 37,554,447$      39,232$              37,593,679$        

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF DELHI
Statement of Revenue, Expenses
and Changes in Fund Net Assets

Enterprise Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2009

Nonmajor
Fund

Community
Sewer Development Total

Operating revenue
Charges for services 4,692,424$            148,969$           4,841,393$        
Permits and fees 126,633                 173,234             299,867             
Other operating revenue 36,991                   184,528             221,519             

Total operating revenue 4,856,048              506,731             5,362,779          

Operating expense
Cost of services 3,519,749              655,141             4,174,890          
Depreciation 1,940,952              6,730                 1,947,682          

Total operating expense 5,460,701              661,871             6,122,572          

Operating loss (604,653)                (155,140)            (759,793)            

Nonoperating revenue (expenses)
Interest and rentals 91,754                   234                    91,988               
Interest expense (653,705)                -                         (653,705)            
Gain on sale of capital  assets -                             42,615               42,615               

Total nonoperating revenue (expenses) (561,951)                42,849               (519,102)            

Net loss before capital  
           contributions and transfers (1,166,604)             (112,291)            (1,278,895)         

Capital contributions 145,768                 -                         145,768             

Transfers in -                             133,145             133,145             

Change in net assets (1,020,836)             20,854               (999,982)            

Net assets, beginning of year 38,575,283            18,378               38,593,661        

Net assets, end of year 37,554,447$          39,232$             37,593,679$      

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF DELHI
Statement of Cash Flows

Enterprise Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2009

Nonmajor
Fund

Community
Sewer Development Total

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash received from customers 4,816,270$        537,451$       5,353,721$    
Cash payments to suppliers for goods and services (2,956,986)        (338,193)       (3,295,179)    
Cash payments to employees for services (993,901)           (359,049)       (1,352,950)    

Net cash provided by (used in)  operating activities 865,383            (159,791)       705,592         

Cash flows from capital and related
financing activities

Purchase of capital assets (1,962,504)        (31,123)         (1,993,627)    
Proceeds from sale of capital assets -                        42,615           42,615           
Proceeds from bonds 2,038,055          -                    2,038,055      
Interest payments (653,705)           -                    (653,705)       
Principal payments (1,598,601)        -                    (1,598,601)    

Net cash provided by (used in) capital andp y ( ) p
     related financing activities (2,176,755)        11,492           (2,165,263)    

Cash flows from noncapital and related
financing activities

 Transfers in -                        133,145         133,145         

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from maturities of investments 1,732,916          -                    1,732,916      
Interest and rental earnings 91,754              234               91,988           

Net cash provided by investing activities 1,824,670          234               1,824,904      

Net increase (decrease) in cash and
cash equivalents 513,298            (14,920)         498,378         

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 777,242            85,550           862,792         

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 1,290,540$        70,630$         1,361,170$    

Statement of Net Assets classification of cash:
   Cash and cash equivalents 170,823$           70,630$         241,453$       
   Restricted cash and cash equivalents 1,119,717          -                    1,119,717      

1,290,540$        70,630$         1,361,170$    
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CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF DELHI
Statement of Cash Flows

 Enterprise Funds (Concluded)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2009

Non-Major
Fund

Community
Sewer Development Total

Cash flows from operating activities
Operating loss (604,653)$         (155,140)$     (759,793)$     
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to

net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation 1,940,952          6,730            1,947,682      
(Increase) decrease in:
   Special assessments receivable 65,334              (38,110)         27,224           

Other receivables (105,112)           32                 (105,080)       
Prepaid expenses (54,807)             (6,287)           (61,094)         
Other assets 32,244              -                    32,244           

Increase (decrease) in:
Accounts payable (395,514)           (26,374)         (421,888)       
Accrued expenses (16,218)             (9,440)           (25,658)         
Deposits payable 3,157                -                    3,157            
Unearned revenue -                        68,798           68,798           

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 865,383$           (159,791)$     705,592$       

Non-cash transactions:
Contributions of capital assets amounting to $145,767 were made during the year 2009 to record the cost of 
sewer systems accepted by the Township from various developers.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF DELHI
Statement of Fiduciary Net Assets

December 31, 2009

Private
Purpose Trust Agency

Cemetery Funds

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 76,507$         16,233,055$  
Accounts receivable -                     1,040             
Taxes receivable -                     15,649,451    

Total assets 76,507           31,883,546$  

Liabilities
Due to other governments -                     31,376,303$  
Undistributed receipts -                     507,243         

Total liabilities -                     31,883,546$  

Net assets
Held in trust for individuals 76,507$         

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF DELHI
Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Assets

Private Purpose Trust Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2009

Private
Purpose Trust

Cemetery

Additions
Interest 215$                

Deductions
Cemetery perpetual care 236                  

Change in net assets (21)                   

Net assets, beginning of year 76,528             

Net assets, end of year 76,507$            

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF DELHI
Combining Statement of Net Assets

Component Units
December 31, 2009

Brownfield Downtown
Redevelopment Development

Authority Authority Total

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 9,850$               748,397$           758,247$           
Investments -                         474                    474                    
Receivables, net 162,441             3,141,165          3,303,606          
Prepaid items and other assets -                         6,754                 6,754                 
Capital assets not being depreciated -                         4,901,310          4,901,310          
Capital assets being depreciated, net -                         6,391,745          6,391,745          

Total assets 172,291             15,189,845        15,362,136        

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses -                         1,094,261          1,094,261          
Undistributed receipts -                         3,500                 3,500                 
Unearned revenue 162,441             2,505,338          2,667,779          
Long-term liabilities:

Due within one year -                         717,067             717,067             
Due in more than one year -                         11,269,417        11,269,417        

Total liabilities 162,441             15,589,583        15,752,024        

Net assets 
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt -                         (669,184)            (669,184)            
Unrestricted 9,850                 269,446             279,296             

Total net assets (deficit) 9,850$               (399,738)$          (389,888)$          

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF DELHI
Combining Statement of Activities

Component Units
For the Year Ended December 31, 2009

Brownfield Downtown
Redevelopment Development

Authority Authority Total

Expenses
Brownfield redevelopment 210,025$           -$                       210,025$           
Downtown development -                         11,952,917        11,952,917        

Total expenses 210,025             11,952,917        12,162,942        

Program revenues
Charges for services -                         43,528               43,528               
Operating grants and contributions 77                      65,393               65,470               

Total program revenues 77                      108,921             108,998             

Net expense (209,948)            (11,843,996)       (12,053,944)       

General revenues
Property taxes 212,840             3,624,633          3,837,473          

Total general revenues 212,840             3,624,633          3,837,473          

Change in net assets 2,892                 (8,219,363)         (8,216,471)         

Net assets, beginning of year 6,958                 7,819,625          7,826,583          

Net assets (deficit), end of year 9,850$               (399,738)$          (389,888)$          

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The financial statements of the Charter Township of Delhi have been prepared in conformity with generally 
accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as applied to governmental units. The Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and 
financial reporting principles. The more significant of the Township’s accounting policies are described 
below. 
 
1-A.  Reporting Entity 
 
The accompanying financial statements present the government and its component units, entities for which 
the government is considered to be financially accountable. The discretely presented component units are 
reported in a separate column in the government-wide financial statements (see note below for description) to 
emphasize that they are legally separate from the government. 
 
Discretely Presented Component Units - The component units column in the government-wide financial 
statements include the financial data of the following component units. These units are reported in a separate 
column to emphasize they are legally separate from the Township. 
 
The Downtown Development Authority of the Charter Township of Delhi is organized pursuant to Charter 
Township of Delhi Ordinance No. 80 and Act 197 of the Public Acts of 1975 of the State  of Michigan, as 
amended. The primary purpose of the Authority is to provide for the ongoing maintenance, promotion, 
security and continued operation of the downtown district. A tax  increment financing district was established 
to finance these activities. The members of the Board of Directors of the Authority are appointed by the 
Township Board.  No separate audit report is issued for this Authority. 
 
The Delhi Township Brownfield Redevelopment Authority is organized pursuant to Section 13(1) of the State 
of Michigan’s Brownfield Redevelopment Financing Act (Public Act 381 of 1996, as amended by Public Act 
145 of 2000). The primary purpose of the Authority is to clean up environmentally challenged properties in 
the Township and prepare them for desirable and productive re-uses. Tax increment financing will be used to 
finance these activities. The members of the Board of Directors of the Authority are appointed by the 
Township Board.  No separate audit report is issued for this Authority. 
 
The Downtown Development Authority and the Brownfield Redevelopment Authority are considered 
component units of the Charter Township of Delhi because the Township appoints the Authorities’ Board 
members and has the ability to significantly influence operations of the Authorities. 
 
1-B.  Basis of Presentation 
 
Government-wide Financial Statements. The statements of net assets and activities display information about 
the primary government (the “Township”) and its component units. These statements include the financial 
activities of the overall government, except for fiduciary activities. Eliminations have been made to minimize 
the double-counting of internal activities. These statements distinguish between the Township’s 
governmental and business-type activities. Governmental activities generally are financed through taxes, 
intergovernmental revenues and other nonexchange transactions. Business-type activities are financed in 
whole or in part by fees charged to external parties. 
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The statement of activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program revenues for the 
different business-type activities of the Township and for each function of the Township’s governmental 
activities. Direct expenses are those that are specifically associated with a program or function and, therefore, 
are clearly identifiable to a particular function. Indirect expense allocations that have been made in the funds 
have been reversed for the statement of activities. Program revenues include (a) fees, fines and charges paid 
by the recipients of goods or services offered by the programs and (b) grants and contributions that are 
restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular program. Revenues that are not 
classified as program revenues, including all taxes, are presented as general revenues. 
 
As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide financial 
statements. Exceptions to this general rule are charges between the Township’s sewer function and various 
other functions of government. Elimination of these charges would distort the direct costs and program 
revenues reported for the various functions concerned. 
 
Fund Financial Statements. The fund financial statements provide information about the Township’s funds, 
including its fiduciary funds and blended component units. Separate statements for each fund category – 
governmental, proprietary and fiduciary – are presented. The emphasis of fund financial statements is on 
major governmental and enterprise funds, each displayed in a separate column. All remaining governmental 
and enterprise funds are aggregated and reported as nonmajor funds. 
 
The Township reports the following major governmental funds: 
 

General fund. This is the Township’s primary operating fund. It accounts for all financial resources of 
the general government, except those required to be accounted for in another fund. 

 
The Township reports the following major enterprise fund: 
 

Sewage enterprise fund (Sewer Disposal System). This fund accounts for the activities of the Township’s 
sewage disposal and sewage treatment systems that are financed primarily by user charges for those 
services. 

 
Additionally, the Township reports the following fund types: 
 

Special revenue funds. These funds account for revenue sources that are legally restricted to expenditures 
for specific purposes not including trusts or major capital projects. 
 
Debt service funds. These funds account for the resources accumulated and payments made for principal 
and interest on long-term general obligation debt of governmental funds. 
 
Enterprise fund.  These funds account for those operations that are financed and operated in a manner 
similar to private business or where the Township has decided that the determination of revenues earned, 
costs incurred and/or net income is necessary for management accountability. 
 
Private purpose trust fund. This fund accounts for contributions earmarked for perpetual care of graves 
of individuals. 
  
Agency funds. These funds account for assets held for other governments in an agency capacity.  
Included are the Trust and Agency fund, which accounts for assets held on behalf of other governments 
and the Current Tax fund which accounts for the collection and distribution of property tax receipts.  
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1-C.  Measurement Focus / Basis of Accounting 
 
Government-wide, Proprietary and Fiduciary Fund Financial Statements. The government-wide, proprietary 
and fiduciary fund financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and 
the accrual basis of accounting, except for agency funds, which do not have a measurement focus. Revenues 
are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at the time liabilities are incurred, regardless of when 
the related cash flows take place.  
 
Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating revenues 
and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection 
with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of the Township’s 
enterprise fund are charges to customers for sales and services. Operating expenses for the enterprise fund 
include the cost of sales and services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All 
revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses. 
 
Nonexchange transactions, in which the Township gives (or receives) value without directly receiving (or 
giving) equal value in exchange, include property taxes, grants, entitlements and donations. On an accrual 
basis, revenue from property taxes is recognized in the fiscal year for which the taxes are levied. Revenue 
from grants, entitlements and donations is recognized in the fiscal year in which all eligibility requirements 
have been satisfied. 
 
Governmental Fund Financial Statements. Governmental funds are reported using the current financial 
resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Under this method, revenues are 
recognized when measurable and available. The Township considers all revenues reported in the 
governmental funds to be available if they are collected within sixty days after year-end. Property taxes, 
franchise taxes, licenses and interest are considered to be susceptible to accrual.  
 
Expenditures are recorded when the related fund liability is incurred, except for principal and interest on 
general long-term debt, compensated absences, and claims and judgments, which are recognized as 
expenditures to the extent they have matured. General capital asset acquisitions are reported as expenditures 
in governmental funds. Proceeds of general long-term debt and acquisitions under capital leases, if any, are 
reported as other financing sources. 
 
Under the terms of grant agreements, the Township funds certain programs by a combination of specific 
cost-reimbursement grants, categorical block grants, and general revenues. Thus, when program expenses are 
incurred, there are both restricted and unrestricted net assets available to finance the program. It is the 
Township’s policy to first apply cost-reimbursement grant resources to such programs, followed by 
categorical block grants, and then by general revenues. 
 
All governmental and business-type activities and proprietary funds of the Township follow private-sector 
standards of accounting and financial reported issued prior to December 1, 1989, unless those standards 
conflict with guidance of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. Governments also have the option 
of following subsequent private-sector guidance for their business-type activities and enterprise funds, 
subject to this same limitation. The Township has elected not to follow subsequent private-sector guidance. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF DELHI 
 

Notes To Financial Statements 
 
 
 

-32- 

1-D. Assets, Liabilities and Equity 
 
Deposits and Investments 
 
The Township’s cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand, demand deposits and short-
term investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition. In addition, the 
statement of cash flows includes both restricted and unrestricted cash and cash equivalents. 
 
State statutes authorize the government to deposit in the accounts of federally insured banks, credit unions, 
and savings and loan associations, and to invest in obligations of the U.S. Treasury, certain commercial 
paper, repurchase agreements, bankers acceptances, and mutual funds composed of otherwise legal 
investments.  
 
Investments are stated at fair value. Short-term investments are reported at cost, which approximates fair 
value. Securities traded on a national or international exchange are valued at the last reported sales price at 
current exchange rates. Mortgages are valued on the basis of future principal and interest payments, and are 
discounted at prevailing interest rates for similar instruments. Investments that do not have established 
market values are reported at estimated fair value. Cash deposits are reported at cost. 
 
Restricted Assets 
 
Certain proceeds of enterprise fund bonds, as well as certain resources set aside for their repayment, are 
classified as restricted assets on the statement of net assets because their use is limited by applicable bond 
covenants, Michigan law, or township ordinance. Certain general fund assets have been designated for 
surplus drain funds. This amount is to be utilized to alleviate drainage problems within the Township. 
 
Receivables and Payables 
 
All trade and delinquent property tax receivables are shown net of an allowance for uncollectibles, as 
applicable. 
 
Activity between funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements outstanding at the end of 
the fiscal year are referred to as either interfund receivables/payables (i.e., the current portion of interfund 
loans) or advances to/from other funds (i.e., the non-current portion of interfund loans). All other outstanding 
balances between funds are reported as due to/from other funds. Any residual balances outstanding between 
the governmental and business-type activities are reported in the government-wide financial statements as 
internal balances. 
 
Prepaid Items 
 
Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as prepaid 
items in both government-wide and fund financial statements. 
 
Capital Assets 
 
Capital assets, which include property, plant, and equipment are reported in the applicable governmental or 
business-type columns in the government-wide financial statements and in the fund financial statements for 
proprietary funds. All capital assets are valued at historical cost or estimated historical cost if actual historical 
cost is not available. Donated assets are valued at fair market value on the date of donation. Repairs and 
maintenance that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend asset lives are not capitalized. 
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Interest is capitalized on proprietary fund assets that are constructed utilizing debt proceeds. The amount of 
interest to be capitalized is calculated by offsetting interest expense incurred from the date of the borrowing 
until completion of the project. 
 
Capital assets are defined by the Township as assets with an original cost of $1,500 or more. Depreciation 
has been calculated on each class of depreciable property using the straight-line method. Estimated useful 
lives are as follows: 

 
Assets  Years 

 
Sewage mains and infrastructure 40 
Building 40 
Building improvements 20 
Land improvements 15 
Machinery and equipment 5-10 
Computer equipment 3-10 
Furniture and fixtures 10 
Vehicles 5-7 

 
Compensated Absences 
 
It is the Township’s policy to permit employees to accumulate a limited amount of earned but unused sick 
and vacation leave, which will be paid to employees upon separation from the Township. All vacation pay is 
accrued when incurred in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements. A liability for 
these amounts is reported in governmental funds only if they have matured, for example, as a result of 
employee resignations and retirements. 

 
Long-term Obligations 
 
In the government-wide financial statements, and proprietary fund types in the fund financial statements, 
long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable governmental 
activities, business-type activities, or proprietary fund type statement of net assets. Bond premiums and 
discounts, as well as issuance costs, are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds using the effective 
interest method.  
 
In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and discounts, as well as 
bond issuance costs, during the current period. The face amount of debt issued is reported as other financing 
sources. Premiums received on debt issuances are reported as other financing sources while discounts on 
debt issuances are reported as other financing uses. Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the actual 
debt proceeds received, are reported as debt service expenditures. 

 
Fund Equity 
 
In the fund financial statements, governmental funds report reservations of fund balance for amounts that are 
not available for appropriation or are legally restricted by outside parties for a specific purpose. Fund balance 
designations represent tentative management plans that are subject to change. 
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NOTE 2 – STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE AND ACCOUNTABILITY 
 
2-A.  Budgetary Information 

 
Annual budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles for the 
general, special revenue and debt service funds. All annual appropriations lapse at year end, except for those 
approved by the Board of Trustees to carry forward. 
 
The Township follows these procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the financial 
statements: 
 

1. On or prior to September 1 of each year, the Township manager submits to the Board of 
Trustees a proposed operating budget for the fiscal year commencing the following 
January 1. The operating budget includes proposed expenditures and the means of 
financing them. 

 
2. A public hearing is conducted to obtain taxpayer comments. 
 
3. Prior to December 31, the budget is legally enacted through passage of a resolution. 

 
4. Any revisions of the budget must be approved by the Board of Trustees. Budget revisions 

made to the component unit’s (Downtown Development Authority) budget are approved by 
the Downtown Development Authority Board. If the component unit’s budget amendments 
have an impact on fund balance, the Township Board of Trustees also needs to approve the 
amendments. 

 
5. Formal budgetary integration is employed as a management control device during the year 

for the general fund, special revenue funds, debt service funds and proprietary funds. 
Similarly, the Township also adopts budgets, on a project basis, for all capital projects. 

 
6. Budgets for general, special revenue, debt service funds and proprietary funds are adopted 

on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles. Budgeted amounts are 
as originally adopted, or as amended by the Board of Trustees during the fiscal year. 
Individual amendments were not material in relation to the original appropriations which 
were amended. 

 
7. The budget is prepared by fund and function and activity and includes information on the 

past year, current year estimates and requested appropriations for the next fiscal year. 
Expenditures may not exceed budget at the function level. 

 
It is important to note that capital outlay is budgeted by department, and not in total. This may have an 
impact on variances as presented in the financial statements. 
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Encumbrances     
 
Encumbrances represent commitments related to unperformed contracts for goods or services. The Township 
does not utilize encumbrance accounting. 
  
2-B.  Excess of Expenditures Over Appropriations 

 
There were no reported excesses of expenditures over final budgeted amounts for the year ended 
December 31, 2009.  
 
 
NOTE 3 – DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS  
 
3-A.  Deposits and Investments  

 
Summary of Deposit and Investment Balances. Following is a reconciliation of deposit and investment 
balances as of December 31, 2009: 
 

  Primary Component 
 Government Units Total 

  
 Statement of Net Assets: 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,530,820 $ 758,247 $ 3,289,067 
Investments  3,289,065  474  3,289,539 

 
 Statement of Fiduciary Net Assets - 

Cash and cash equivalents  16,309,562  -  16,309,562 
  

Total  $ 22,129,447 $ 758,721 $ 22,888,168 
 

 
Deposits and Investments: 
 Bank deposits (checking accounts, savings accounts and CDs)   $ 19,654,001 
 Investments in securities, mutual funds and similar vehicles    3,232,817 
 Cash on hand      1,350  
 
Total       $ 22,888,168 
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The Township chooses to disclose its investments by specifically identifying each. At 
December 31, 2009, the Township had the following investments. 
  
Investment Maturity Fair Value Rating 
 
 MBIA Class Investment Pool n/a $ 103,395 n/a 
 MBS Money Market n/a  2,080 n/a 
 Ambassador Bank Money Market n/a  258,212 n/a 
 Irwin Union Bank Money Market n/a  172,678 n/a 
 Dart Bank Money Market n/a  1,708,925 n/a 
 MILAF Money Market n/a  166,673            S&P – AAAm 
 Citizens Bank Money Market n/a  125,621 n/a 
 Comerica Bank Money Market n/a  6,730 n/a 
 RMA Investment n/a  3,370 n/a 
 Oakland County GO Ltd Tax 4/1/10  100,277          Moodys – MIG1  
   Federal Home Loan Bank Note 2/25/14  101,438           Moodys - Aaa 
   Federal National Mtg. Assn. Note 12/30/14     99,651           Moodys - Aaa 
 Federal Home Loan Mtg. Note 2/15/13  116,222           Moodys - Aaa 
 Federal Home Loan Mtg. Note 11/15/12  158,011           Moodys - Aaa 
 Federal Home Loan Mtg. Note 11/13/14  106,362           Moodys - Aaa 
 GNMA Pass-thru Pool 7/20/31            3,172               n/a  
 
  $ 3,232,817 
 
Investment and deposit risk 
 
Interest Rate Risk.  State law limits the allowable investments and the maturities of some of 
the allowable investments as identified in the list of authorized investments above.  The 
Township’s investment policy limits investment maturities of commercial paper to 270 days as 
a means of managing its exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing interest rates.  
The maturity dates for each investment are identified above for investments held at year end.  
 
Credit Risk.  State law limits investments to specific government securities, certificates of 
deposits and bank accounts with qualified financial institutions, commercial paper with 
specific maximum maturities and ratings when purchased, bankers acceptances of specific 
financial institutions, qualified mutual funds and qualified external investment pools as 
identified in the list of authorized investments in the summary of significant accounting 
policies. The Township’s investment policy does not have specific limits in excess of state law 
on investment credit risk. State law limits the allowable investments and the maturity of some 
of the allowable investments as identified in the list of authorized investments on page 32. 
Credit ratings for investments held at year end are identified in the table above.  
 
Custodial Credit Risk – Deposits.  Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank 
failure, the Township’s deposits may not be returned.  State law does not require and the 
Township does not have a policy for deposit custodial credit risk.  As of year end, $16,780,067 
of the Township’s bank balance of $18,575,815 was exposed to custodial credit risk because it 
was uninsured and uncollateralized.  
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3-C.  Capital Assets 
 
Capital assets activity for the year ended December 31, 2009, was as follows: 
 
Primary government 
 

Balance Balance
December 31, December 31,

2008 Additions Deductions 2009

Governmental Activities

Land 1,585,364$       394,055$           -$                   1,979,419$       
Construction in progress -                        58,508               -                     58,508              

  Total capital assets not being depreciated 1,585,364         452,563             -                     2,037,927         

Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings and improvements 5,310,734         2,118,043          -                     7,428,777         
Land improvements 2,089,391         530,571             -                     2,619,962         
Machinery and equipment 878,224            253,294             109,749         1,021,769         
Furniture and office equipment 532,423            6,799                 19,856           519,366            
Flowage rights 400,340            -                         -                     400,340            
Computer equipment and programs 331,740            22,777               -                     354,517            
Vehicles 2,133,815         198,228             206,580         2,125,463         

Subtotal 11,676,667       3,129,712          336,185         14,470,194       

Accumulated depreciation:
Buildings and improvements 2,310,278         144,178             -                     2,454,456         
Land improvements 855,561            131,390             -                     986,951            
Machinery and equipment 594,260            89,666               65,099           618,827            
Furniture and office equipment 458,586            19,663               19,856           458,393            
Flowage rights 60,051              10,009               -                     70,060              
Computer equipment and programs 303,899            19,767               -                     323,666            
Vehicles 1,178,236         237,314             206,580         1,208,970         

Total accumulated depreciation 5,760,871         651,987             291,535         6,121,323         

Total capital assets being depreciated - net 5,915,796         2,477,725          44,650           8,348,871         

Governmental activities capital assets - net 7,501,160$      2,930,288$       44,650$         10,386,798$    
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Balance Balance
December 31, December 31,

2008 Additions Deductions 2009

Business-type Activities

Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land 776,635$           -                         -$                       776,635$           
Construction in progress 11,228,581        385,391             11,063,356        550,616             

Subtotal 12,005,216        385,391             11,063,356        1,327,251          

Capital assets being depreciated:
Sewage disposal plant and equipment 19,423,972        10,296,708        -                         29,720,680        
Sewer mains 40,178,588        1,843,467          -                         42,022,055        
Outfall lines 1,141,390          -                         -                         1,141,390          
Land improvements -                         465,340             -                         465,340             
Furniture and office equipment 193,687             -                         9,020                 184,667             
Computer equipment 327,585             71,208               1,969                 396,824             
Vehicles 956,628             8,400                 13,646               951,382             
Machinery and equipment 552,765             132,236             11,609               673,392             
Maintenance  facility 1,430,686          -                         -                         1,430,686          

Subtotal 64,205,301        12,817,359        36,244               76,986,416        

Accumulated depreciation:
Sewage disposal plant and equipment 9,507,086          693,270             -                         10,200,356        
Sewer mains 13,173,009        984,988             -                         14,157,997        
Outfall lines 317,536             23,837               -                         341,373             
Land improvements -                         10,341               -                         10,341               
Furniture and office equipment 139,562             13,166               9,020                 143,708             
Computer equipment 254,920             64,933               1,969                 317,884             
Vehicles 622,877             83,049               13,646               692,280             
Machinery and equipment 413,233             37,870               11,609               439,494             
Maintenance  facility 247,481             36,228               -                         283,709             

Total accumulated depreciation 24,675,704        1,947,682          36,244               26,587,142        

Total capital assets being depreciated - net 39,529,597        10,869,677        -                         50,399,274        

Business-type activities capital assets - net 51,534,813$     11,255,068$     11,063,356$      51,726,525$     
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Balance Balance
December 31, December 31,

2008 Additions Deductions 2009

Component Unit

Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land 5,283,619$        -$                       394,055$           4,889,564$        
Construction in progress 9,628,992          64,818               9,682,064          11,746               

Subtotal 14,912,611        64,818               10,076,119        4,901,310          

Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings 1,042,490          -                         -                         1,042,490          
Land improvements 3,925,003          2,405,511          -                         6,330,514          
Machinery and equipment 43,613               -                         -                         43,613               
Furniture and equipment 76,020               -                         -                         76,020               

Subtotal 5,087,126          2,405,511          -                         7,492,637          

Accumulated depreciation:
Buildings 111,204             26,067               -                         137,271             
Land improvements 644,609             255,117             -                         899,726             
Machinery and equipment 18,899               4,361                 -                         23,260               
Furniture and equipment 33,033               7,602                 -                         40,635               

Total accumulated depreciation 807,745             293,147             -                         1,100,892          

Total capital assets being depreciated - net 4,279,381          2,112,364          -                         6,391,745          

Component unit capital assets - net 19,191,992$      2,177,182$        10,076,119$      11,293,055$      

 
 
Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the primary government as follows: 
 

Governmental activities: 
 General government    $ 174,371 
 Public safety     320,833 
 Recreation and culture     146,774 
 Public Works          10,009 
 
Total     $ 651,987 

 
Business-type activities: 
 Sewer    $ 1,940,952 

 Community Development                 6,730 
 
       Total $  1,947,682
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3-D.  Payables 
 
Payables in the governmental activities are 60 percent vendors, 33 percent accrued payroll, and 7 
percent accrued interest. Business-type activities payables are 17 percent vendors, 3 percent deposits, 
45 percent accrued payroll, and 35 percent accrued interest. 
 
3-E.  Interfund Receivables, Payables and Transfers 
 
Receivables and Payables 
 
The Township often has interfund balances between its funds. These interfund balances result primarily 
from the time lag between the dates that (1) interfund goods and services are provided or reimbursable 
expenditures occur, (2) transactions are recorded in the accounting system, and (3) payments between 
funds are made.   
 
Transfers 
 
For the year then ended December 31 2009, interfund transfers consisted of the following: 
 

  Transfer In        Transfer Out 
  
 General fund $ - $ 814,131 
 Nonmajor governmental funds 692,348                     11,362
 Nonmajor enterprise fund           133,145                          - 
  

Total  $ 825,493 $ 825,493 
 
 
Transfers are used to: (1) move revenues from the fund that is required to collect them to the fund that 
is required or allowed to expend them; (2) move receipts restricted to or allowed for debt service from 
the funds collecting the receipts to the debt service fund as debt service payments become due; and (3) 
use unrestricted revenues collected in the general fund to finance various programs accounted for in 
other funds in accordance with budgetary authorizations. 
 
 

3-F.  Long-term Debt 
 
Governmental Activities 
 
General Obligation Bonds 

 
The Township issues general obligation bonds to provide funds for the acquisition and construction of 
major capital facilities. General obligation bonds have been issued for both general government and 
proprietary activities. These bonds, therefore, are reported in the proprietary fund if they are expected to 
be repaid from proprietary revenues. 
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General obligation bonds are direct obligations and pledge the full faith and credit of the government. 
These bonds generally are issued as 5 to 30 year serial bonds. 
 

$1,032,300, 2002 Water Improvement District, Serial Bonds, due in  
annual installments of $44,955 to $79,088 through 2022, interest at 3.1%  
to 5.00%. The Township issued bonds totaling $6,200,000 of which 16.65%  
($1,032,300) was for water improvement (general long-term debt) and  
83.35% ($5,167,700) was for sanitary sewer (enterprise fund)  $  779,221 
 
$2,365,000, 2004 General Obligation Community Service Center Refunding  
Bonds, due in one remaining installment of $475,000 due May 1,  
2010, interest at 2.6%  475,000 

 
  $ 1,254,221 

 
Special Assessment Bonds Payable 
 
The Township has issued special assessment bonds payable. The government pledges special 
assessments levied against taxpayers’ benefiting from a specific construction asset which are collectible 
over a period of years. In addition, the Township has pledged, in certain of the following, its full faith 
and credit within statutory limitations: 

 
$435,000, 1996 Pine Tree Road Improvement, Serial Bonds, due in  
annual installments of $30,193 through 2011, interest at 5.00%. The Township  
issued one bond issue for $1,945,000 of which 78% was for the sanitary sewer  
special assessment ($1,510,000) and 22% was for the Pine Tree Road  
Improvement ($435,000) $ 60,385 

 
Other Long-term Debt 

 
The government is assessed for drains at large by Ingham County. The assessment covers the 
Township’s share of installation and flowage rights for the drains. General assessments outstanding at 
year-end are as follows: 
      
   Fiscal year 

 Purpose  Amount                       Due  Interest Rate 
 

Governmental activities $ 157,958                     2022              Imputed at 4% 
 

 
The Township has entered into an installment purchase agreement to purchase property.  This 
obligation is summarized as follows: 
         Fiscal year 
    Purpose         Amount                        Due             Interest Rate 
 
  Governmental activities                 $    333,501                     2019               3.49% 
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Notes Payable: 
  
 $6,695,000, 1998 refunding note payable due to Ingham County calling for 
 total annual installments of $680,000 to $765,000 through 2012, interest at 
 5.13%    $  2,160,000 

   
Downtown Development Authority (Component Unit) 
 
The long-term debt balance of the Downtown Development Authority consists of the following: 
 

General Obligation Bonds 
 
$990,000, 2003 general obligation bonds to finance Downtown 
Development Authority costs of constructing a building, due in annual 
installments of $60,000 to $85,000  through 2018, interest at 2.90% to 4.50%  $ 650,000 
 
$2,050,000, 1997 general obligation serial and/or term bonds to finance 
Downtown Development Authority costs of constructing certain road, 
rail, water, sewer, and environmental improvements, due in annual 
installments of $75,000 to $375,000 starting in 2001 and going through 
2015, interest at 5.00% to 5.10%  1,375,000 
 
$2,325,000, 2001 general obligation bonds to finance Downtown 
Development Authority costs of constructing certain water and sewer 
improvements, due in annual installments of $160,000 to $220,000 
through 2016, interest at 4.0% to 4.63%  1,315,000 
 

 $8,980,000 2008 DDA general obligation bonds, due in annual installments 
 of $395.912 to $787,325 through 2024, interest at 3.0 %  to 4.125%.  The 
             Township issued one bond issue for $9,980,000, of which $1,000,000 was for     
 sanitary sewer and $8,980,000 was for downtown development (DDA  
 component unit).                                                                                                       8,602,084 
                   

                                                                                                                                $  11,942,084 
 
Notes Payable 
 
$200,000 Holt Shopping Center, due in monthly installments of  
to $2,534 through July 2010, interest at a rate of 9.0% $ 20,155 
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The annual requirements to amortize all long-term debt outstanding, exclusive of compensated 
absences as of December 31, 2009, are as follows: 
 

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Component Unit

Year ending 
December 31 Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest

2010 595,632$       63,512$         1,668,940$       581,420$       711,067$          481,341$       
2011 122,296         52,236           1,728,778         515,683         794,409            454,371         
2012 94,600           47,775           1,604,480         451,911         881,403            422,599         
2013 97,100           43,915           869,988            389,356         918,397            386,949         
2014 99,595           39,867           894,995            364,519         1,125,892         344,981         

2015-2019 535,613         133,002         4,931,604         1,397,836      3,945,371         1,142,630      
2020-2024 261,229         26,187           4,994,524         568,832         3,585,701         452,965         
2025-2028 -                     -                     2,105,624         83,159           -                       -                     

Total 1,806,065$    406,494$       18,798,934$     4,352,716$    11,962,239$     3,685,837$    

 
Advance Refunding 
 
In prior years, the Township defeased certain bonds by placing the proceeds of new bonds in 
irrevocable trusts for the purpose of generating resources for all future debt service payments on the 
refunded debt. As a result, the refunded bonds are considered to be defeased and the trust fund assets 
and related liabilities have been removed from the statement of net assets.  At December, 31, 2009, 
$2,160,000 of bonds outstanding is considered defeased. 
 
3-G.  Segment Information – Enterprise Funds 
 
The government issued bonds and notes payable to finance certain improvements to its sewer system. 
Because the Sewer Fund, which accounts entirely for the government’s sewer activities is a segment 
and is reported as a major fund in the fund financial statements, segment disclosures herein are not 
required. 
 
 
NOTE 4 – OTHER INFORMATION 

 
4-A.  Risk Management 
 
The Township is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of 
assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. During the year ended 
December 31, 2009, the government carried commercial insurance to cover all risks of losses. The 
Township has had no settled claims from these risks that exceeded its commercial coverage in any of 
the past three fiscal years. 
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4-B.  Property Taxes   
 
Property taxes become an enforceable lien on the property as of December 1. Taxes are levied on 
December 1 and are due in February of the following year. The Township bills and collects its own 
property taxes together with taxes for the County and other various school districts and the community 
college. All tax collections are accounted for in the tax collection fund, an agency fund. Township tax 
revenues are recognized in the fiscal year following the December 1 levy date. Property taxes levied for 
the ensuing year’s revenue are included in taxes receivable and deferred until collected. Property tax 
receivables related to delinquent taxes are also deferred unless collected within 60 days of year-end. 

 
The Township is permitted by the Charter Township Act of the State to levy taxes up to $5.00 per 
$1,000 of assessed valuation for general governmental services other than the payment of principal and 
interest on long-term debt and in unlimited amounts for the payment of principal and interest on long-
term debt. Additional taxes may be levied, upon approval of the voters, to a total levy of $10.00 per 
$1,000 of assessed valuation. The Township levied 4.3094 mills for general operations, .4846 mills for 
fire operations, and .5515 for Community Service Center debt requirements on the December 1, 2008, 
levy (recognized as revenue in 2009). 
 
The Downtown Development and Brownfield Redevelopment Authorities, which are component units, 
also receive property tax revenue from the December 1 tax levy. These tax revenues are recognized in 
the fiscal year following the December 1 levy date. 
 
4-C.  Contingent Liabilities 

 
Amounts received or receivable from grantor agencies are subject to audit and potential adjustment by 
federal and state grantor agencies. Any disallowed claims, including amounts already collected, may 
constitute a liability of the applicable funds. The amount, if any, of expenditures which may be 
disallowed by the grantor cannot be determined at this time although the government expects such 
amounts, if any, to be immaterial.  
 
4-D.  Postemployment Benefits  
 
In addition to benefits described in Notes 4-E and 4-F, the Township provides both health and life 
insurance benefits for retired employees meeting specific age and years of continued service 
requirements. The Township will provide 75% to 100% health insurance coverage comparable to that 
provided to active employees. The obligation of the Township will cease or decrease as comparable 
health insurance becomes available to the retiree through another employer or source (i.e., Medicare). 
The Township will provide 100% of life insurance.  
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Funding Policy and Annual OPEB Cost.  For this plan, contribution requirements of the 
plan members and the Township are established and may be amended by union contract 
for bargaining employees and for non-bargaining employees by the Township Board . The 
Authority’s annual other postemployment benefit (OPEB) cost (expense) for the plan is 
calculated based on the annual required contribution of the employer (ARC), an amount 
actuarially determined in accordance with the parameters of GASB Statement 45 
“Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for Postemployment Benefits Other 
Than Pensions.”   The ARC represents a level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, 
is projected to cover normal cost each year and to amortize any unfunded actuarial 
liabilities (or funding excess) over a period not to exceed thirty years. The Township’s 
annual OPEB cost for the current year and the related information for the plan are as 
follows: 
 
Contribution rates: 
    Authority – Actuarially determined 8.0%  

Plan members N/A 
 

Annual required contribution $ 349,093 
Interest on net OPEB obligation  - 
Adjustment to annual required contribution  - 

Annual OPEB cost  349,093 
Contributions made  349,093 

Increase in net OPEB obligation   - 
Net OPEB obligation – beginning of year  - 
 
Net OPEB obligation – end of year  $ - 
    
 
The Township’s annual OPEB cost, the percentage of annual OPEB cost contributed to the 
plan, and the net OPEB obligation for the year ended December 31, 2009, for the plan is as 
follows: 
   Percentage of 
 Year Annual OPEB Cost Net OPEB 
 Ended OPEB Cost Contributed Obligation 
 
 12/31/08 $334,060 100% $             -  
 12/31/09 $349,093 100% $             - 
     
Funded Status and Funding Progress. The funded status of the plan as of the most recent 
actuarial valuation of March 31, 2008, was as follows: 
 
Actuarial accrued liabilities (a) $ 3,627,845 
Actuarial value of plan assets (b)  - 
Unfunded actuarial accrued liability 
   (funding excess) (a) – (b) $ 3,627,845 
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Funded ratio (b) / (a)  0% 
Covered payroll (c) $ 4,019,000 
Unfunded actuarial accrued liability  
(funding excess) as a percentage 
of covered payroll ([(a) – (b)] / (c)) 
        90.3% 
 

 
Actuarial valuations involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions about the 
probability of events in the future. Amounts determined regarding the funded status of the plan and 
the annual required contributions of the employer are subject to continual revision as actual results 
are compared to past expectations and new estimates are made about the future. The required 
schedule of funding progress presented as required supplementary information provides multiyear 
trend information that shows whether the actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or decreasing 
over time relative to the actuarial liability for benefits. 
 
Actuarial Methods and Assumptions. Projections of benefits are based on the substantive plan 
(the plan as understood by the employer and plan members) and include the types of benefits in 
force at the valuation date and the pattern of sharing benefit costs between the Authority and the 
plan members to that point. Actuarial calculations reflect a long-term perspective and employ 
methods and assumptions that are designed to reduce short-term volatility in actuarial accrued 
liabilities and the actuarial value of assets. Significant methods and assumptions were as follows: 

 
Actuarial valuation date 3/31/08 
Actuarial cost method  Entry Age 
Amortization method  Level Percent 
  of Payroll 
  Open 
Remaining amortization period    30 years 
Asset valuation method  N/A 
 
Actuarial assumptions: 
Investment rate of return            8.0% 
Projected salary increases  N/A 
Healthcare inflation rate                                                          10% in 2009 

                                                                                                   Grading to 4.5% in 2017 
                                                                                                              

 
 
Contributions have been made to the Plan in 2008 and 2009 to an OPEB trust account of an 
outside financial institution.  The balance held in this trust as of December 31, 2009 is 
$532,747. 
 
 
 



 
CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF DELHI 

 
Notes To Financial Statements 
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4-E.  Pension Plan 
 

The Township provides pension benefits for all of its full-time employees through a defined 
contribution plan called the Defined Contribution Pension Plan for Governmental Employees.  The Plan 
is administered by an outside party.   In a defined contribution plan, benefits depend solely on amounts 
contributed to the plan plus investment earnings. Employees are eligible to participate upon completion 
of three months of service. The Township contributes an amount equal to 10% of the employee’s base 
annual compensation.  
 
The Township’s contribution for each employee (and interest attributable to these contributions) are 
fully vested after two years service. Township contributions and attributable interest forfeited by 
employees who leave employment prior to full vesting are used to reduce the Township’s current period 
contribution requirements.  
 
Plan provisions and contribution requirements are established and may be amended by the Township 
Board. 
 
The Township’s total payroll in 2009 was $4,140,775. Contributions were calculated using the base 
salary amount of $3,078,280. The Township made the required 10% contribution totaling $307,828. 
 
4-F.  Deferred Compensation Plans 

 
The Township offers two deferred compensation plans created in accordance with Internal Revenue 
Code Section 457; one designed for full-time employees, and the second available only to part-time 
employees. The plans permit employees to defer a portion of their salary until future years. For the plan 
covering part-time employees, the Township contributes 3% of gross pay to the plan on behalf of all 
participating employees. The Township made contributions to the plans totaling $4,676. The deferred 
compensation is only available to the employees upon retirement, termination, becoming permanently 
disabled, or death. 
 
4-G.  State Construction Code Disclosures 
 
The Community Development Department reviews all planning, zoning and construction activities, 
issues building permits, and provides code enforcement and rental housing inspections and 
registrations. This activity had been reported as a separated activity in the General Fund through 
December 31, 2004.  Effective January 1, 2005, this activity is reported in a separate Community 
Development Enterprise Fund. 

 
 
 

* * * * *  
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GASB 45 REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
Retiree Health Plan

SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS

Actuarial UAAL as a
Actuarial Actuarial Accrued Unfunded Percentage of
Valuation Value of Liability Funded AAL Covered of Covered

Date Assets (AAL) Ratio (UAAL) Payroll Payroll

3/31/08 -$                     3,627,845$      0.0% 3,627,845$     4,019,000$     90.3%

SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS

Annual
Required Actual Percentage Net OPEB

Year Ended Contribution Contribution Contributed Obligation (asset)

12/31/08 334,060$         334,060$        100.00% -$                     
12/31/09 349,093$         349,093$        100.00% -$                     
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CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF DELHI
Combining Balance Sheet

Nonmajor Governmental Funds
December 31, 2009

Special Debt
Revenue Service Totals

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 632,746$           64,506$             697,252$           
Investments 101,913             -                         101,913             
Accounts receivable 22,505               -                         22,505               
Taxes receivable 391,080             464,963             856,043             
Special assessments receivable 66,064               12,965               79,029               
Prepaids 14,603               -                         14,603               

TOTAL ASSETS 1,228,911$        542,434$           1,771,345$        

LIABILITIES AND
FUND BALANCES

Liabilities
Accounts payable 17,674$             -$                       17,674$             
Accrued liabilities 10,977             -                        10,977              
Deferred revenue 450,892             483,308             934,200             

Total liabilities 479,543             483,308             962,851             

Fund balances
Reserved for prepaids 14,603               -                         14,603               
Unreserved, designated for debt service 408,697             -                         408,697             
Unreserved, undesignated 326,068             59,126               385,194             

Total fund balances 749,368             59,126               808,494             

TOTAL LIABILITIES,
AND FUND BALANCES 1,228,911$        542,434$           1,771,345$        
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CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF DELHI
Combining Statement of Revenue, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Nonmajor Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2009

Special Debt
Revenue Service Totals

Revenue
Taxes 401,989$           457,465$          859,454$           
Special assessments 16,942               6,858                23,800               
Intergovernmental 138,580             -                        138,580             
Charges for services 151,185             -                        151,185             
Interest 10,998               773                   11,771               
Other 40,265               -                        40,265               

Total revenue 759,959             465,096            1,225,055          

Expenditures
Current:

Recreation and cultural 767,951             -                        767,951             
Public safety 262,438             -                        262,438             

Debt service:
Principal 76,623               465,193            541,816             
Interest 50,450               22,965              73,415               
Infrastructure 3,594                 -                        3,594                 

Capital outlay 520,207             -                        520,207             

Total expenditures 1,681,263          488,158            2,169,421          

Revenue under expenditures (921,304)            (23,062)             (944,366)            

Other financing sources (uses)
Proceeds from sale of capital assets 3,700                 -                        3,700                 
Transfers in 692,348             -                        692,348             
Transfers out (11,362)              -                        (11,362)              

Total other financing sources 684,686             -                        684,686             

Net changes in fund balances (236,618)            (23,062)             (259,680)            

Fund balances, beginning of year 985,986             82,188              1,068,174          

Fund balances, end of year 749,368$           59,126$            808,494$           
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CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF DELHI
Combining Balance Sheet

Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds
December 31, 2009

Fire Equipment
Water Parks and Replacement

Improvement Recreation Millage   Total

ASSETS

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 353,097$           3,064$              276,585$           632,746$       
Investments 101,913            -                        -                        101,913         
Accounts receivable -                        20,438              2,067                22,505           
Taxes receivable -                        -                        391,080            391,080         
Special assessments receivable 66,064              -                        -                        66,064           
Prepaids 500                   13,295              808                   14,603           

TOTAL ASSETS 521,574$           36,797$            670,540$           1,228,911$    

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES

Liabilities
Accounts payable -$                      12,525$            5,149$              17,674$         
Accrued liabilities -                        10,977              -                        10,977           
Deferred revenue 49,517              -                        401,375            450,892         

Total liabilities 49,517              23,502              406,524            479,543         

Fund balances
Reserved for prepaids 500                   13,295              808                   14,603           
Unreserved, designated for debt service 408,697            -                        -                        408,697         
Unreserved, undesignated 62,860              -                        263,208            326,068         

Total fund balances 472,057            13,295              264,016            749,368         

TOTAL LIABILITIES
AND FUND BALANCES 521,574$           36,797$            670,540$           1,228,911$    
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CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF DELHI
Combining Statement of Revenue, Expenditures, and

Changes in Fund Balances
Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds

For the Year Ended December 31, 2009

Fire Equipment
Water Parks and Replacement

Improvement Recreation Millage   Total
Revenue

Taxes -$                    -$                    401,989$        401,989$        
Special assessments 16,942            -                      -                      16,942            
Charges for services 17,350            133,835          -                      151,185          
Interest 2,002              -                      8,996              10,998            
Intergovernmental -                      21,788            116,792          138,580          
Other Revenue 18,189            18,426            3,650              40,265            

Total revenue 54,483            174,049          531,427          759,959          

Expenditures
Current:

Recreation and cultural -                      767,951          -                      767,951          
Public safety -                      -                      262,438          262,438          

Debt service:
Principal 43,290            33,333            -                      76,623            
Interest 38,235            12,215            -                      50,450            

Infrastructure 3,594              -                      -                      3,594              
Capital outlay -                      50,174            470,033          520,207          

Total expenditures 85,119            863,673          732,471          1,681,263       

Revenue under expenditures (30,636)           (689,624)         (201,044)         (921,304)         

Other financing sources (uses)
Proceeds from sale of capital assets -                      -                      3,700              3,700              
Transfers in -                      692,348          -                      692,348          
Transfers out -                      -                      (11,362)           (11,362)           

Total other financing sources (uses) -                      692,348          (7,662)             684,686          

Net changes in fund balances (30,636)           2,724              (208,706)         (236,618)         

Fund balances, beginning of year 502,693          10,571            472,722          985,986          

Fund balances, end of year 472,057$        13,295$          264,016$        749,368$        
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CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF DELHI
Schedule of Revenue, Expenditures, and

Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds

For the Year Ended December 31, 2009

Water Improvement
Actual over

Final (under) Final
Budget Actual Budget

Revenue
Taxes -$                       -$                       -$                       
Special assessments 16,940               16,942               2                        
Charges for services 15,500               17,350               1,850                 
Interest 2,000                 2,002                 2                        
Intergovernmental -                         -                         -                         
Other revenue 20,000               18,189               (1,811)                

Total revenue 54,440               54,483               43                      

Expenditures
Current:

Recreation and cultural -                         -                         -                         
Public safety -                         -                         -                         

Debt service:
Principal 43,300               43,290               (10)                     
Interest expense 38,300               38,235               (65)                     

Infrastructure 3,750                 3,594                 (156)                   
Capital outlay -                         -                         -                         

Total expenditures 85,350               85,119               (231)                   

Revenue over (under) expenditures (30,910)              (30,636)              274                    

Other financing sources (uses)
Proceeds from sale of capital assets -                         -                         -                         
Transfers in -                         -                         -                         
Transfers out -                         -                         -                         

Total other financing sources (uses) -                         -                         -                         

Net changes in fund balances (30,910)              (30,636)              274                    

Fund balances, beginning of year 502,693             502,693             -                         

Fund balances, end of year 471,783$           472,057$           274$                  
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Parks and Recreation Fire Equipment Replacement Millage
Actual over Actual over

Final (under) Final Final (under) Final
Budget Actual Budget Budget Actual Budget

-$                   -$                   -$                   401,800$       401,989$       189$              
-                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

133,450         133,835         385                -                     -                     -                     
-                     -                     -                     8,000             8,996             996                

17,360           21,788           4,428             116,790         116,792         2                    
17,320           18,426           1,106             3,650             3,650             -                     

168,130         174,049         5,919             530,240         531,427         1,187             

776,910         767,951         (8,959)            -                     -                     -                     
-                     -                     -                     279,410         262,438         (16,972)          

33,340           33,333           (7)                   -                     -                     -                     
12,220           12,215           (5)                   -                     -                     -                     

-                     -                     -                     
50,180           50,174           (6)                   477,500         470,033         (7,467)            

872,650         863,673         (8,977)            756,910         732,471         (24,439)          

(704,520)        (689,624)        14,896           (226,670)        (201,044)        25,626           

-                     -                     -                     3,600             3,700             100                
704,520         692,348         (12,172)          -                     -                     -                     

-                     -                     -                     -                     (11,362)          (11,362)          

704,520         692,348         (12,172)          3,600             (7,662)            (11,262)          

-                     2,724             2,724             (223,070)        (208,706)        14,364           

10,571           10,571           -                     472,722         472,722         -                     

10,571$         13,295$         2,724$           249,652$       264,016$       14,364$         
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CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF DELHI
Combining Balance Sheet

Nonmajor Debt Service Funds
December 31, 2009

Community
Service Pinetree
Center Road Total

ASSETS

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 39,153$         25,353$         64,506$         
Taxes receivable 464,963         -                     464,963         
Special assessments receivable -                     12,965           12,965           

TOTAL ASSETS 504,116$       38,318$         542,434$       

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES

Liabilities
Deferred revenue 477,202$       6,106$           483,308$       

Fund balances
Unreserved, undesignated 26,914           32,212           59,126           

TOTAL LIABILITIES
AND FUND BALANCES 504,116$       38,318$         542,434$       
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CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF DELHI
Combining Statement of Revenue, Expenditures

and Changes in Fund Balances
Nonmajor Debt Service Funds

For the Year Ended December 31, 2009

Community
Service Pinetree
Center Road Total

Revenue
Taxes 457,465$       -$                   457,465$       
Special assessments -                     6,858             6,858             
Interest 634                139                773                

Total revenue 458,099         6,997             465,096         

Expenditures
Debt service:

Principal 435,000         30,193           465,193         
Interest and fiscal charges 18,502           4,463             22,965           

Total expenditures 453,502         34,656           488,158         

Net changes in fund balances 4,597             (27,659)          (23,062)          

Fund balances, beginning of year 22,317           59,871           82,188           

Fund balances, end of year 26,914$         32,212$         59,126$         
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CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF DELHI
Schedule of Revenue, Expenditures, and

Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
Nonmajor Debt Service Funds

For the Year Ended December 31, 2009

Debt Service - Community Service Center
Actual over

Final (under) Final
Budget Actual Budget

Revenue
Taxes 457,820$           457,465$           (355)$                
Special assessments -                         -                         -                         
Interest 620                    634                    14                      

Total revenue 458,440             458,099             (341)                  

Expenditures
Debt service:

Principal 435,000             435,000             -                         
Interest expense 18,510               18,502               (8)                      

Total expenditures 453,510             453,502             (8)                      

Net changes in fund balances 4,930                 4,597                 (333)                  

Fund balances, beginning of year 22,317               22,317               -                         

Fund balances, end of year 27,247$             26,914$             (333)$                
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Debt Service - Pinetree Road
Actual over

Final (under) Final
Budget Actual Budget

-$                       -$                       -$                       
6,850                 6,858                 8                        

150                    139                    (11)                    

7,000                 6,997                 (3)                      

-                         
30,200               30,193               (7)                      

4,550                 4,463                 (87)                    

34,750               34,656               (94)                    

(27,750)             (27,659)             91                      

59,871               59,871               -                         

32,121$             32,212$             91$                    
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CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF DELHI
Combining Statement of Fiduciary Assets and Liabilities

Agency Funds
December 31, 2009

Trust and Current
Agency Tax   Total

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 113,108$           16,119,947$      16,233,055$      
Accounts receivable 1,040                 -                         1,040                 
Taxes receivable 393,095             15,256,356        15,649,451        

Total assets 507,243$           31,376,303$      31,883,546$      

Liabilities
Due to other governments -                         31,376,303        31,376,303        
Undistributed receipts 507,243             -                         507,243             

Total liabilities 507,243$           31,376,303$      31,883,546$      
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Balance Balance
January 1, December 31,

2008 Additions Deductions 2009
Trust and Agency

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 386,747$      2,391,257$   2,664,896$   113,108$       
Accounts receivable -                    1,040            -                    1,040             
Taxes receivable 351,178        161,807        119,890        393,095         

737,925$      2,554,104$   2,784,786$   507,243$       

Liabilities
Undistributed receipts 737,925$      2,620,756$   2,851,438$   507,243$       

Current Tax
Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 16,068,259$ 40,869,064$ 40,817,376$ 16,119,947$  
Taxes receivable 15,833,408   42,438,096   43,015,148   15,256,356    

31,901,667$ 83,307,160$ 83,832,524$ 31,376,303$  

Liabilities
Due to other governments 31,901,667$ 47,501,742$ 48,027,106$ 31,376,303$  

Totals
Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 16,455,006$ 43,260,321$ 43,482,272$ 16,233,055$  
         Accounts recievable -                    1,040            -                    1,040             

Taxes receivable 16,184,586   42,599,903   43,135,038   15,649,451    

32,639,592$ 85,861,264$ 86,617,310$ 31,883,546$  

Liabilities
Undistributed receipts 737,925$      2,620,756$   2,851,438$   507,243$       
Due to other governments 31,901,667   47,501,742   48,027,106   31,376,303    

32,639,592$ 50,122,498$ 50,878,544$ 31,883,546$  

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF DELHI
All Agency Funds

Combining Statement of Changes in Assets and Liabilities
For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2009
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CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF DELHI
Statement of Net Assets / Governmental Funds Balance Sheet

Brownfield Redevelopment Authority Component Unit
December 31, 2009

Special Statement
Revenue of Net

Fund Adjustments Assets

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 9,850$               -$                       9,850$               
Taxes receivable 162,441             -                         162,441             

Total assets 172,291$           -                         172,291             

Liabilities  
Deferred/unearned revenue 162,441$           -$                       162,441$           

Fund balances   
Unreserved, undesignated 9,850                 (9,850)                -                         

 
Total liabilities and fund balances 172,291$           

Net assets
Unrestricted 9,850                 9,850                 

Total net assets 9,850$               9,850$               

-64- 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF DELHI
Statement of Activities / Governmental Funds Revenue,

Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances
Brownfield Redevelopment Authority Component Unit

For the Year Ended December 31, 2009

Special
Revenue Statement

Fund Adjustments of Activities

Revenue
Property taxes 212,840$           -$                       212,840$           
Interest 77                      -                         77                      

Total revenue 212,917             -                         212,917             
 

Expenditures/Expenses  
General government 210,025             -                         210,025             

Total expenditures/expenses 210,025             -                         210,025             
 

Change in fund balances / net assets 2,892                 -                         2,892                 

Fund balances / net assets,
beginning of year 6,958                 -                         6,958                 

 
Fund balances / net assets,

end of year 9,850$               -$                       9,850$               
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CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF DELHI
Statement of Net Assets / Governmental Funds Balance Sheet

Downtown Development Authority Component Unit
December 31, 2009

Governmental

Downtown Project 9 College 2008
Development Infrastructure Water/Sewer Bond Debt

Authority Debt Service Debt Service Retirement

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 748,259$           -$                       138$                  -$                       
Investments 474                    -                         -                         -                         
Taxes receivable 3,140,039          -                         -                         -                         
Other receivables 1,126                 -                         -                         -                         
Prepaid items 6,754                 -                         -                         -                         
Capital assets not being depreciated -                         -                         -                         -                         
Capital assets being depreciated, net -                         -                         -                         -                         

Total assets 3,896,652$        -$                       138$                  -$                       

Liabilities
Accounts payable 132,044$           -$                       138$                  -$                       
Accrued liabilities 6,898                 -                         -                         -                         
Interest payable -                         -                         -                         -                         
Due to other governments 708,389             -                         -                         -                         
Due to primary government 170,656             -                         -                         -                         
Deferred revenue 2,505,338          -                         -                         -                         
Undistributed receipts 3,500                 -                         -                         -                         
Long-term liabilities:

Due within one year -                         -                         -                         -                         
Due in more than one year -                         -                         -                         -                         

Total liabilities 3,526,825          -                         138                    -                         

Fund balances
Reserved for prepaid items 6,754                 -                         -                         -                         
Unreserved, undesignated 363,073             -                         -                         -                         

Total fund balances 369,827             -                         -                         -                         

Total liabilities and fund balances 3,896,652$        -$                       138$                  -$                       

Net assets
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt (deficit)
Unrestricted

Total net assets (deficit)
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Statement
of Net

Total Adjustments Assets

748,397$           -$                       748,397$           
474                    -                         474                    

3,140,039          -                         3,140,039          
1,126                 -                         1,126                 
6,754                 -                         6,754                 

-                         4,901,310          4,901,310          
-                         6,391,745          6,391,745          

3,896,790$        11,293,055        15,189,845        

132,182$           -                         132,182             
6,898                 -                         6,898                 

-                         76,136               76,136               
708,389             -                         708,389             
170,656             -                         170,656             

2,505,338          -                         2,505,338          
3,500                 -                         3,500                 

-                         717,067             717,067             
-                         11,269,417        11,269,417        

3,526,963          12,062,620        15,589,583        

6,754                 (6,754)                -                         
363,073             (363,073)            -                         

369,827             (369,827)            -                         

3,896,790$        

(669,184)            (669,184)            
269,446             269,446             

(399,738)$          (399,738)$          
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CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF DELHI
Statement of Activities / Governmental Funds Revenue,

Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances
Downtown Development Authority Component Unit

For the Year Ended December 31, 2009

Governmental
Downtown Project 9 College 2008

Development Infrastructure Water/Sewer Bond Debt
Authority Debt Service Debt Service Retirement

Revenues
Property taxes 3,624,633$        -$                       -$                       -$                       
Charges for services 43,528               -                         -                         -                         

Interest and rentals 65,393               -                         -                         -                         

Total program revenues 3,733,554          -                         -                         -                         

Expenditures/expenses
General government 1,576,478          -                         -                         -                         
Public works -                         -                         -                         -                         
Debt service:

Principal 87,243               75,000               155,000             377,916             
Interest 31,145               71,675               61,335               343,906             

Capital outlay 1,964,396          -                         -                         -                         

Total expenditures/ expenses 3,659,262          146,675             216,335             721,822             

Revenue over (under) expenditures 74,292               (146,675)            (216,335)            (721,822)            

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in -                         146,675             216,335             721,822             
Transfers out (1,084,832)         -                         -                         -                         

Total other financing sources (uses) (1,084,832)         146,675             216,335             721,822             

Change in fund balances/net assets (1,010,540)         -                         -                         -                         

Fund balances / net assets,
beginning of year 1,380,367          -                         -                         -                         

Fund balances / net assets (deficit),
end of year 369,827$           -$                       -$                       -$                       
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Statement
Total Adjustments of Activities

3,624,633$        -$                       3,624,633$        
43,528               -                         43,528               

65,393               -                         65,393               

3,733,554          -                         3,733,554          

1,576,478          4,528,935          6,105,413          
-                         5,342,765          5,342,765          

695,159             (695,159)            -                         
508,061             (3,322)                504,739             

1,964,396          (1,964,396)         -                         

4,744,094          7,208,823          11,952,917        

(1,010,540)         (7,208,823)         (8,219,363)         

1,084,832          (1,084,832)         -                         
(1,084,832)         1,084,832          -                         

-                         -                         -                         

(1,010,540)         (7,208,823)         (8,219,363)         

1,380,367          6,439,258          7,819,625          

369,827$           (769,565)$          (399,738)$          
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CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF DELHI 
Description of Statistical Section 

 
 
This part of Delhi Township’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report presents detailed information as 
a context for understanding what the information in the financial statements, note disclosures, and 
required supplementary information says about the Township’s overall financial health. 

 
The statistical section is organized into the following main categories: 
 
Financial Trends 

These schedules contain trend information to help the reader understand how the Township’s 
financial performance and well-being have changed over time. 

 
Revenue Capacity 

These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the Township’s most significant local 
revenue source, the property tax. 

 
Debt Capacity 

These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the affordability of the Township’s 
current levels of outstanding debt, and the Township’s ability to issue additional debt in the future. 

 
Demographic and Economic Information 

These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to help the reader understand the 
environment within which the Township’s financial activities take place. 

 
Operating Information 

These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the reader understand how the 
information in the Township’s financial report relates to the services the Township provides. 

 
 
 
 
Sources:  Unless otherwise noted, the information in these schedules is derived from the Comprehensive Annual Financial 
Report for the relevant year.  The Township implemented GASB 34 in 2003.  Schedules presenting government-wide 
information include information beginning in that year. 
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Schedule 1
Unaudited

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

Governmental activities
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 4,097,858$         2,747,773$         2,904,787$         4,180,266$   4,298,842$   5,141,128$   8,580,733$         
Restricted 934,921             1,340,368          1,676,748          1,586,782     1,845,176     82,188          59,126                
Unrestricted 4,626,633          4,428,042          4,136,777          3,404,342     3,388,481     4,039,122     2,655,541           

Total governmental activities net assets 9,659,412$        8,516,183$        8,718,312$        9,171,390$  9,532,499$  9,262,438$  11,295,400$      

Business-type activities
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 22,554,025$       27,311,338$       30,568,426$       30,873,207$ 32,052,918$ 33,175,333$ 32,927,591$       
Restricted 2,341,490          3,440,595          3,275,154          3,244,209     3,439,345     2,618,428     2,841,822           
Unrestricted 8,498,052          4,750,275          3,865,016          4,322,440     3,376,243     2,799,900     1,824,266           

Total business-type activities net assets 33,393,567$      35,502,208$      37,708,596$      38,439,856 38,868,506 38,593,661 37,593,679       

Primary government
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 26,651,883$       30,059,111$       33,473,213$       35,053,473$ 36,351,760$ 38,316,461$ 41,508,324$       
Restricted 3,276,411          4,780,963          4,951,902          4,830,991     5,284,521     2,700,616     2,900,948           
Unrestricted 13,124,685         9,178,317          8,001,793          7,726,782     6,764,724     6,839,022     4,479,807           

Total primary government net assets 43,052,979$      44,018,391$      46,426,908$      47,611,246$ 48,401,005$ 47,856,099$ 48,889,079$      

GASB 34 was adopted in 2003.  Data for this schedule is unavailable in years preceding 2003.

(accrual basis of accounting)
Last Seven Fiscal Years

Fiscal Year Ended

Delhi Charter Township
Net Assets By Component
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Schedule 2
Unaudited

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

Expenses
Governmental activities:

Legislative -$                 53,147$          52,334$              52,332$          61,598$            83,758$            105,129$        
General governmental 2,348,086        1,975,126       1,834,790           1,932,514       2,248,507         2,243,486         2,057,487       
Public Safety 3,796,061        3,743,943       3,629,755           3,890,919       4,083,262         4,348,348         4,503,054       
Public Works 905,791           -                 -                      -                 467,234            797,885            1,214,437       
Engineering -                   151,759          70,538                -                 -                    -                    -                  
Community development -                   341,779          -                      -                 -                    -                    -                  
Recreation & cultural 614,243           670,705          741,668              770,980          823,026            846,039            918,737          
Infrastructure -                   415,552          350,107              488,254          -                    -                    -                  
Other governmental activities -                   218,691          209,611              237,858          16,410              -                    -                  
Interest on long-term debt 219,529           171,866          139,856              115,218          103,955            91,009              76,276            

Total governmental activities 7,883,710        7,742,568       7,028,659           7,488,075       7,803,992         8,410,525         8,875,120       

Business-type activities:
Sewer 4,444,272        5,124,559       5,304,487           5,423,789       5,493,927         5,700,904         6,114,406       
Community Development -                   -                 545,424              599,503          698,192            686,645            661,871          

Total business-type activities 4,444,272        5,124,559       5,849,911           6,023,292       6,192,119         6,387,549         6,776,277       
Total primary government expenses 12,327,982$    12,867,127$   12,878,570$       13,511,367$   13,996,111$     14,798,074$     15,651,397$    

Program revenues
Charges for services:

General government 377,398           596,127          617,892              711,788          813,504            892,589            902,289          
Public safety 580,478           945,328          504,341              546,463          590,840            677,948            648,678          
Public works 635,989           -                 -                      -                 -                    -                    -                  
Community development -                   29,880            -                      -                 -                    -                    -                  
Recreation and cultural 109,214           108,695          127,318              115,240          152,570            134,870            133,835          

Operating grants and contributions 59,833             506,673          459,807              608,514          217,929            155,846            97,136            
Capital grants and contributions -                   306,076          (3,396)                 114,693          258,803            421,038            3,396,484       

Total governmental activities program revenues 1,762,912        2,492,779       1,705,962           2,096,698       2,033,646         2,282,291         5,178,422       
Continued

Fiscal Year Ended

Delhi Charter Township
Changes in Net Assets

Last Seven Fiscal Years
(Accrual Basis of Accounting)
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Schedule 2                   Concluded

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
Business-type activities:

Charges for services:
Sewer 5,335,388        5,401,343       5,678,173           5,404,117       5,010,784         4,802,468         4,866,048       
Community development -                   -                 601,664              460,926          412,815            280,151            322,203          

Operating grants and contributions -                   161,079          250,731              388,458          493,867            389,390            309,131          
Capital grants and contributions 253,957           901,587          1,550,284           253,243          322,539            401,403            145,768          

Total business-type activities program revenues 5,589,345        6,464,009       8,080,852           6,506,744       6,240,005         5,873,412         5,643,150       
Total primary government program revenues 7,352,257$      8,956,788$     9,786,814$         8,603,442$     8,273,651$       8,155,703$       10,821,572$    

Net (Expense)/Revenue
Governmental activities (6,120,798)       (5,249,789)      (5,322,697)          (5,391,377)      (5,770,346)        (6,128,234)        (3,696,698)      
Business-type activities 1,145,073        1,339,450       2,230,941           483,452          47,886              (514,137)           (1,133,127)      

Total primary government net expense (4,975,725)$     (3,910,339)$    (3,091,756)$        (4,907,925)$    (5,722,460)$      (6,642,371)$      (4,829,825)$    

General Revenues and Other Changes in Net Assets
Governmental activities:

Property taxes 3,034,627        2,837,256       3,083,557           3,325,504       3,482,728         3,631,229         3,726,355       
State shared revenues 1,956,061        1,846,592       1,845,018           1,798,179       1,765,856         1,762,721         1,553,811       
Grants and contributions not restricted to specific programs 546,427           564,271          313,785              311,693          536,536            545,943            505,290          
Unrestricted investment earnings 100,474           114,606          147,015              273,927          306,428            179,694            77,351            
Gain (loss) on sale of capital assets 6,160               331,980          110,928              10,945            162,393            (26,128)             -                  
Intra-entity transfer 383,529           -                 -                      (5,017)             (122,486)           (235,286)           (133,145)         
Transfers 443,172           -                 -                      -                 -                    -                    -                  

Total governmental activities 6,470,450        5,694,705       5,500,303           5,715,231       6,131,455         5,858,173         5,729,662       

Business-type activities:
Investment earnings 198,152           -                 -                      -                 -                    -                    -                  
Other 261,823           -                 -                      -                 -                    -                    -                  
Intra-entity transfer -                   -                 -                      5,017              122,486            235,286            133,145          
Transfers (443,172)          -                 -                      -                 -                    -                    -                  
Grants and contributions not restricted to specific programs -                   -                 -                      242,789          258,278            4,006                -                  

Total business-type activities 16,803             -                 -                      247,806          380,764            239,292            133,145          
Total primary government 6,487,253$      5,694,705$     5,500,303$         5,963,037$     6,512,219$       6,097,465$       5,862,807$     

Change in Net Assets
Governmental activities 349,652           444,916          177,606              323,854          361,109            (270,061)           2,032,964       
Business-type activities 1,161,876        1,339,450       2,230,941           731,258          428,650            (274,845)           (999,982)         
Total primary government 1,511,528$      1,784,366$     2,408,547$         1,055,112$     789,759$          (544,906)$         1,032,982$     

Engineering and infrastructure expenses were split out from Public Works expenses beginning in 2004.
The Community Development activity became an enterprise fund in 2005.
GASB 34 was adopted in 2003.  Data for this schedule is unavailable in years preceding 2003.

Fiscal Year Ended
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Schedule 3
Unaudited

2000 2001 2002 2003* 2004** 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
General Fund

Reserved 900,683$        691,957$      672,013$      665,254$      22,249$       17,181$       16,879$       131,422$      43,263$       118,449$     
Unreserved 2,375,616       2,985,265     3,227,804     3,336,559     3,594,274    3,478,017    2,810,035    2,757,433     2,542,428    1,949,051    

Total general fund 3,276,299$     3,677,222$   3,899,817$   4,001,813$   3,616,523$  3,495,198$  2,826,914$  2,888,855$   2,585,691$  2,067,500$  

All other Governmental Funds
Reserved 888,400          1,686,589     777,346        391,894        2,702           2,322           1,697           26,276          4,672           14,603         
Unreserved, report in:

Special revenue funds 297,972          562,649        937,156        1,322,000     620,877       1,047,526    1,423,826    1,693,348     981,313       734,765       
Capital projects funds
Debt service funds -                  -                -                -                716,789       626,900       161,259       125,552        82,187         59,126         

Total all other governmental funds 1,186,372$     2,249,238$   1,714,502$   1,713,894$   1,340,368$  1,676,748$  1,586,782$  1,845,176$   1,068,172$  808,494$     
 

 
* The Township implemented GASB Statement No. 34 in 2003.  This resulted in an increase to the December 31, 2002 fund balance by $282,719.

** Beginning fund balance was decreased by $46,084 due to a restatement.

DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP
FUND BALANCE, GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS
(Modified Accrual Basis of Accounting)
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Schedule 4
Unaudited

12/31/2000 12/31/2001 12/31/2002 12/31/2003 12/31/2004 12/31/2005 12/31/2006 12/31/2007 12/31/2008 12/31/2009
Revenues
Taxes 2,476,857$       2,629,030$       2,795,846$       2,949,759$       2,837,256$       3,083,557$       3,325,504$       3,482,728$       3,631,229$       3,726,355$       
Special assessments 243,690            131,084            161,804            99,388              332,282            283,497            302,707            309,267            413,635            345,481            
Intergovernmental 4,446,262         2,393,690         2,399,756         2,009,211         2,233,400         1,948,687         1,896,685         2,054,131         2,034,967         1,832,749         
Licenses and permits 380,096            393,015            470,019            635,989            470,630            16,262              17,215              16,969              15,965              16,526              
Charges for services 775,989            867,014            939,730            1,021,182         1,209,400         1,233,289         1,387,884         1,612,695         1,656,817         1,644,706         
Interest 388,208            319,561            221,106            85,582              123,919            196,732            354,870            395,285            227,839            89,122              
Other 751,089            862,601            883,143            996,282            933,347            876,789            880,588            651,883            771,323            699,737            
Total revenues 9,462,191         7,595,995         7,871,404         7,797,393         8,140,234         7,638,813         8,165,453         8,522,958         8,751,775         8,354,676         

Expenditures
Legislative -                    -                    -                    -                    53,147              52,334              52,332              61,598              83,758              105,129            
General government 1,459,692         1,611,891         1,754,695         1,837,345         2,036,617         1,907,548         2,046,388         2,083,561         2,073,343         1,913,355         
Public safety 2,767,745         3,078,197         3,385,031         3,626,658         3,521,507         3,479,152         3,679,179         3,881,356         4,102,659         4,191,856         
Engineering 134,497            141,279            146,671            130,891            141,751            60,529              -                    -                    -                    -                    
Infrastructure 577,480            589,082            608,129            763,795            415,552            350,107            488,254            467,234            787,877            542,762            
Community development -                    -                    -                    -                    339,990            -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    
Recreation and cultural 422,114            488,186            504,547            546,032            615,878            622,949            630,761            694,297            706,826            767,951            
Other 128,738            113,293            164,696            205,754            218,691            209,611            230,413            204,589            333,332            323,535            
Debt service

Principal 371,889            3,236,793         472,510            358,486            406,210            498,208            500,462            504,763            521,389            553,967            
Interest 414,270            378,132            472,251            223,270            187,401            134,391            113,902            100,592            87,808              73,415              

Capital outlay 5,442,424         2,523,716         2,748,868         619,059            1,690,847         219,857            1,201,701         255,292            902,863            531,272            
Total expenditures 11,718,849       12,160,569       10,257,398       8,311,290         9,627,591         7,534,686         8,943,392         8,253,282         9,599,855         9,003,242         
Excess of revenues over (under) expenditures (2,256,658)        (4,564,574)        (2,385,994)        (513,897)           (1,487,357)        104,127            (777,939)           269,676            (848,080)           (648,566)           

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Proceeds from long-term debt -                    2,325,000         1,032,300         -                    500,000            -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    
Issuance of refunding debt -                    -                    -                    -                    2,365,000         -                    -                    -                    
Payment to refunded bond escrow agent -                    -                    -                    -                    (2,353,080)        -                    -                    -                    
Proceeds from sale of capital assets 12,410              60,000              31,332              8,178                250,476            110,928            24,710              173,145            3,200                3,840                
Bond premium -                    -                    -                    -                    12,229              -                    -                    -                    
Inter-entity transfers in -                    -                    -                    383,529            -                    -                    -                    -                    
Transfers in 3,198,173         4,429,295         1,754,368         504,540            604,397            621,903            794,517            592,477            595,388            692,348            
Transfers out (782,347)           (785,932)           (744,147)           (504,540)           (604,397)           (621,903)           (799,534)           (714,963)           (830,674)           (825,493)           
Total other financing sources (uses) 2,428,236         6,028,363         2,073,853         391,707            774,625            110,928            19,693              50,659              (232,086)           (129,305)           

Net change in fund balances 171,578$          1,463,789$       (312,141)$         (122,190)$         (712,732)$         215,055$          (758,246)$         320,335$          (1,080,166)$      (777,871)$         

Debt service as a percentage of noncapital expenditures 12.5% 37.5% 12.6% 7.6% 7.5% 8.6% 7.9% 7.6% 7.0% 8.1%

DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES, GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS
(Modified Accrual Basis of Accounting)
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Schedule 5
Unaudited

Fiscal Taxable
Year Value as a 

Ended Agricultural Commercial Industrial Residential Developmental Personal Total Taxable Total Direct Assessed Percentage of
December 31 Property Property Property Property Property Property Value Tax Rate Value Assessed Value

2000 2,515,880$  70,190,970$     7,205,183$     341,511,884$  1,299,203$     33,378,600$       456,101,720$       5.6629$     505,140,500$       90.29%
2001 1,967,143    76,790,522       7,522,536       375,826,884    1,437,989       37,343,115         500,888,189         5.6565       548,498,450         91.32%
2002 2,025,784    85,854,626       8,132,215       409,937,566    -                 38,441,912         544,392,103         5.5880       609,018,900         89.39%
2003 2,318,418    86,532,326       13,766,815     442,823,750    -                 40,306,800         585,748,109         5.5253       678,378,800         86.35%
2004 2,331,465    99,636,533       14,109,294     481,682,386    -                 40,517,100         638,276,778         5.3370       740,946,400         86.14%
2005 2,590,787    111,556,779     15,460,638     525,702,625    -                 45,210,400         700,521,229         5.3262       811,331,950         86.34%
2006 2,218,367    114,964,632     15,051,118     572,239,358    -                 46,827,750         751,301,225         5.3282       867,761,750         86.58%
2007 2,468,072    121,108,641     14,121,340     606,104,452    -                 46,577,255         790,379,760         5.3064       890,124,785         88.79%
2008 2,514,938    126,663,528     16,032,179     615,416,841    -                 52,132,300         812,759,786         5.3455       903,051,000         90.00%
2009 2,575,559    129,201,749     15,211,328     592,190,424    -                 45,226,200         784,405,260         5.4039       835,843,650         93.85%

Source:  Township Assessing Department

DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP
ASSESSED VALUE AND

TAXABLE VALUE OF PROPERTY
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS



-77- 

Schedule 6
Unaudited

Ingham Ingham Lansing State Total
Fiscal Fire Equip Debt Total County ntermediateCommunity Education Debt Total Direct &

Year Ended Operating & Training Service Township Operating School College Tax Operating Service School Overlapping
December 31 Millage Millage Millage Millage Millage Millage Millage Millage Millage Millage Rates

2000 4.5041 0.4895 0.6693 5.6629 10.4177 6.1354 2.9106 6.0000 0.0000 10.0000 10.0000 41.1266
2001 4.4698 0.4857 0.7010 5.6565 10.4348 6.1042 3.8926 6.0000 0.0000 10.0000 10.0000 42.0881
2002 4.4456 0.4830 0.6594 5.5880 11.6815 6.0738 3.8733 6.0000 0.0000 10.0000 10.0000 43.2166
2003 4.3940 0.4942 0.6371 5.5253 12.2489 6.0553 3.8544 5.0000 0.0000 10.0000 10.0000 42.6839
2004 4.3403 0.4881 0.5086 5.3370 12.2038 6.0291 3.8375 6.0000 0.0000 10.0000 10.0000 43.4074
2005 4.3094 0.4846 0.5322 5.3262 12.2566 5.9911 3.8112 6.0000 0.0000 10.0000 10.0000 43.3851
2006 4.3094 0.4846 0.5342 5.3282 13.1731 5.9881 3.8072 6.0000 0.0000 10.0000 10.0000 44.2966
2007 4.3094 0.4846 0.5124 5.3064 13.1538 5.9881 3.8072 6.0000 0.0000 10.0000 10.0000 44.2555
2008 4.3094 0.4846 0.5515 5.3455 14.1009 5.9881 3.8072 6.0000 0.0000 10.0000 10.0000 45.2417
2009 4.3094 0.5000 0.5945 5.4039 14.0811 5.9881 3.8072 6.0000 0.0000 10.0000 10.0000 45.2803

Non-homestead school operating millage
2000 17.7791
2001 17.6724
2002 17.6724
2003 17.4674
2004 17.3171
2005 17.3171
2006 17.3171
2007 17.3171
2008 17.3171
2009 17.3171

Source:  Township Assessing Department

Delhi Charter Township Holt School District

DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP
PROPERTY TAX RATES

DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING GOVERNMENTS
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

(PER $1,000 OF ASSESSED VALUATION)

Overlapping Rates
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Schedule 7
Unaudited

Percentage Percentage
of Total Twp of Total Twp

Taxable Taxable Taxable Taxable
Taxpayer Value Rank Value Value Rank Value

RSDC of Michigan, LLC 27,357,100$       1 3.3%
Consumers Energy 10,802,889         2 1.3% 7,873,988$       1 1.7%
Woodland Lakes Investment Group 7,151,900           3 0.9%
MPT Lansing LLC 5,384,623           4 0.7%
Dart Container Corp of MI 5,328,056           5 0.6% 3,472,260         3 0.8%
Bondarenko Ltd LLC 4,265,076           6 0.5% 2,961,320         5 0.7%
Parker Hannifin Corp 4,515,000           7 0.5% 4,177,711         2 0.9%
Theroux Development Co 3,623,208           8 0.4% 2,758,548         6
Orchid Orthopedic Solutions 3,468,600           9 0.4%
Aspen Lakes Estates II LLC 3,001,008           10 0.4%
Media One 3,376,100         2 0.7%
Delhi Village Ltd 2,018,603         7 0.4%
Cedar Park Shopping Center 1,992,330         8 0.4%
Huntley Villa I & II 1,999,481         9 0.4%
Moran Foods 1,920,296         10 0.4%

Source:  Township Assessing Department

2009 2000

DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP
TOP TEN PRINCIPAL

TAX PAYERS
CURRENT YEAR AND NINE YEARS AGO
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Schedule 8
Unaudited

Fiscal Year Total Tax Collections in
Ended Levy for Subsequent

December 31 Fiscal Year Amount Percentage of Levy  Years Amount  Percentage of Levy

2000 2,471,213$  2,461,437$       99.6% 8,629$            2,470,066$       99.95%
2001 2,578,062    2,549,452         98.9% 27,210            2,576,662         99.95%
2002 2,830,963    2,801,194         98.9% 29,574            2,830,768         99.99%
2003 3,039,438    2,986,631         98.3% 51,339            3,037,970         99.95%
2004 3,360,749    3,340,283         99.4% 16,247            3,356,530         99.87%
2005 3,539,253    3,520,466         99.5% 17,687            3,538,153         99.97%
2006 3,843,446    3,829,154         99.6% 10,939            3,840,093         99.91%
2007 4,308,253    4,297,111         99.7% 9,088              4,306,199         99.95%
2008 4,436,174    4,422,147         99.7% 8,249              4,430,396         99.87%
2009 4,336,310    4,325,485         99.8% -                  4,325,485         99.75%

 

Ingham County reimburses the Township for all delinquent real property tax.

 

Fiscal Year of the Levy

DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP
PROPERTY TAX LEVIES AND COLLECTIONS

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Collected with the Total Collections to Date
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Schedule 9
Unaudited

General Special General Installment General Special Total
Fiscal Obligation Assessment Assessment Note Capital Purchase Obligation Assessment Revenue Notes Primary Per
Year Bonds Bonds Payable Payable Lease Agreement Bonds Bonds Bonds Payable Government Capita*

2000 3,190,000$  727,676$      -$            -$            33,282$      -$          805,000$      1,993,324$       -$               7,904,857$       14,654,139$       648$       
2001 3,005,000    620,165        -              -              -              -            750,000        1,751,835         -                 7,548,173         13,675,173         593         
2002 3,832,300    507,654        -              -              -              -            5,857,700     1,510,346         -                 6,617,345         18,325,345         787         
2003 3,572,325    409,143        378,823       -              -              -            8,172,675     1,268,857         -                 5,932,374         19,734,197         830         
2004 3,339,025    317,750        357,306       -              -              500,000    7,940,975     1,031,250         -                 5,248,259         18,734,565         751         
2005 2,984,060    229,357        335,789       -              -              466,667    7,620,940     793,643           -                 4,535,000         16,965,456         672         
2006 2,597,430    160,964        194,410       -              -              433,379    7,287,570     596,036           -                 3,985,000         15,254,789         594         
2007 2,178,303    120,771        182,265       400,088    6,931,697     435,229           1,280,410       3,405,000         14,933,763         577         
2008 1,732,511    90,578          170,108       -              -              366,834    7,557,490     314,422           7,687,569       2,800,000         20,719,512         797         
2009 1,254,221    60,385          157,958       -              -              333,501    7,123,696     209,614           9,305,624       2,160,000         20,604,999         793         

* Based on population estimates.

Note - Information for personal income is not available

DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP
RATIOS OF OUTSTANDING DEBT BY TYPE

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities
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Schedule 10
Unaudited

Percentage of
General Taxable

Fiscal Obligation Value1 of
Year Bonds Property Per Capita2

2000 3,190,000$                    0.70% 141.05$      
2001 3,005,000 0.60% 130.21        
2002 3,832,300 0.70% 164.66        
2003 3,572,325 0.61% 150.20        
2004 3,339,025 0.52% 133.89        
2005 2,984,060 0.43% 118.27        
2006 2,597,430 0.35% 101.11        
2007 2,178,303 0.28% 84.22          
2008 1,732,511 0.21% 66.67          
2009 1,254,221 0.16% 48.26          

Note:  Details regarding the township's outstanding debt can be found in the notes to the financial statements.

1 See the Schedule of Assessed Value and Taxable Value of Property for property value data.
2 See the Schedule of Demographic and Economic Statistics for population data.

DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP
RATIOS OF GENERAL BONDED DEBT OUTSTANDING

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS
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Schedule 11
Unaudited

Net
General Percent Amount

Bonded Debt Applicable Applicable
Jurisdiction Outstanding to Delhi to Delhi

Holt School District 95,217,608$         84.76% 80,706,445$         
Mason School District 24,670,000           10.41% 2,568,147             
Lansing School District 62,565,000           0.04% 25,026                  
Eaton Rapids School District 48,942,747           1.43% 699,881                
Ingham County 29,645,954           10.18% 3,017,958             
Eaton Intermediate School District 1,520,000             0.27% 4,104                    
Lansing Community College 63,775,000           7.07% 4,508,893             
Subtotal, overlapping debt 91,530,454           

Delhi Charter Township direct debt 1,254,221             100.00% 1,254,221             

Total direct and overlapping debt 92,784,675$        

Source:  Municipal Advisory Council of Michigan

DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP
COMPUTATION OF DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING DEBT

DECEMBER 31, 2009
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Schedule 12
Unaudited

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

Debt limit 50,514,050$  54,849,845$  69,001,890$  67,837,880$  74,094,640$  81,133,195$  86,776,175$  89,012,479$       90,305,100$       83,584,365$ 

Total net debt applicable to limit 19,638,292    17,770,614    22,340,962    23,948,262    22,510,710    20,498,349    18,772,870    17,079,658         25,284,342         22,991,615   

Legal debt margin 30,875,758    37,079,231    46,660,928    43,889,618    51,583,930    60,634,846    68,003,305    71,932,821         65,020,758         60,592,750   

Total net debt application to the limit
as a percentage of debt limit 38.88% 32.40% 32.38% 35.30% 30.38% 25.27% 21.63% 19.19% 28.00% 27.51%

Legal Debt Margin Calculation for Fiscal Year 2008

2009 State Equalized Valuation (SEV) 835,843,650       
x            10%

Legal Debt Limit (10% of SEV) 83,584,365         

Direct General Obligation Debt 20,604,999         
Less:

Special Assessment Bonds (269,999)            
Revenue Bonds (9,305,624)       

Net Direct Debt 11,029,376         

Debt Limit Margin 72,554,989$      
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Schedule 13
Unaudited

Personal Per
Income Capita

Fiscal Population (amounts expressed Personal Median School Unemployment
Year (estimated) in thousands) Income1 Age Enrollment Rate

2000 22,616      598,532$                  26,465$      35.9        5,329      1.9%
2001 23,078      626,383                    27,142        n/a 5,308      2.5%
2002 23,274      642,968                    27,626        n/a 5,507      3.0%
2003 23,783      680,075                    28,595        n/a 5,705      3.6%
2004 24,938      719,012                    28,832        n/a 5,866      4.0%
2005 25,230      763,157                    30,248        n/a 5,947      4.1%
2006 25,689      826,184                    32,161        n/a 6,005      4.0%
2007 25,865      n/a n/a n/a 5,998      3.9%
2008 25,987      n/a n/a n/a 5,973      4.7%
2009 25,987      n/a n/a n/a 5,852      7.6%

 

Sources:  Michigan Employment Security Commission
   Holt Public Schools
   State of Michigan: Department of Energy, Labor, and Economic Growth
   US Census Bureau

DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP
DEMOGRAPHIC AND ECONOMIC STATISTICS

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS
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Schedule 14
Unaudited

Percentage Percentage
Approx No. of Total Township Approx No. of Total Township

Employer Employed Rank Employment Employed Rank Employment
Holt Public Schools 1000 1 n/a 596 1 n/a
Dakkota Integrated Interiors 249 2 n/a
Granger Construction 170 3 n/a
RSDC of Michigan, LLC 164 4 n/a 272 2 n/a
Orchid Orthopedic Solutions 115 5 n/a 75 6 n/a
Holt Senior Care 110 6 n/a
Kroger 105 7 n/a
Lansing Christian School 100 8 n/a
Davenport Masonry 97 9 n/a
Delhi Charter Township 84 10 n/a
Spartan International   200 3 n/a
McLean Screen Print Inc   110 4 n/a
Molded Plastic Industries 100 5 n/a
Grable & Sons Metal Products   45 7 n/a
Palmer Engineering 40 8 n/a
Holt Products Company Inc. 30 9 n/a
Pageant Homes, Inc  30 10 n/a

Source: 2000 Michigan Manufacturers Directory, phonecalls
Total Township employment is unavailable.

DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP
PRINCIPAL EMPLOYER

CURRENT YEAR AND NINE YEARS AGO

2009 2000



-86- 

Schedule 15
Unaudited

Function 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

General government 17.25      18.00      19.00      20.50      20.50      20.63      20.10      19.94      19.32      17.82      
Public Safety

Police
Officers* 21.00      21.00      21.00      21.00      21.00      21.00      21.00      21.00      21.00      21.00      
Civilians* 1.50        1.50        1.50        1.50        1.50        1.50        1.50        1.50        1.50        1.50        

Fire
Firefighters and officers 14.70      16.40      18.60      17.30      17.20      17.41      17.66      17.66      18.31      18.81      
Civilians 1.50        2.00        2.00        1.50        1.50        1.50        1.50        1.50        1.80        1.80        

Public Works 20.50      23.50      23.50      24.50      25.50      27.25      28.84      29.60      26.60      26.30      
Engineering 2.00        2.00        2.00        1.50        1.50        -          -          -          -          -          
Community Development 5.50        6.00        6.00        6.00        6.00        7.00        7.50        7.50        7.85        6.80        
Recreation and Culture 5.00        5.00        5.00        5.00        5.50        5.00        5.50        5.80        5.80        5.80        

Total 88.95      95.40    98.60    98.80    100.20  101.29    103.60  104.50  102.18  99.83    

Source:  Townships Budget Documents and Human Resources
* These positions are employees of Ingham County.  The Township contracts with Ingham County for police protection.

DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP
FULL-TIME EQUIVALENT TOWNSHIP GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEES BY FUNCTION

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS
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Unaudited

Fiscal Year
2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

Function
Fire
     Number of Calls 1,676      1,750      1,742      1,850      1,818      2,063      2,065      2,122      2,287      2,182           
     Inspections 785         925         900         858         907         1,138      836         1,004      1,000      375              
     Burning/Recreational Permits 1,306      1,329      1,472      1,331      1,964      1,901      2,171      2,069      1,288      356              

Police
    Number of Traffic Accidents 791         747         955         890         779         872         741         969         842         669              
    Number of Written Complaints 5,492      5,530      4,878      4,673      4,644      4,525      4,683      4,729      4,621      4,667           
    Number of Miles Driven 8,834      137,844  105,366  198,475  174,376  163,754  187,916  153,791  150,075  146,832       
    Vehicle Stops 4,855      6,744      8,048      8,013      7,011      5,609      5,429      7,849      8,041      8,754           

Accounting
    Number of W-2's processed 404         406         447         369         345         293         356         314         362         300              
    Number of payroll checks processed n/a n/a n/a n/a 2,933      2,456      2,614      2,346      2,353      1,932           
    Number of payroll direct deposits n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 1,463      1,685           
    Number of purchase orders processed n/a n/a n/a n/a 1,314      1,061      873         795         734         593              
    Number of accounts payable checks processed 2,975      3,312      3,159      2,992      3,571      2,753      2,830      2,881      2,767      2,585           

Assessing
    Number of Field Inspections n/a 206         403         1,438      2,226      1,242      2,485      899         1,381      364              

Clerk's Office
    Number of FOIA requests 45           18           43           56           122         77           56           65           37           29                
    Number of pages scanned/microfilmed 87,500    70,200    60,000    64,000    113,708  73,166    21,452    19,985    26,754    35,962         

Elections
    Number of Registered Voters 14,923    15,084    15,294    15,734    16,578    16,804    16,723    17,016    17,929    17,542         
    Number of Permanent Absentee Voters 1,170      1,361      1,337      1,251      1,251      1,815      1,766      2,010      2,294      2,206           

Treasurer's Office
    Average Number of Sewer Bills per Month 5,871      6,037      6,187      6,435      6,852      7,000      7,150      7,157      7,195      7,257           
    Number of Tax Bills-Two billings/year beg, 2003 9,577      9,872      9,969      18,187    18,534    19,154    19,875    20,110    20,278    20,382         

Culture & Recreation
    Number of Athletic Teams 236         236         244         247         242         253         290         231         259         254              
    Number of Sr. Citizens Trips 6             6             6             8             8             8             8             9             8             8                  
    Tennis Lessons 227         309         261         204         201         196         200         165         195         204              

Wastewater
     Average daily sewage treatment 2.36        2.64        2.31        2.12        2.87        2.23        3.00        2.45        2.54        2.68             
    (millions of gallons per day)

Community Development
    Permits Issued 1,633      1,831      1,970      2,287      2,136      1,858      1,526      1,629      986         1,194           
    Code Enforcement Complaints 1,687      1,203      1,127      1,718      547         677         592         585         530         563              

Source:  Various Township Departments

DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP
OPERATING INDICATORS BY FUNCTION

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS



-88- 

Schedule 17
Unaudited

Fiscal Year
2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

Function
Public Safety
     Fire Stations 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2

Culture and Recreation
     Parks Acreage 79 85 95 95 110 110 110 120 120 120
     Parks 5 6 7 7 8 8 9 9 9 9
     Senior Center 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
     Buildings 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
     Tennis Courts 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8

Sewer
    Sanitary Sewers (miles) n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 123.35 124.25 124.98 124.63
    Maximum daily treatment capacity 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 4 4 4 4.5 4.5
       (millions of gallons)

General Government
     Cemeteries 1 1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
     Community Service Center 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP
CAPITAL ASSET STATISTICS BY FUNCTION

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS



DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 

 
 
TO:  Delhi Township Board Members 
 
FROM: John B. Elsinga, Township Manager 
 
DATE: June 8, 2010 
 
RE: Purchase of a 2010 Scag Mower – Department of Public Services 
 
 
The FY 2010 budget for the Department of Public Services included the 
purchase of a new mower to replace a 9 year old mower with over 2,100 hours. 
 
The Department of Public Services received three (3) bids from area vendors for 
a 2010 Scag Mower with grass catcher and hitch.  The bids received were all 
State government assisted pricing and were within a few hundred dollars of each 
other.  Staff is recommending purchasing the 2010 Scag Mower from Bobcat of 
Lansing who was the lowest bidder at a total of $11,298.30.    
 
 
Recommended Motion: 
 
To approve the purchase of a 2010 Scag Mower with 
grass catcher and hitch from Bobcat of Lansing in the 
amount of $11,298.30. 















DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 

 
 
TO:  Delhi Township Board Members 
 
FROM: John B. Elsinga, Township Manager 
 
DATE: June 8, 2010 
 
RE: 2011-2016 Delhi Charter Township Capital Improvements Program 
 
 
Enclosed for your review and approval is the 2011-2016 Delhi Charter Township Capital 
Improvements Plan (CIP).  This Plan identifies public improvements involving the 
expenditure of public funds, over and above normal operating expenses, for the 
purchase, construction or replacement of specific physical facilities or assets of our 
community. 
 
Staff provided Community Development their input on potential projects which I 
reviewed and prioritized to identify those projects which could be scheduled during FY 
2011 and beyond.  This CIP was then reviewed by the Planning Commission and they 
will be holding a public hearing on June 14th with subsequent adoption.  Coordination 
through the Planning Commission provides for consistency of implementing the capital 
improvement projects with the land use and development goals of the community. 
 
Subject to Planning Commission approval on June 14th, I recommend the Board 
approve the 2011-2016 Capital Improvements Program. 
 
 
Recommended Motion: 
 
To approve the 2011-2016 Delhi Charter Township Capital 
Improvements Program. 



Delhi Charter Township 
Department of Community Development 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 

 
TO:  John B. Elsinga, Township Manager 
 
FROM: Tracy L.C. Miller, Director of Community Development 
 
DATE:  Wednesday, June 09, 2010 
 
RE:  2011 Capital Improvements Plan 
 
Attached please find a copy of the 2011 – 2016 Capital Improvements Plan (CIP).  As you know, 
the CIP contains information about the status of current (2010) Capital Projects, the 2011 Capital 
Budget and potential Capital Improvements for years 2012 to 2016.  The purpose of the CIP is to 
create a tool that can be used during the annual budget process by staff and the Township Board 
to recommend projects for the upcoming year and communicate about projects that may be 
coming in future years.  The CIP was presented to the Board this year on June 2nd during the 
Goals and Objectives Meeting.  
 
As you know, the Planning Commission (PC) is required to review and consider the CIP in the 
greater context of community development and land use planning.  This is an important step 
because it helps to ensure that improvements, particularly those pertaining to infrastructure but 
also parks and public services, are made in a manner that is consistent with the desired future 
development and land use goals of the community.  The PC will hold the required public hearing 
and reviewed the 2011 CIP at their meeting on June 14th.  No significant comment is expected, 
but I will be prepared to provide the Board with an update at the meeting on the 15th if required. 
 
I would respectfully request that you forward the attached CIP document, along with your 
concurrence to the Township Board for their consideration and acceptance at the meeting on the 
15th.  If you have any questions, or require additional information, please do not hesitate to ask.  
Thank you. 



 

2011 – 2016 
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INTRODUCTION 
Delhi Charter Township faces the challenge of meeting the needs of its residents for public 
services and facilities with increasing costs and relatively fixed revenues.  In an effort to 
effectively set project priorities, the Township has implemented a Capital Improvements 
Program which began in 2006.  2011 represents the sixth year of Capital Improvement Planning 
within Delhi Township and, like past years, we continue to refine the process to make it more 
useable and pertinent to the budget process.   
 
WHAT IS A CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT? 
Capital Improvements are public improvements involving the expenditure of public funds, over 
and above normal annual operating expenses, for the purchase, construction or replacement of 
specific physical facilities or assets of the community.  Examples include, but are not limited to: 

• The extension of water mains 
• The construction of bicycle & pedestrian pathways 
• Parks improvements 
• The renovation of community owned buildings 
• The purchase of land 
• Significant planning or study work 
• Extension of sanitary sewer lines 
• Construction of sewage treatment facilities 
• Others 

 
WHAT IS A CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS PROGRAM? 
A Capital Improvements Program (CIP) is the preparation and updating of a proposed schedule 
of public works projects and related equipment to be built or purchased by the local municipality 
within a period of 6 years.  It covers the entire range of public facility and service requirements.  
The CIP lists all currently anticipated future projects, and provides a suggested order of priority 
for those within the Capital Budget, along with cost estimates and the anticipated means of 
financing each project. 
 
The first year in this plan is referred to as the “capital budget” and includes those projects that 
will be recommended for funding in the upcoming fiscal year.  These projects will be considered 
for inclusion in the Township’s adopted budget.  The succeeding years’ schedule of projects 
make up the “Capital Improvements Program” and serve as a mechanism for tracking, 
anticipating and planning for future needs. 
 
WHAT ARE THE BENEFITS OF A CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS PROGRAM? 
• Focusing Attention on Community Goals, Needs, and Capabilities.  
• Achieving Optimum Use of the Taxpayer's Dollar.  
• Serving Wider Community Interests. 
• Encouraging a More Efficient Governmental Administration.  
• Improving Intergovernmental and Regional Cooperation. 
• Maintaining a Sound and Stable Financial Program. 
• Enhancing Opportunities for Participation in Federal and State Grant Programs.  
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*The Contents of This Chapter Were Adapted From: Capital Improvements Programming in Local Government by HUD, Second Printing, 1970, 
published by USGPO, Washington, D.C. 20402 and Capital Improvements Programs: Linking Budgeting and Planning by Robert A. Bowyer, 
Planning Advisory Service Report No. 442, 1993, published by the American Planning Association, 1313 E. 60th Street, Chicago, Illinois 60637. 
 
WHY UPDATE IT ANNUALLY? 
The CIP is updated annually in order to fine-tune the capital budget to reflect changing economic 
conditions and to reflect the need for additional projects or adjust the priority of projects as 
necessary.  
 
QUALIFYING EXPENDITURES UNDER THE CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS 
PROGRAM
In order to be considered a Capital Improvement and be included in this CIP, expenditures must 
meet at least one of the following criteria: 
1. Major, non-recurring expenditure greater than $20,000 
2. Acquisition of land for a public purpose 
3. Construction of a new facility or expansion/alteration of existing facility 
4. A non-recurring rehabilitation or major repair of all or part of a building, its grounds or other 

facility if #1 above applies and the expenditure will have a useful life of ten years or more. 
5. The purchase of major equipment that requires an expenditure of $20,000 or more and which 

may have a useful life of at least five years. 
6. Any planning, feasibility, engineering or design study related to a capital improvement. 
 
Projects that do not meet the criteria above are generally not appropriate for inclusion in the CIP 
and are submitted as a part of the Township’s annual operating budget.  Some exceptions are 
made if it is determined that inclusion of the information will benefit long range budgeting for 
the community. 
 
INFORMATION ABOUT DELHI’S SIX OPERATIONAL FUNDS & DOWNTOWN 
DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 
Delhi Township has six operational funds, which finance the services provided to Township 
residents and property owners.  These funds are the General Fund, the Sanitary Sewer Fund, the 
Parks Fund, the Fire Equipment & Training Apparatus Fund (FETA), the Community 
Development Fund and the Water Improvement Fund.  Each of these is a separate, primarily 
autonomous budget entity, except that there may be transfers into one fund from another or from 
other sources.  The General Fund receives most of its revenues from property taxes, state shared 
revenues, and fees collected for general public services.  Revenues to the Sanitary Sewer Fund 
and the Water Improvement Fund are derived from customer billings, new customer connection 
fees and special assessments.  The Parks Fund receives its revenues primarily from a General 
Fund allocation along with some revenues from user fees collected by the Parks Department. The 
FETA Fund is capitalized via a millage leveraged for this specific purpose.  The Community 
Development Fund is capitalized from fees and charges collected from the users of the specific 
services provided. 
 
The Downtown Development Authority (DDA) was created by the Township Board in 1987 for 
the purpose of facilitating public improvements and economic development within the DDA 
area. In addition to helping to offset the cost associated with services received from the 
Township, the DDA participates and provides funding for many significant public projects.  The 



 
 

4
 

DDA’s capital projects have been added to this CIP so that a more accurate scope can be 
reflected. 
 
PROJECT RANKING AND DESCRIPTIONS 
All projects submitted for inclusion in the 2011-2016 CIP are reviewed by the Community 
Development Director, who works with the Township Manager and other Department Heads to 
establish a priority ranking for each project according to its economic and physical necessity and 
the benefits anticipated to be gained by Township residents and personnel.  The final 
recommended priority level is established by the Township Manager. The priorities are based on 
a classification system adapted from Principles and Practice of Urban Planning, published in 
1968 by the International City Manager’s Association (pp. 392-394), as follows: 
 
Priority A (Urgent) Projects which cannot reasonably be postponed.  These may be needed 

to complete an essential or a partially finished project, or to maintain a 
minimum level of service in a presently established Township program.  
Also, any project needed to address an emergency situation. 
 

Priority B (Necessary) Projects which should be carried out within a few years to meet the 
anticipated needs of a current Township service, or replacement of 
unsatisfactory facilities. 
 

Priority C (Desirable) Projects needed for the proper expansion of a Township service.  The 
exact timing of which can wait until funds are available. 
 

Priority D (Deferrable) Projects which would be needed for ideal operation, but which cannot 
yet be recommended for action.  They can be postponed without 
detriment to present services. 

 
Projects that are given the same classification can be distinguished further by the Township 
Manager and the Township Board for budget purposes based on public health and safety 
considerations, breadth of service area, or the availability of matching funding from other 
sources outside of the Township.  In determining appropriate project funding levels throughout 
the six-year program period, the Township Manager may exercise one or more of the following 
options: 
 
• Recommend funding the project in the year and the amount requested by the Department. 
• Recommend that the project not be funded at all. 
• Recommend partial funding of the project in the year requested. 
• Recommend delaying funding of the project to another year. 
• Recommend setting aside a portion of the requested money each year to save enough to fund 

the project in some future year. 
 
The project classifications serve as a guide in preparing the annual Township budget and aid the 
Township Board in making project funding decisions.  The assigned priority level, anticipated 
funding amount and descriptions of each project appear later in this document. 
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STATUS OF PREVIOUS YEAR’S CAPITAL BUDGET 
PROJECTS (2010) 

 
2009 Project Description Current Status Original Amt. 

in ‘10 CIP 
Anticipated 

2010 Funding 
Level 

2010 General Fund Projects
Community Service Center 
Roof Replacement 
Life span of existing roof is over 
and replacement is now 
necessary. 
 

This project will be postponed 
until 2011. 

$264,000 $0 

Replacement of Window 
Treatments at Community 
Services Center  
Purchase replacement window 
treatments for CSC building in 
order to improve the efficiency 
of the HVAC system. 
 

This project will be postponed 
until 2011. 

$40,000 $0 

Community Service Center 
Generator 
Purchase and install an 
emergency generator system for 
the CSC building which will 
provide backup power for the 
entire facility. 
 

This project will be postponed 
until 2011. 

$100,000 $0 

HVAC Control System 
Purchase and install a new 
control system for the HVAC 
system at the CSC building to 
enhance operating efficiency. 
 

This project will be completed 
via the receipt of an Energy 
Efficiency Community Block 
Grant from the State of 
Michigan.  This work will be 
completed in 2010. 
 

$50,000 $0 
100% Grant 

Funded 

Street Improvements 
Street enhancements will occur 
in conjunction with the Ingham 
County Road Commission and as 
necessary to facilitate 
development projects and 
community objectives. 
 

Pine Tree Road will be 
repaired in 2010.  There is 
currently no “subdivision 
road” work proposed and this 
will only be completed at 
100% funding via self-
initiated SAD this year. 

$100,000 $0 

BS&A.Net Upgrades 
The second group of program 
modules will be available in 

The first group of modules 
became available and were 
installed in April 2010.  

$30,000 $30,000 
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2010 for Assessing, Tax, 
Building, Delinquent PP, PREA, 
Special Assessment and Internet 
Support.  The existing versus of 
the software will no longer be 
supported by the company. 
 

Including GL, Acct. Pay., 
Payroll, Timesheets, Misc. 
Receivables, PO, Utility 
Billing and Cemetery Maint. 

Replacement of Windows XP 
Operating System 
All Township computers will 
need to be updated with a more 
current version of the Windows 
operating system. 
 

This software transition has 
occurred. 

$15,000 $12,500 

Sidewalk Construction 
Includes construction of 
sidewalk at Washington Road 
and implementation of the 
sidewalk repair program. 
 

The Washington Road project 
has been postponed until 2011 
in this CIP.  The sidewalk 
improvement program will be 
implemented in 2010. 

$122,000 $10,000 

Scanner Replacement 
The Clerk’s Office uses high-
speed scan technology to input 
data into the LaserFische 
document management program.  
This program is essential to daily 
operations of the Township and 
the hardware which scans the 
data is deteriorating and will 
need to be replaced. 
 

This acquisition will be 
postponed as long as feasible 
based on the operational 
condition of the existing 
scanning machine. 

$5000 - 
$25,000 
(depending on 

technology selected) 

$0 

2010 Sewer Fund Projects
Fiber Optic/Wireless 
Connection for DPS & POTW 
Facilities Necessary to provide 
adequate communication 
between the servers at CSC and 
the computers located in the 
outlying facilities. 
 

This project has been 
postponed. 

$200,000 $0 

Lift Station D Improvements 
Final Design of improvements. 
 

This project will be completed 
in 2010. 

$308,000 $291,600 

Sewer Rehabilitation Program 
This category is comprised of 
Gravity Sewer lining and 
Manhole Rehabilitation projects. 

This project will be 
postponed. 

$350,000 $0 
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DPS Vehicle Replacement 
DPS will replace the 1999 Astro 
Van. 
 

This vehicle will be replaced 
in 2010. 

$25,000 $25,000 

Vactor Truck Replacement 
A new Vactor truck is needed in 
order to provide sewer cleaning 
within the collection system. 
 

This project will be 
postponed. 

$270,000 $0 

Pine Tree Road Improvements 
This project will be a 50/50 cost 
share between the Sewer Fund 
and the DDA and includes the 
repair of Pine Tree Road from 
Keller to Willoughby Road. 
 

This project will be 
completed, but with a 
different funding structure.  
The local road improvement 
funds received from the ICRC 
will be applied to this cost and 
the remainder will be shared 
between the Sewer Fund and 
the DDA. 
 

$100,000 $70,000 

2010 Water Fund Projects
There are no Water Fund projects proposed in 2010. 

 
2010 Parks Fund Projects

There are no Parks Fund projects proposed in 2010. 
 

2010 Fire Equipment Fund Projects
Replacement of the 2003 Ford 
Lifeline Ambulance 
Anticipated and scheduled 
replacement of aging vehicle. 
 

This project will be completed 
in 2010 as a “refurbish” of the 
existing ambulance rather 
than a total replacement. 

$100,000 $70,000 

    
2010 Downtown Development Authority Projects

Cedar Street Reconfiguration 
Project 
This project includes the 
reduction of Cedar Street from 
Holt Road to Aurelius Road from 
four to three lanes, installation of 
an additional mid-block crossing 
area and road 
repairs/maintenance. The DDA 
will pre-pay for the 
improvements in 2010, with 
payback of the 80% state/federal 
funding in 2011 ($480K). 
 

This project will not be 
completed in 2010 and will be 
modified for inclusion in an 
upcoming year’s planning. 

$600,000 $0 
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Pioneer Cemetery Sidewalk 
Improvements 
This project will result in the 
installation of a suitable sidewalk 
along Aurelius Road in front of 
the Pioneer Cemetery. 
 

This project will be completed 
in 2010. 

$120,000 $130,000 

I-96 to Jolly Road Trail 
Extension 
This project would include 
construction of non-motorized 
pathway from the underpass at I-
96 to Jolly Road on the east side 
of the Sycamore Creek. Grant 
sources will be sought to assist 
with construction costs. 
 

This project has been 
modified for 2010 and will 
include construction of the 
“north trail connector” instead 
of the underpass, contingent 
upon receipt of ARRA 
(100%) or other funding 
(80%) for implementation.   

$1,200,000 $1,200,000 

Pine Tree Road Improvements 
This project will be a 50/50 cost 
share between the Sewer Fund 
and the DDA and includes the 
repair of Pine Tree Road from 
Keller to Willoughby Road. 
 

This project will be 
completed, but with a 
different funding structure.  
The local road improvement 
funds received from the ICRC 
will be applied to this cost and 
the remainder will be shared 
between the Sewer Fund and 
the DDA. 
 

$100,000 $70,000 

Farmer’s Market 
Rehabilitation 
The demonstrated success of the 
Farmer’s Market has spurred the 
need to make some 
improvements to the facility 
which are likely to include items 
such as new bathrooms, HVAC 
and structural enhancements. 
 

This project will be 
postponed. 

$150,000 $0 

Veteran’s Park Amphitheater 
Improvements will be made to 
the Amphitheater which include 
a shelter, sound system and other 
items necessary to continue the 
use of the park for concerts, 
movies and other productions. 
 

This project will be 
postponed. 

$150,000 $0 
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2011 Capital Budget
Priority 
Level: 

Project Description: Budget 
Amount: 

2011 General Fund
A BS&A.Net Upgrades 

The final group of program modules will be available in 2011.  The 
existing version of the software will no longer be supported by the 
company.   
 

$25,000 

B Community Service Center Roof Replacement 
Life span of existing roof is over and replacement is now necessary. 
 

$264,000 

B Replacement of Window Treatments at Community Services Center  
Purchase replacement window treatments for CSC building in order to 
improve the efficiency of the HVAC system. 
 

$40,000 

B Community Service Center Generator 
Purchase and install an emergency generator system for the CSC 
building which will provide backup power for the entire facility. 
 

$100,000 

C Washington Road Sidewalk Extension 
The installation of sidewalk along Washington Road is necessary to 
provide walkable connectivity to the school complex and 
adjacent/nearby neighborhoods. 
 

$120,000 

2011 Sewer Fund Projects
A State Revolving Fund Projects 

This includes the construction of the Lift Station D, the force-main and 
screening at the headworks that were designed in 2010 and are a part of 
the SRF plan and funding and low interest loan. 
 

$3,500,000 

B Vactor Truck Replacement 
A new Vactor truck is needed in order to provide sewer cleaning within 
the collection system. 
 

$270,000 

B Vehicle Rotation Schedule 
See exhibit A 
 

$78,300 

2011 Parks Fund
A Vahalla Park Bathroom Upgrade 

This project is necessary to provide adequate facilities for the newly 
expanded and upgraded Vahalla Park, which includes the playground 
and trailhead.  This project is subject to receipt of 75% (or similar) grant 
funding. Twp. portion of which is approximately $94,000. 
 

$377,000 

C Veteran’s Park Amphitheater – Phase I 
This project would include the construction of an awning over the 

$250,000 
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audience area within the existing amphitheater.  The DDA anticipates 
providing matching funds only for this project, assuming grant funding 
is obtained. 
 

B Vehicle Rotation Schedule 
See exhibit A 
 

$30,000 

2011 Fire Equipment & Training Apparatus Fund
B Replacement of 2002 Tahoe  

 
$35,000 

2011 Downtown Development Authority
A I-96 Trail Underpass 

This project will construct trail from Dell Road to the north side of the 
I-96 right of way. 
 

$1,200,000 

B Farmer’s Market Rehabilitation 
The demonstrated success of the Farmer’s Market has spurred the need 
to make some improvements to the facility that are likely to include 
items such as new bathrooms, HVAC and structural enhancements. 
 

$75,000 

B Cedar/Holt Mid-Block Crossings 
This project includes the installation of at least two mid-block crossing 
locations on Holt Road and Cedar Street (1 each).  This project will be 
implemented in cooperation with the Ingham County Road 
Commission. 
 

$100,000 

C DDA Light Replacements 
This project includes the conversion of fixtures within existing lights 
with concrete poles to LED. 
 

$20,000 

2011 Community Development
B Vehicle Rotation Schedule 

See exhibit A 
$7,500 

 
 

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS PROGRAM 
Years 2012 – 2016 Project Descriptions 

 
Priority 
Level: 

Project Description: Implementation 
Year: 

Budget 
Amount: 

 
General Fund

2012 $66,000 

2013 $66,000 

B Street Improvements 
Street enhancements will occur in 
conjunction with the Ingham County Road 
Commission and as necessary to facilitate 2014 $66,000 
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2015 $66,000 development projects and community 
objectives. 2016 $66,000 

D Scanner Replacement 
The Clerk’s Office uses high-speed scan 
technology to input data into the LaserFische 
document management program.  This 
program is essential to daily operations of 
the Township and the hardware which scans 
the data is deteriorating and will need to be 
replaced. This will be delayed as long as 
possible, but if the current machine should 
stop working, immediate replacement will be 
necessary. 

 

2016 $25,000 

2012 $10,000 
2013 $10,000 
2014 $10,000 
2015 $10,000 

B Sidewalk Construction 
This project includes annual sidewalk 
maintenance program. 

2016 $10,000 
B Microsoft Office Replacement 

In 2012 Microsoft will cease to provide 
support to the currently used version of 
Office programs. An upgrade will be 
required for all computers. 
 

2012 $32,000 

D Holt Road Enhancement Trail 
This project will extend non-motorized 
pathway from Eifert Road to the School 
Complex on Holt Road. MDOT Enhancement 
Grant or CMAQ funds will be sought for the 
project. 
 

2016 $2,000,000 

B Vehicle Rotation Schedule 
See Exhibit A 
 

2013 $11,400 

Sewer Fund
2014 $200,000 

2015 $200,000 

B Fiber Optic/Wireless 
Connection for DPS & POTW Facilities 
necessary to provide adequate 
communication between the servers at CSC 
and the computers located in the outlying 
facilities. 
 

2016 $200,000 

B State Revolving Fund (SRF) Projects 
This item includes a number of projects that 

2012 $3,500,00  0
(Lift Station D) 
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2014 $1,500,000 
(Bio-Solids Dryer) 

may be implemented over the next several 
years including a new sludge drying system 
and improvements to the Dell Road and Pine 
Tree Road lift stations.  The projects would 
be implemented as SRF funding (low interest 
loan) become available based upon a plan 
which was created in 2009 and updated in 
2010. 
 

2016 $4,000,000 
(Pine Tree & Dell Rd 
Lift Station Upgrades) 

2012 $350,000 
2013 $350,000 
2014 $350,000 
2015 $350,000 

B Sewer Rehabilitation Program 
See description in Capital Budget item. 

2016 $350,000 
C POTW Maintenance Building Construction 

This project will include the construction of 
a maintenance building at the POTW to 
accommodate equipment, personnel and 
processes relative to the ongoing 
maintenance and care of the POTW 
facilities. 

 

2016 $250,000 

2012 $34,500 
2013 $63,900 
2015 $30,200 

B Vehicle Rotation Schedule 
See exhibit A 

2016 $82,000 
Parks Fund
B Playground Equipment Upgrades at Kiwanis Park 

This project is necessary to improve the 
playground equipment in the park and 
ensure compliance with applicable 
standards. 
 

2014 $250,000 
(Kiwanis Park)

2012 $3,800 
2015 $4,800 

B Vehicle Rotation Schedule 
See exhibit A 

2016 $10,500 
Fire Equipment & Training Apparatus Fund
B Replacement of 2004 Durango 

 
2014 $33,000 

2014 $40,000 
2015 $40,000 

C Radio Replacement 
This project is necessary to upgrade the 
system (technology advancement). 
 

2016 $40,000 

C Refurbish 2006 Ford Lifeline Ambulance 
 

2013 $110,000 

Downtown Development Authority
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C Delhi TechPark Property Improvements 
This project will include infrastructure 
improvements necessary to facilitate 
development of the property. 
 

2012 $1,000,000 

B Willoughby Road to Dell Road Trail Extension 
This project will extend the non-motorized 
pathway from its existing terminus at the 
Willoughby Road to Dell Road. 
 

2013 $1,000,000 

B Cedar Street, Phase II (Holbrook to College) 
Reconstruction of Cedar Street to enhance 
left turns and improve efficiency. This 
project must coincide with the Ingham 
County Drain Commissioner’s permit, or 
move forward as a separate project specific 
to the enclosure of the drain. 
 

2014 $5,300,000 

C Light & Pole Replacements 
This project includes replacing existing cast 
iron light poles with concrete (due to 
excessive deterioration) and fixture 
conversion to LED. 

 

2012 $20,000 
(lights) 

 
$60,000 

(poles) 

C Paving of Valhalla Park Parking Area 
This project includes paving the areas of the 
parking lot within Valhalla Park that are 
currently gravel and providing hard surface 
paths and access to the new playground and 
park amenities.  

 

2016 $160,000 

Community Development

2012 $5,900 
2015 $5,000 

B Vehicle Rotation Schedule 
See exhibit A 

2016 $4,900 
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EXHIBIT A:  
Fleet Vehicle Rotation Schedule 
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